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SUMMARY OF MTS ARGUMENT:
1. MTS’ Argument can be distilled into the following key points:

Equivalency - Narrow Definition
· The fundamental issue is a comparison of an entitlement under the CSSA to an entitlement under the New Plan, not what might be fair in setting up the New Plan or whether the design of the New Plan was faulty or unfair. 
· There must be an “entitlement” under the CSSA to trigger the requirement for equivalency.  

· “Pension benefits” can only mean financial benefits.  Funding, surplus and governance are not “pension benefits”.   

· Whatever definition of equivalence in value is used, the New Plan provided for benefits which, on the Implementation Date, were equivalent in value.  Therefore, it does matter whether Fox’s procedure was unfair. 
Governance
2. Concerning the issue of governance:

· There was no governance entitlement under the CSSF.
Surplus

3. Concerning the use of ongoing or emerging or future surplus:

· The Plaintiffs had a hope or expectation with respect to the use of ongoing surplus, but not an entitlement to surplus use.

· MTS agreed to the sharing of surplus on plan wind up and inserted text to that effect into the New Plan.

Funding
4. Concerning the issue of funding:

· The employers did not “fund” the benefits in the CSSA when they were earned.

· MTS insists that it must have control over any “ongoing” or “actuarial surplus”, because it is now responsible for funding any deficits.
· MTS has paid more to fund the New Plan than it would have paid under the Old Plan.  

· MTS has paid more into the New Plan than the employees as of 2008. 
· The solvency funding required under the PBSA provides the security in the event the New Plan is wound up.

5.
Fox Opinion Process
· Fox did not owe a duty of fairness.  In the alternative, if a duty was owed, that duty was minimal and was met.

· Singleton, in providing a copy of the draft definition to Fraser, did not adversely influence Fox, because Fraser’s comments were not passed on to Fox. 
· Fraser’s broader definition was consistent with the definition advocated by the ERPC and was the definition which in fact was used in Fox’s final opinion.  Fraser’s narrower definition of financial equivalence was consistent with the definition of Corp. 
· The Plaintiffs were given a chance to comment on the meaning of equivalency.

· Fox did not care what definition was used by the Provincial Auditor’s Office (“PAO”) in its communications to interested parties.  He used his own definition, which included the concepts of funding, surplus and governance.
· Singleton did not contaminate the process in providing Barker with a copy of Fox’s draft opinion and then by subsequently meeting with her.
· Barker provided information at the Singleton / Fox meeting relating to funding of benefit improvements in the CSSF, of which the Plaintiffs were aware, but did not disclose to Fox. 
· The information provided by Barker proved to be true and did not require follow up from the Plaintiffs. 
· Fox was not performing an adjudicative function, but was rendering a professional opinion, like a lawyer. 
· To review Fox’s Opinion, this Court must conclude that Fox’s Opinion was unreasonable, because it was not an opinion consistent with actuarial standards.

November 7 Agreement (MOA)
6. Regarding the MOA:

· The Plaintiffs proposed, and MTS agreed, to place the initial surplus into the COLA Account under the New Plan.  

· Corp said the initial surplus was to fund the minimum COLA and to get closer to the 20-year pre-funding rule.  Corp gleaned this interpretation from his client, Maggi Hadfield (“Hadfield”) of the plaintiff CEP, a signatory of the MOA, who was not called by the Plaintiffs at trial.

· Ellement conceded that his view of the MOA and how the COLA Account is to be operated pursuant to the MOA, is based on what MTS has the ability to do, and not what MTS is obliged to do.  An “ability” to do something does not constitute a claim against MTS.

· The COLA Account was set up to mirror the SAA under the CSSF and has operated similarly. 

· By the end of December 1996, the Plaintiffs considered the New Plan text to reflect accurately the intent of the MOA.  

· In 1995, the CSSA SAA had approximately 10% of its pre-funding obligation to reach the 20-year pre-funding rule.  In 1997 the MTS COLA Account had 42% of the total amount required for 20-year pre-funding. 

· Surplus in the Old Plan was transferred to the CSSF SAA to support the 2/3 of inflation objective.  The use of surplus to fund COLA in the New Plan is unnecessary as COLA of 2/3 of CPI up to 4% is guaranteed by MTS.

Amended Statement of Claim
7. Concerning the Amended Statement of Claim:

· In the Statement of Claim filed in September 1999, no allegations were raised regarding: the structure of Pension Committee, the MOA, the structure of the COLA Account, the amount of the unfunded liability as of 1997, and the inclusion of $43.4 M as part of the New Plan assets.  
· In 1999 employees knew the structure of the COLA Account and knew that the unfunded liability in the New Plan was calculated using the initial surplus, but did not raise this complaint in their statement of claim.  
· The initial funding valuation report in 1997 prepared by Buck was reviewed and approved by the Plaintiffs’ representatives. 
· The Plaintiffs did not suggest that the MOA terms were not accurately included in the New Plan text.

· The development of the current allegations, culminating in the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim, casts doubt as to the credibility and veracity of the allegations. 

8. The Plaintiffs’ Reply, in summary form, to these key points is set out below, followed by a detailed paragraph by paragraph rebuttal, including a critique of MTS’ characterization of the evidence compared to the actual evidence adduced at trial.    

SUMMARY OF PLAINTIFFS’ REPLY
9. There were numerous surpluses identified by the CSSF plan actuary in the long history of the Old Plan.  Surplus was identified as the excess above 50% of the liabilities of the Old Plan as a whole.  The surplus was considered to be property of the employees, but it could not be applied without the consent of government because (1) use of the surplus could affect the government’s funding obligations; and, (2) the government had an obligation to be certain that the application of the surplus was fair to all beneficiaries.  Surplus was only used to pay for benefit improvements; never to defer an existing funding obligation of the government (i.e. reduce its pay-as-you-go payments for existing obligations). 

10. On the privatization of MTS, there was a large surplus in the Old Plan.  Employees of MTS recognized that (1) they had an entitlement to a share of that surplus; and, (2) this surplus would be transferred to the privatized MTS. Employees vigilantly pursued MTS to ensure that the surplus was protected and only used for their benefit in the New Plan. 
11. MTS and the government made express representations on November 6 and November 7 that MTS would not use the initial surplus to reduce its cost or share of contributions to the New Plan. 
12. On January 1, 1997, (the “Implementation Date”) (“Day One”), there was an identified employee surplus (initial surplus) portion of the transfer amount which was a pension benefit, to which the Plaintiffs were entitled.  MTS, the government and employees / retirees recognized that fact.  Protection and use of the initial surplus was the impetus behind the MOA.
13. Fox, FitzGerald, Levy, Ellement and Corp all agreed that funding, surplus and governance on Day One of the New Plan are pension benefits that had to be equivalent in value.  The only actuary who is “off side” on this point is Williams.  MTS says it is possible for two actuaries to disagree on a matter and both be reasonable.  However, it is also possible for two actuaries to disagree with one being reasonable and the other being unreasonable.  It is also possible for a one actuary to be correct and the other to be incorrect notwithstanding that both are within approved actuarial standards.  The issue of reasonable disagreements between actuaries is subservient in this case because the question concerning what equivalency means is infused with legal considerations.  There is a correct answer and this Court is charged with determining that issue, not whether someone else’s view is reasonable.  The overwhelming weight of evidence in this case favours pension benefits, which include the use of surplus and the funding of the benefits on the Implementation Date and governance thereof.
The November 7 Agreement (“MOA”)

14. The MOA deals with the use of the initial surplus.  All of the witnesses agree that the object of the MOA was to use the initial surplus to achieve a benefit for employees.

15. Other than the fact that the initial surplus would be placed in the COLA Account, the parties did not negotiate or consider the details of how the COLA Account would operate such as to create a reasonable opportunity for the object of the November 7 Agreement to come to fruition.  The Plaintiffs say it was an implied term of the MOA that MTS would establish a COLA Account that would allow for the $43 M initial surplus to go to the benefit of employees and not MTS. 

16. MTS is using actuarial and accounting “sleight of hand”, along with post facto rationalization and re-invention, to hide the simple truth in this case: it plundered the employees’ initial surplus by using it to do what it promised it would not do, that is it reduced its cost or share of contributions to the New Plan; all the while promising a phantom benefit to the Plaintiffs in the form of increased COLA awards, which were ab initio an impossibility due to the accounting and administration of the COLA Account established MTS.    

17. The fact that the Plaintiffs did not realize until much later the effect of certain provisions of the New Plan text on the demise of the COLA Account is immaterial, in light of the legislature’s admonition to MTS that the benefits shall be equivalent in value.  MTS, the crafter of the New Plan, either knew or ought to have known that the COLA Account was fatally flawed from the beginning.  Its equivocal responses to Ellement in November / December were inappropriate; its casting of blame on the Plaintiffs for only discovering the whole truth over time is both shameful and irrelevant.  MTS had a legal obligation to “get it right”.  It failed miserably in that regard.  Pension benefits are sacrosanct.  The initial surplus was a pension benefit.  It was used up to pay MTS’ costs rather than providing higher pensions.  The same surplus (CSSF employees’ share on January 1, 1997) transformed into a large benefit for pensioners and actives in August of 2000.   
Fox Opinion Process

18. Fox had a duty to be correct.  The government expected independence from the actuary, not incompetence, inexperience or outside influence.  Fox was not independent because he allowed a process to unfold that was grossly biased in favour of MTS.  The biased process led Fox to change his opinion.  His decision must fall for myriad of reasons.  The process was biased in MTS favour; employees were not give the opportunity to respond to the case made out against them by MTS and the Provincial Auditor’s Office; Fox’s decision was based on unreasonable expectations about funding, governance and surplus use in the New Plan; the evidence indicates that Fox may have narrowed his definition of equivalency as a result of the interference of the Provincial Auditor; Fox’s opinion is not correct and unreasonable.   

Amendments to the Statement of Claim
19. The Plaintiffs were not advised of MTS’ decision to take a contribution holiday until long after it was taken.  This non-disclosure was pursuant to a communication policy of the Company Board of Directors.  Immediately after they discovered the contribution holiday, the Plaintiffs took legal action.  The Plaintiffs’ lawyer wrote to MTS asking for the basis upon which a contribution holiday had been taken without consulting with the Pension Committee.  He also wrote to Fox inquiring as to whether Fox included the concept of surplus in his Opinion.  Fox wrote back saying it would be very difficult for MTS to take surplus unilaterally since the rights of the employees had not changed.  

20. The first Statement of Claim did not specifically plead the MOA fully, which was a drafting issue.  The Plaintiffs did not appreciate the implication of what was happening to their initial surplus.  However, the claim asserted from the beginning that MTS could not take contribution holidays because it could not deal with the employee’s surplus to pay for its funding obligations. 

21. The Fresh as Amended Claim contains further material facts that were only discovered through the discovery process, for instance, all of the procedural irregularities associated with the Independent Actuary process.
22. Through the obfuscation, filibustering and deception of the defendants, the full understanding of what actually transpired became an exercise in detective work and prodding on the part of the Plaintiffs.

23. Before engaging in a point-by-point response, the Plaintiffs wish to register their chagrin over the personal attack on the Plaintiffs’ witnesses.  It is indeed unfortunate that MTS would lower itself to that level and perhaps it is because MTS feels that it really has no meaningful weapons in its arsenal to focus on the substantive issues.  Specific reference will be made to the attack on Levy (MTS Written Submissions, paras. 600-619); Ellement (MTS Written Submissions, paras. 623-625); and, on Restall (MTS Written Submissions, paras. 596-599).

Detailed Paragraph by Paragraph Reply 

24. What follows is a paragraph by paragraph Reply to the submissions made by MTS.  The paragraph numbers correspond to the paragraph numbers used in the MTS written argument.

MTS Para. 19 - No Governance

25.
(a)
The basis behind the suggestion that there was no governance entitlement under the CSSA is fallacious and simplistic.  It must be remembered that MTS presented no witness who was involved in or understood the process behind the relationship between the employees / retirees and the employer in terms of the actual level of consensus and the factual underpinnings behind the relationship.  Neither Fraser, Barker, Solman, McInnes nor Williams had any personal involvement in the negotiations with respect to the Old Plan.  Their evidence is secondary, hearsay and totally of no consequence.

Joint Trusteeship

(b)
(i)
MTS is making the wrong comparison.  MTS is comparing what the plan members enjoyed in terms of governance, versus what they could accomplish under a different regime, i.e. joint trusteeship.  MTS cannot use that history as a measuring stick by which to compare what MTS has or has not provided under the New Plan.  Clearly, the evidence of Erb, who was the most knowledgeable witness concerning the workings of the Old Plan, indicated that a joint trusteeship was being pursued because the plan members were, to a large measure, there in any event.  That is to say, there was consensus with respect to the use of surplus always.  However, joint trusteeship was being pursued because the process of having to go through the legislative process was archaic and did not fit in with modern pension plans, wherein decisions could be made and implemented immediately.  (See para. 80 below.)

(ii)
Erb’s testimony was clear and unequivocal that the issue of governance was not the reason for seeking joint trusteeship.  The issue was with respect to funding.  Quite simply, by the mid-1990s, the government had taken the position that it could or would not match benefit improvements.  Accordingly, by getting the government ultimately to agree upon joint trusteeship, the plan members were hoping that the government thereby would commence to pre-fund its obligations, such that when benefit improvements were sought, the government would have dedicated revenue plus investment return to be able to contribute towards benefit improvements.  It had nothing to do with the Plaintiffs being unhappy with governance over the use of their own surplus.

MTS Paras. 22 & 277-283 - No Funding
26. MTS suggests that funding is not an issue because there was no funding under the Old Plan, and, therefore the quid pro quo for paying any deficits under the New Plan allowed MTS the right to control ongoing or actuarial surplus in the New Plan.
27. It is incorrect to say that there was no funding under the Old Plan.  There was no pre-funding, but there was a funding obligation by the government and that funding obligation was a matching of 50/50 of costs of benefits
28. As previously stated, all actuarial witnesses, except Williams, indicated that funding was relevant.  However, the funding of which they speak is not comparing current funding under the New Plan to funding under the Old Plan.  It is a fact that on Day One there had to be equivalent funding.  That is to say, the amount of dollars put into the New Plan had to be equivalent.  It was not about MTS inheriting future obligations because of the funding requirements it now assumed by virtue of the decision to privatize.
Surplus / Deficiencies

29. Inherently, in a private plan it would make sense that, on an ongoing basis, if the employer is assuming the deficits, it would want to have some control over the surplus.  The Plaintiffs have never disputed that proposition.  The Plaintiffs say, however, that the obligation of MTS was to sustain what the plan members enjoyed under the Old Plan.  The fact that MTS may be burdened by not being able to utilize employee contributions to finance its deficit responsibilities was a function of The Re-Organization Act, which had to be satisfied before the invocation of the PBSA.

MTS Paras. 23 & 28 - Deficiency Funding Obligations

30. MTS talks about having to pay more into the New Plan than the employees because of its exposure to deficits through solvency payment requirements.  Again, MTS misses the point.


(a)
The solvency requirements of MTS are a function of the PBSA and the decision to privatize.  Solvency funding was never required under the Old Plan.  Therefore, it is inappropriate to compare MTS’ obligations under the Old Plan versus the New Plan.  Post-1997 comparisons of relative contributions are irrelevant to the issue of equivalency;

(b)
In any event, on an ongoing basis, the true best estimate of the cost of the benefits indicates that MTS has not paid more into the New Plan than the employees.  The solvency payments which were made into the New Plan which now exceed what the employees have put in, is money which is not lost, but which can ultimately be used in a sense as pre-funding of the true costs of future benefits such that “down the road” contribution holidays can be taken.  As stated by Levy, solvency payments are a matter of timing;

Tax Benefits

(c)
Even so, if one is to look at funding post Implementation Date, then one must look at the fact that offsetting the solvency payments was a $383 M tax deduction benefit accrued to MTS.  The total amount of dollars on a net basis as a result of privatization, is substantially less than the employees when that is taken into account.  On a going concern basis, the employees have contributed $118 M more than MTS (Exhibit 34).  Even on a solvency basis, including solvency payments, it is $383 M - $19.5 M = $363.5 M less than the employees have put in (Exhibit 51) ($152.7 M + $99.1 M = $383 M - $271.3 M = $363.5 M);
MTS Para. 24 - Post January 1, 1997 MTS Experience

31. In any event, any comparison is purely hindsight and is irrelevant to the exercise as to equivalency on Day One.  None of the information that has been introduced into evidence by MTS, as to MTS’ subsequent experience, was known or could have been known at the time.  As at the date of the valuation (January 1, 1997), post facto evidence is inappropriate and should be ignored in its entirety by the Court; including, the assertion as to what is happening with world wide recession today.
MTS Para. 25 - SAA Post - January 1, 1997 SAA Surplus Infusion

32. Furthermore, the Court should disregard out of hand any attempt at analysis as to what is happening in the Old Plan today as a result of the $145 M intended transfer of surplus from the new fund to the SAA.  It is speculation.  There is no evidence surrounding the assertions and it is purely hypothetical.  If one were to accede to MTS’ argument, perhaps this case should be delayed another 5 years at which time there would be a whole new set of circumstances to compare and evaluate.
MTS Para. 27 - PBSA Security

33. It is absolutely ridiculous for MTS to suggest that the PBSA provides the security sought by the Plaintiffs.  The Plaintiffs had the security they wanted under the Old Plan.  The New Plan does not provide the same security, because if MTS becomes bankrupt and is in an insolvent position, the plan members do not receive the difference between the pension obligations and the assets on hand.
MTS Para. 32 - Use of Employee Surplus
34. It is incongruous for MTS to suggest that the plan members, who owned the surplus and who had use of it historically for benefit improvements, are somehow now not entitled to enjoy it.  As per paragraph 25(b) above, the joint trusteeship issue had nothing to do with not being able to use surplus or entitlement to surplus use; it had to do with government sharing in the cost of any benefit improvement proposed at any given time.

MTS Para. 33 - No Entitlement at Law to Ongoing Surplus

35. MTS asserts that, at law, the Plaintiffs have no entitlement to ongoing surplus.  That argument is simply not true.  Firstly, the Old Plan is not a defined benefit plan; it is a unique plan; a hybrid.  Secondly, the suggestion that ongoing surplus is an actuarial surplus and therefore not actual or real is specious.  An actuarial surplus existed in the Old Plan on a consistent and regular basis.  The plan actuary and the Liaison Committee / Advisory Committee had no difficulty in turning the actuarial surpluses, which were ongoing, into benefits.  By MTS’ twisted logic, the day after an agreement between the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee had been reached as to the use of surplus, the decision should have been rendered moot, because the surplus amount would have changed.  MTS is using defined benefit plans in a private sector environment to foster its argument.

MTS Para. 35 - Wind-Up Surplus

36. Of course there was no wind-up of surplus under the CSSA, because there is no plan wind-up potential about which to worry.  MTS only agreed to sharing surplus on plan wind-up under the New Plan, because it knew full well that it would not be entitled to anything more than its fair share on plan wind-up under the PBSA.
37. Furthermore, even though MTS attempted to “scoop” surplus on wind-up for itself in its first drafts of the plan text, it had to compromise once it was confronted by the Plaintiffs after receipt of the plan text on November 11, 1996.

MTS Paras. 76 & 77 - COLA Award Under CSSF

38. MTS makes the observation that sec. 33(6) of the CSSA allows for the CSSB to award COLA less than 2/3 of CPI.  What MTS forgets to include is the fact that section was enacted by agreement and has never been invoked in its 20 year history.  The reality of the matter is that the CSSB does nothing with respect to the COLA Account without the approbation of the plan members.

MTS Para. 80 - Status of the SAA

39. MTS makes the assertion that since 1990, the SAA has been nowhere near 20 year pre-funding.  Again, MTS conveniently forgets the reason why the 20 year pre-funding provisions were enacted.  The whole object was not to go above 2/3 of CPI, but rather to leave enough surplus in the basic account to be able to provide other benefits.  Therefore, by agreement between the government and the Liaison Committee, the 20 year pre-funding test was made a stringent test in order that the surplus could be used for other purposes and not be used up in providing retirees at the time with excess COLA increases at high inflation rates.  It has nothing to do with the instant case where initial surplus was to be used for benefit enhancement; either in the form of increased COLA, based upon what the COLA Account could afford, or in improved benefits provided there were excess funds available.

MTS Para. 87 - Evidence of Liaison Committee / Advisory Committee Process
40. MTS’ synopsis of the process is “cherry picking” and an epidermal summary of substantive evidence in the Plaintiffs’ argument (paras. 74-103 of the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs).  Nevertheless, in direct contradiction to paragraph 87, the Plaintiffs say as follows:

Liaison Committee Mandate


(a)
The Liaison Committee and Advisory Committee were not legislatively mandated to engage in consultations.  They were mandated to negotiate and come to an agreement as to benefit improvements.  The “consultation” wording in the legislation must be looked at in terms of the historical reality, which the legislation at the insistence of the Liaison Committee, perpetuated by formal recognition of the two committees under the CSSA.


Final Authority


(b)
It is incorrect to say that final approval of any recommendation rested with the government.  Final approval rested with Her Majesty the Queen through the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council.  But the point is trite, because it was a legislative mechanism; the usual legislative protocol applied.  However, the evidence is incontrovertible that the legislative process was perfunctory and the government never balked at any improvement that had been agreed upon between the two committees.

Consensus


(c)
No one debates that consensus was required, but consensus was always achieved with respect to the use of surplus.  Negotiations were strictly about the extent to which the government would be bound on a 50/50 basis for any improvement desired by the plan members.


Legislation Mechanism


(d)
The negotiation process did not always take several years.  MTS is pointing out two occasions where it did take considerable time, but that was the species under which the plan members were operating.  As it was required that any changes to the Old Plan be implemented by way of legislative enactment, the “nature of the beast” was such that it took longer than necessary due to other priorities of the government on its “plate”.  The frustration experienced by the Liaison Committee was with respect to the archaic manner dealing with plan changes.  There was no issue of discontent with governance, as the plan members always had a significant say; a vastly superior status to the lip service paid to the plan members under the New Plan.  (see para. 25 above and para. 109 below)

No Funding


(e)
MTS is incorrect when it says there is no employer funding.  There was no pre-funding, but the funding was known and accepted.  As a matter of fact, the funding was changed by agreement between the plan members and the government in 1961 to its present form.

Cost of Plan Improvements


(f)
MTS ignores the evidence with respect to plan improvements, meaning that the government’s obligation to pay pensions was something less than 50% of the benefits paid to retirees.  MTS completely ignores the evidence of Ellement and his critique of Exhibit 8, wherein he states that there was on balance a neutral cost sharing with respect to the improvements over time.  (See Ellement’s evidence in which he asserts as the Old Plan actuary that the 50/50 cost sharing hallmark status quo was retained from 1970 to 1997, notwithstanding that $400 M was spent on improvements.  [V10, Sept. 15/08, p. 49, l. 32-34; p. 50-56]

MTS Para. 88 - The Civil Service Special Supplementary Severance Benefit Act
41. MTS makes an issue out of the fact that, in 1983, the government passed sweeping legislation to encourage employees in the entire civil service to take early retirement.  The consequences of that action did not change the CSSA.  It had unintended consequences like any impact that lay-offs or early retirements of civil servants would have had on the CSSA.  However, what MTS ignores is the evidence of Ellement which placed into perspective what was happening in 1983, when the government initially intended to pay for 100% of the changes.  By agreement, the CSSF decided to pick up 50%.  Whatever the consequences of that incidental amendment was reflected in agreements between the plan members and the government.
MTS Para. 89 - Re Bill 22 (Filmon Fridays)

42. MTS’ persistent assertion, that somehow Bill 22 demonstrated the ability of the government to unilaterally affect the interests of the plan members under the CSSA, is patently wrong.  It contradicts the evidence of Praznik who was the Minister at the time responsible for the passage of Bill 22.
43. The suggestion is that Bill 22, which established a short work week for civil servants for a period of time (known as Filmon Fridays), had the impact of adversely affecting the CSSA over the objections of the Liaison Committee.  However, that Bill was in reference to employment of civil servants and not with respect to the CSSA.  In any event, when it became apparent that there may be some unintended consequences to the CSSF associated with the passage of Bill 22, the government and the Liaison Committee agreed that there would be legislation passed, which had the impact of crediting employees with full work weeks (AD 381 & AD 474) (03944).

44. Bill 22 was a creature of government developed through Praznik’s office in order to avoid the layoff of 500 permanent positions.  The concept was to layoff everyone for 10 days.  There was an unintended consequence to the CSSF, which is why initially the government was not prepared to make any changes to the Bill.  The government felt that nothing was changing with respect to the CSSP.  It was merely an employment matter and no different than changing someone from full-time to part-time (AD 182 & AD 183).  The effect on the CSSF would have been the same as if the government had chosen to lay off 500 people.  (AD 250).  [V5, Sep. 8/08, p. 28-30, l. 1-34] [V6, Sep. 9/08, p. 6-7; p. 9-10]

45. On June 21, 1995, there was an agreement whereby whatever contributions were rolled back because of the 1993 and 1994 Filmon Fridays would be drawn from the pension fund reserve so that the plan members’ pension would not be negatively impacted (AD 217) (Exhibit 14) (03550, section 2(12) and 2(13)).  [RV14, June 17/08, p. 2-3]

46. To effect the agreement, an amendment was made to The Civil Service Superannuation Act, section 2(12) and section 2(13), legislatively allowing buy back of those days so that their pensions would not be affected (AD 474) (03944).  [V5, Sep. 8/08, p. 31, l. 1-22]

47. As stated by Praznik in cross-examination, Bill 22 had no different impact on the CSSA than if the government had laid off employees.  The loss to the fund would have remained the same by virtue of the employee / employer relationship and decision of management (the government).  It was not a pension plan matter.
Use of Surplus Under the Old Plan
48. The suggestion, by reference to Exhibit 8, is that between 1970 and 1996, there were seven occasions when the use of surplus involved paying all or a part of the employer’s costs in addition to the employees’ costs (three in which the entire employer’s costs were paid); and, that since 1986, the government did not permit any plan improvements where the government was forced to contribute to the costs.  That suggestion is misleading for the following reasons:

(a)
On balance, for any improvements where the employees were required to contribute a portion of the government costs, in aggregate, the total costs of the improvements balanced out to 50/50;

(b)
Part of Exhibit 8 created by MTS counsel mis-stated the facts;

(c)
In any event, the whole point of the exercise is that in terms of use of surplus in the CSSF:

(i)
At no time was surplus used without the agreement of the Liaison Committee;
(ii)
Whenever surplus was used for benefit improvements, whereby there was a contribution out of the CSSF to pay part of the government’s cost, improvements were invariably obtained.  (See also para. 40(f) above.)
MTS Para. 90 - Privatization

49. MTS asserts that it was a decision of the government, not MTS, to privatize.  By that statement, MTS seems to imply that MTS had a choice in the matter.  MTS could not choose to privatize or not privatize.  It was a Crown corporation.  Of course, the ultimate decision as to whether privatization would take place would be a government decision.  MTS had no independent persona in the exercise; and, yet, it acted in all manner from the announcement of privatization until privatization took place as if it was a separate entity with independent ability to determine outcomes.
MTS Para. 108 - MTS’ Take on Corp’s Involvement in the Draft Plan Text

50. MTS is using “double speak” when it talks about Corp (and therefore CEP) being happy with the New Plan text.  The evidence is that CEP, like the other unions and the retirees, were satisfied with the formula benefit provisions articulated in the plan text.  The issues of funding, surplus and governance were extant issues all along; all Plaintiffs were ad idem.  (See also Plaintiffs’ Reply to MTS paras. 222, 226 & 227 below.)
51. MTS’ assertion is that control of surplus makes common sense.  (See paragraph 29 above.)  MTS ignores that this case is not about MTS liabilities, but what The Re-Organization Act required.  MTS’ funding obligations post-privatization are irrelevant to the deliberation this court has to make.
MTS Para. 133 - Differences Between SAA and the COLA Account

52. MTS over-simplifies the significant differences between the two accounts, which were articulated by Ellement (see Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, para. 538).  Furthermore, the suggestion that CANSIM is appropriate misses the point.  It is not the rate that was used under the Old Plan and it is less advantageous to the employees by a significant amount (Exhibit 33) (25962-25963).  MTS is also hypothecating about the future.  This hypothesis is inappropriate and ought to be ignored by the Court.

Comparison to Old Plan After Privatization
MTS Para. 150 - Pension Formula Increase in the Old Plan
53. The pension formula in the Old Plan was improved effective September 1, 2000. Erb testified that the increase in benefits received at retirement as a result of this increase would be approximately 7% to 14% [V3, Sep. 4/08, p. 29].  This large benefit improvement was paid for with employee surplus in the CSSA (a portion of which was divided between the CSSF and MTS upon privatization) and an 18% increase in contributions [V4, Sep. 5/08, p. 12].  

54. MTS is critical of the increase in the contributions for active employees.  Comparing percentages is misleading.  The 18% increase in contributions is 18% of a small absolute number versus the year over year pensions paid which is a much larger number.  The issue is how much more do employees put into the CSSF in order to get the benefit of a pension, which is 7 to 14% larger than it would have been in the absence of the increase in contributions.  Ellement testified as follows: 
         Q   How   does   the  18   percent  square   with,   in

   26  contribution  increases, square with the 14 percent in  terms

   27  of benefit enhancement?

   28        A   The  -- it's -- a  direct comparison is not really

   29  appropriate  because the 14 percent increase in the  benefits

   30  is  paid every year, for many years  into the future.  So if

   31  you  pay 18  -- if  18 percent increase  in contributions is

   32  paid   in  a  year,  it   generates  a  14  percent   benefit

   33  improvement,  but that benefit improvement is paid for 20  or

   34  30 years, 40 years.  Depends on how long you live.
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    1        Q   So   that,  that  one-time  contribution  increase

    2  results in a stream of benefit improvements?

    3        A   Payments, right.

    4        Q   I  see.    And if  you,  if you  compare  the,  the

    5  increase  in  the contribution  rate of  18 percent  to what

    6  ultimately  the  benefit  value is,  what,  what  would that

    7  comparison be?

    8        A   What  actuaries do  is they  determine the  present

    9  value  of that  14 percent  stream, and if  you compare that

   10  present  value  of the  14 percent  stream you'll  find that

   11  they're  getting a, a pretty good deal for the  contributions

   12  they're paying in.

   13        Q   What -- you know, in what order of magnitude?

   14        A   It  could  be --  it, it  depends  on how  long it

   15  goes,  but it could be double.  So in other words, the  ratio

   16  of  the present  value  of that 14  percent stream  would be

   17  more  than  double,  triple  at times,  of  the,  of  the 18

   18  percent contribution amount that's made.

   19        Q   Could you give an example in dollar terms?

   20        A   Of  the  --  I  had  done  some  calculations and,

   21  testing  my memory here,  but I believe  the, the 18  percent

   22  increase  in  contributions was  a number  like $384  so  the

   23  present  value of the 14 percent benefit income stream  could

   24  be  double that amount.  That's for, for one year.  It  could

   25  be  double that amount  or triple that  amount, depending on

   26  the age. [V12, Sep. 18/08, p. 48-49]

55. Furthermore, what is missing from MTS’ position is that the employees should be able to decide what to do with their surplus.  If they decide to increase contributions, so be it.  If they decide not to, then a smaller increase could have been granted.  The increase in contributions was not imposed on employees; it was their choice.
56. Also, it is important to understand that there was no cost to CSSF retirees collecting a pension.  Had MTS not been privatized Restall’s pension for example would have increased by 7% to 14% for every year since September 1, 2000.
MTS Paras. 151-153 - Joint Trusteeship - Post-January 1, 1997
57. MTS completely insists in advocating points which are totally irrelevant.  The fact that there are negotiations ongoing in 2006 with respect to the government and plan members pertaining to joint trusteeship is of no consequence.  Perhaps if there were negotiations for joint trusteeship under the New Plan, one might as a matter of idle curiosity make a comparison.  The issue is not what the CSSP members desired in 1996 or for that matter in 2006.  The issue is what they enjoyed compared to what they receive under the New Plan.
58. MTS suggests that, even under a joint trusteeship, the government had reserved the right to approve any changes involving additional government expenses.  That right was always the case and remains the case that the Plaintiffs’ are putting forward now.  MTS’ assertion that it was not asked by employees / retirees to enter into a joint trust arrangement, is disingenuous.  MTS knew all along what the Plaintiffs were fighting for but arrogantly resisted, without making any genuine effort to resolve the ongoing dispute by in itself offering joint trusteeship or some other ameliorating compromise.
MTS Paras. 154-158 - MTS Interpretation and Application of Section 15

59. The Plaintiffs can do no better than their detailed analysis of the definition of equivalency in value as contained in paragraphs 721-746 of the Plaintiffs’ Written Argument.

60. However, the Plaintiffs have the following further comments with respect to MTS’ position; namely,

(a)
What may have been interpreted at the time as to the meaning of equivalency in value; particularly, MTS, as being a financial benefit, is irrelevant.  It is clear that MTS was taking a much more narrow and facile interpretation for two reasons - (1) it was much easier to complete the task of crafting a plan text; and, (2) it was not in MTS’ interests to embrace a wider definition.  As a matter of fact, the contest over the definition had been engaged after the initial draft of sec. 15(2) of The Re-Organization Act.  MTS’ position was well known as was the Plaintiffs’ position, when the legislature made the two significant amendments to sec. 15 by incorporating the independent actuary requirements and the MOA into the Act.

(b)
It was clear that the legislature wanted a broad and wide definition, but MTS ignored its own Minister in that regard.  (Hansard AD 446) (15817)
MTS Para. 160 - Legislative Intent

61. MTS suggests that if a broader definition was intended, the legislature would have so crafted the change.  The Plaintiffs say that:

(a)
The provisions of other pieces of legislation are irrelevant.  It would have been easy for the legislature to have added its own definition or make reference back to the definition of pension benefits under the CSSA or other like legislation.  However, the legislature was dealing with a much broader issue than the monthly benefits, which the Plaintiffs repeat ad nauseum were not in issue.  The legislature was leaving it up to an independent body to make that determination; failing which the courts would have to decide.

(b)
Turning the argument of MTS on its head, if the legislature had chosen to restrict the definition, it would have done so;

(c)
The issue over a broad versus a narrow definition has already been decided by the Manitoba Court of Appeal when the Court indicated that the “broadest” definition was to be used and that if all the assets of the Old Plan were not matched under the New Plan on Day One, there would not be equivalency.  (TEAM, supra @ paras. 82 and 95)
MTS Para. 161-166 - Rules of Statutory Interpretation

62. The rules of statutory interpretation posited by MTS are general and relate to matters where existing statutes require interpretation, of current and prospective subject matter.  The Re-Organization Act is a “one-off” statute, which only raison d’être was to effect privatization, which has occurred.  In the course of that event, a final interpretation, of how the pension plan was to be approached, was articulated.  Accordingly, other legislative enactments, which were not to apply to the Plaintiffs in the future, are inapplicable insofar as determining the architecture of the New Plan.
MTS Para. 167 - Transfer Amount as Quantifiable

63. MTS is suggesting that the transfer amount emphasizes a quantifiable financial benefit which can be calculated and therefore funding, surplus and governance are ephemeral; not financial and not quantifiable.  In response, the Plaintiffs say that the definition of transfer amount had to be quantified, because it was a component of assets being transferred from the Old Plan.  It was part of the puzzle dealing with funding.  However, it did not stunt or otherwise restrict the overall definition of equivalency in value and what was meant by “benefits” under sec. 15(2).
64. Furthermore, it is preposterous to say that there is no financial component to funding, which after all is about how benefits are paid; or surplus, which is the financial basis upon which benefit improvements are achieved; or governance, which is the trigger for benefit improvements.  They are inextricably and inexorably intertwined with the notion of pension benefits.
MTS Para. 170-171 - Corp Evidence

65. MTS takes Corp’s evidence completely out of context.  All Corp was being shown was the definition of “pension benefits” under the plan text which is consistent with the definition of “pension benefits” under the various pieces of legislation, which deal only with monthly pension payments.  He was not opining on the definition of “pension benefits” under The Re-Organization Act.

MTS Para. 173-174 - Paterson Notes

66. MTS is using cryptic notes of 13 years ago for support that the Plaintiffs somehow conceded that pension benefits incorporated a more narrow interpretation.  These are gossamer arguments; they are not serious scrutiny in terms of the important determinations before this Court.  Fox’s notes differed from Paterson’s in that they did not include the references relied on by MTS.  The best evidence of the position of parties is the letters they wrote outlining their positions and the viva voce evidence at trial.
MTS Paras. 179-180 - Contributions
67. MTS argues that an individual’s contribution rate was equivalent on Day One.  The Plaintiffs are not disputing that fact.  The fact that MTS, however, had to pay more normal costs on a go-forward basis is purely a function of the PBSA and has nothing to do with equivalency as at January 1, 1997.  In any event, as Levy has pointed out, the fact that the Plaintiffs have put in $49 M more in to the New Plan than MTS, means that the normal costs otherwise would have been substantially more.  Furthermore, had MTS not put the pension reserve fund into the New Plan, the normal costs would have increased to have been 90% or more.  The fact that MTS’ normal costs on a percentage basis are higher than the employees’ pales in comparison to the amount of funds put in excess of what MTS contributed on January 1 (see Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 784-793).

MTS Para. 180
68. The assertion by MTS is that contribution rates did go up in the New Plan.  What MTS conveniently forgets is that the contribution rate went up in part to provide for an improvement, all of which was done at the employees’ insistence.
MTS Paras. 181-182 & 302 - 50% Cost Rule

69. MTS is confusing the 50% cost rule pertaining to an individual when that individual leaves the plan versus the collective requirement that the New Plan in total be equivalent on the Implementation Date.  Also, it is not the 50% cost matching of which Fox spoke.
70. The argument about the 50% cost rule is subterfuge for the following reasons:
(a)
It bears no relationship to what the Court has to concern itself with in terms of equivalency in value on Day One;

(b)
There is no change to the 50% cost rule requirements under the Old Plan versus the New Plan, so on that basis, there was equivalency; and, accordingly, that component is not an issue;

(c)
To the extent that MTS asserts that under no circumstances can an employee end up paying more than 50% of a pension benefit, MTS is in error.  It is all dependent upon what interest rates are used in the calculation.  Since MTS uses CANSIM rates as opposed to a fund rate of return, it means that employer contributions are much lower than the fund assets so it is much easier to satisfy the 50% test if one only compares a small amount of accumulated employee contributions to the 50% in value.  At the end of the day, notwithstanding the test, employees are paying more than 50% by virtue of the plan’s use of CANSIM.  [V10, Sep. 15/08, p. 28-30]
71. Furthermore, Levy in his report discloses how that 50% cost rule is not universal in its application notwithstanding the legislation.  Also, Levy has debunked the assertion by FitzGerald that a person can never pay more than 50% on an individual basis of the cost of the pension under the New Plan.  He clearly identifies illustrations where that can and does happen.  [Exhibit 41, p. 4-5, para. 9] [V21, Oct. 7/08, p. 55, l. 24-34; p. 56-58, l. 1-8]

72. Levy puts into perspective the meaning of the individual 50% cost test as follows:
   13        Q   Can  you  explain the  relevance  of this  test in

   14  relationship  to the issue of equivalency in value, that  is,

   15  this individual 50-50 test?

   16        A   The  50-50  test, even  if it were,  if it  a pure

   17  test  that nobody could ever  get less than double what they

   18  had  paid for, would generally be a reasonable test to  apply

   19  to  see that the employees didn't  pay more than half if  the

   20  employees  didn't  also  have $49  million  of  surplus that

   21  wasn't  needed for their benefits  which history has said --

   22  and  subsequent, subsequent events have said -- is likely  to

   23  eventually  ripen  into more  benefits.   So the  50  percent

   24  test  is applied to the benefits  in the document, but  under

   25  CSSF,  there would  have been an  expectation that sooner or

   26  later  there'd be some  additional benefits that wouldn't be

   27  part  of the 50-50  test.  And that  expectation or at least

   28  the  realistic  chance  of  that  expectation  ripening into

   29  additional  benefits  on the  MTS plan  isn't there.   So to

   30  meet  the 50-50  test, one has  to take all  the things  that

   31  are  potentially  of  benefit to  the employee,  not  just  a

   32  snapshot today.

   33            And  again,  as I  said, it  isn't really  a 50-50

   34  test,  and in  paragraph 9  I have  some simplistic examples
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    1  just  to show that even without  taking into account that 49

    2  million,  one can construct examples  -- and these happen to

    3  be  very simple ones, but  the same would be  true even if  I

    4  were  doing more realistic ones -- where, after applying  the

    5  50-50  test, the employee is still paying more than half, or

    6  the  employees collectively are still paying more than half.

    7  It  is, it  is not,  in fact,  the guarantee  that it sounds

    8  like it is.  [V21, Oct. 7/08, p. 57, l. 13-34; p. 58, l. 1-8]
MTS Para. 184 - Funding Deficiency
73. MTS obfuscates matters by suggesting that its obligation to fund deficiencies is a significant advantage to the plan members and a significant risk to MTS.  There is no significant advantage to the plan members versus their status under the CSSP.  Again, the proper comparison is not private sector plans with legislative protection versus private sector plans without protection.  As far as any significant risk to MTS is concerned, it is the quid pro quo MTS undertook when the government decided to privatize.  MTS is not entitled to any amelioration or recognition for that fact, to the detriment of the Plaintiffs.  Even so, MTS has been significantly advantaged financially by virtue of the amount of payments made by the employees and when taking into account the $383 M tax deduction benefit enjoyed by MTS.  (See para. 30(c) above.)
MTS Para. 188 - Differences between MTS COLA Account and CSSF COLA Account 

74. In terms of the set up of the new COLA Account, MTS states that there are four differences between the CSSF Adjustment Account and the COLA Account in the New Plan. 

1.
The MTS COLA Account is a notional account. 

2. 
There is no guaranteed COLA level in the CSSF.

3.
Lump sum transfers for terminating employees are a debit in the MTS account but not the CSSF.

4. 
CANSIM interest is credited to MTS COLA Account.

75. The Plaintiffs agree that these are some of the differences.  Others include the fact that in the CSSF, all of the assets related to COLA are in the COLA Account and are only credited to the COLA Account; not to the main account as well.  This separation of COLA assets and basic benefit assets is an important feature of the Old Plan that has not been duplicated in the New Plan.  Another significant difference is that under the Old Plan there were injections of surplus to ensure the health of the account to achieve its target of 2/3 of inflation, which target is greater than the cap of 2/3 of 4 percent in the New Plan.  

76. MTS states that the COLA Account in the New Plan had to be a notional account.  Nothing turns on this fact.  It is a matter of semantics.  What the Plaintiffs are saying is that there should be a separate accounting of the monies designated to the COLA Account.  The Plaintiffs are not alleging that the monies should have been physically separated in a different account (which MTS interprets to mean in a separate trust fund).  As indicated in the Plaintiffs’ Written Argument (paras. 548-551), the COLA debits and credits could have been set up in any manner deemed appropriate to achieve the objective of the MOA, resulting in a separate accounting within the same fund. 

77. In any event, both accounts are notional, which was the precise point that MTS makes in paragraph 200 of its Written Submissions, and to which Restall agreed; that is, there is no separation of assets in different locations in the CSSA, no movement of money, rather there is a separate accounting (in that sense a separate account) with its own system of pluses and minuses.  

78. MTS cites the “guarantee” as another difference between the two COLA schemes.  The Plaintiffs’ complaint is that the assets related to the guarantee and the yearly funding of the guarantee is not credited to the COLA Account, thereby dooming it to failure.  MTS spins this point as “the guarantee has kicked in”.  Nothing is kicking in; the funds for the guarantee have been in the total plan assets since Day One, and in each subsequent year they form part of the normal costs of the New Plan.  Therefore, when the COLA Account “goes broke” as it has now, the guarantee only kicks in, in the sense that assets that have always been earmarked for COLA, but which are not accounted for in the COLA Account, are accessed.   

79. Another point is that MTS and the Plaintiffs agree that the guarantee was an established obligation under the Old Plan; which means it had to be duplicated in the New Plan. 

80. MTS says that under the New Plan, commuted values paid to plan members include a portion of COLA.  This results in significantly higher commuted value lump sum payouts to terminating members.  The Plaintiffs do not dispute this fact; however, the object of the exercise is to achieve a plan that produces benefits that are equivalent in value for members of the plan; not for those members who chose to leave it.  In other words, equivalency in value is for all members and not just the small group of former members who have left the plan.   

81. MTS admits that interest at or close to the plan rate of return (as applied in the CSSF) will be higher than CANSIM in the long run.  MTS then becomes mischievous in offering up pure speculation that the CANSIM award in the MTS COLA Account in 2008 may be higher than the Old Plan’s Account because of the current market turmoil.  There is simply no evidence on this point.  And the market collapse this year is an extraordinary event that cannot absolve MTS of its misfeasance with respect to its duty to operate the COLA Account with a view to meeting the objective of the MOA.      

MTS Paras. 189-192 - CANSIM Interest Rate Versus Plan Rate of Return 

82. MTS cites evidence of several witnesses that the use of CANSIM is advantageous because it is a stable non-volatile rate.  This point is flummoxing, since the Plaintiffs complaint is that the assets in the COLA Account will not grow at the same rate as the overall plan assets, which are credited with interest at the plan rate of return.  Reduced volatility accomplishes nothing in the context of the COLA Account.  The account should be credited with what the plan’s actuary believes the assets will actually earn, which rate has been higher than CANSIM in every single actuarial report since the inception of the New Plan.   

MTS Para. 193 - COLA Account Interest in New Plan
83. MTS argues that the interest rate is determined by the “Board” in both plans and is thus equivalent in that respect.  The problem with this argument is that the Board in the New Plan is the MTS Board of Director’s, while in the Old Plan it is the CSSB, which has 50/50 employee/employer representation and a neutral Chair.  To be equivalent, the Pension Committee should decide the interest rate.
MTS Paras. 200-205 - Deficiencies in the MTS and CSSF COLA Accounts 

84. MTS defends the dismal failure of its COLA Account by making a “yes I am but so are you” argument.  MTS does not deny the deficiencies in the account; it just says that the SAA has the same deficiencies.  Equivalency does not mandate reproducing imperfections; it involves duplicating the end result of the system, such that benefits paid out at the end of the day are at least as good.

85. MTS says that the CSSA Account was never going to get to 20 year pre-funding either.  What MTS conveniently forgets is that the objective and consensus behind the MOA was to achieve a benefit for employees through the application of the initial surplus.  The 20 year pre-funding rule was not even discussed.  It is an absolute “red herring” in this case.  If this Court finds that an initial employee surplus of $43.4 M existed on Implementation Date; it then has to determine whether that surplus is a pension benefit to which employees were entitled on the Implementation Date.  Under the Old Plan the government considered the surplus to belong to the employees.  They were entitled to and did use it to improve benefits.  MTS cannot transform the initial surplus into something other than a pension benefit by virtue of setting up a bogus account in which the 20 year pre-funding test can never be met.  The 20 year pre-funding test never applied the application of any other surplus in the history of the CSSF.  Why should it apply to this employee surplus on the Implementation Date?    

86. MTS was under no obligation to duplicate the funding structure of the SAA.  The funding of the SAA involved yearly crediting of 10.2% of employee contributions.  It also involved injections of surplus from the main account to the SAA.  MTS duplicated the first source of funding; but not the second.  There was no reason to duplicate the specific funding in the Old Plan in any event.  In fact, it was nonsensical, since MTS had to fund the guaranteed COLA in the New Plan.  The result became that the assets for the COLA guarantee are outside the COLA Account, but all the liabilities for COLA are bound up in the COLA Account.    

87. With respect to COLA the Old Plan generated consistent COLA awards of 2/3 of CPI or higher.  MTS had to duplicate that success rate, because it had been transformed into an existing obligation.  MTS knew that if it did not duplicate this history (i.e. fund for it), OSFI would have required it of MTS.  

88. AD 1001 shows that COLA awards in the Old Plan were higher than 2.67% (the cap in the New Plan) in 14 of the 20 years prior to privatization.  The average COLA award over this period was 3.77% [AD 1001].  This is what MTS had to duplicate.  
89. MTS asserts that the “initial surplus has been used to pre-fund future cost of living requirements.”  One has to ask: what benefit is it to the Plaintiffs if the surplus amount above their 50% of contributions on Day One (the initial surplus) goes to pre-fund a benefit that is already paid for?  The employees 50% share of the cost of the guarantee was fully funded by employees on Day One of the Plan.  The initial surplus represents the excess above 50% of the total liabilities in the New Plan (including the guarantee). 

MTS Para. 206-213 - History of SAA

90. MTS is constantly taking matters out of context.  The concerns about the status of the SAA, which included Ellement’s analyses and projections, were predicated upon assumptions of the SAA funding 100% of COLA as opposed to 50/50 sharing (which was the cost funding experience).  These projections were performed to demonstrate the cost to the CSSF, if the government did not match any infusion of surplus into the SAA on a 50/50 basis.  Accordingly, the assumptions were much more severe in terms of the SAA.  Notwithstanding these severe assumptions, in no instance was the 2/3 of CPI not granted.  No further increase of the SAA was required.  [V10, Sep. 15/08, p. 47, l. 12-34; p. 48, l. 1-20]
MTS Para. 207
91. Again, MTS is being mischievous in suggesting that in 1989 not even 2/3 was able to be granted; only a “paltry” 62%.  The Court is reminded that the evidence of the plan actuary was that the 62% COLA increase was merely a matter of timing in that the determination by the plan actuary as to the amount of COLA that could be granted, pre-dated the infusion of the $32 M from the basic account in 1989.  But for that several month dichotomy in timing, there would have been the 2/3 of CPI granted.  In any event, as stated in the Plaintiffs’ Written Argument, the historical evidence is that the SAA performed at all times in meeting its object.  [V10, Sep. 15/08, p. 57, l. 30-34; p. 58, l. 1-7]  (See Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, para. 66.)
92. The assertion by MTS of the continued warnings under the SAA are not only irrelevant, because they post-date the time in question, but the point is arithmetically trite.  In a “perfect storm”, where all the assumptions are dire, the SAA would not be able to meet its objective.
93. It is paradoxical that, on the one hand MTS would argue that the SAA was in dire straits; and yet on the other hand, it would say that the COLA guarantee was put into the New Plan because of the history of the SAA providing 2/3 of COLA.

MTS Paras. 216-217 - Guarantee v. COLA System in the Old Plan 

94. MTS states that because of the guarantee in the New Plan, pensioners will never receive COLA of anything less than 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.  However, because of the way the account was administered, and since it is now in deficit forever, it is also the case that pensioners are guaranteed to never receive a COLA award of anything more than 2.67% (2/3 of 4%). 

95. There is not a shred of evidence in this case that in the Old Plan retirees will receive anything less that 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.  In fact, retirees in the CSSA receive higher pensions than MTS retirees that were in the CSSA before privatization and they have received the same COLA awards as MTS retirees and may receive higher awards if inflation exceeds 4%. 

96. The COLA Account in the Old Plan can fund 2/3 of more than 4%.  AD 1001 shows that this occurred in 14 of the 20 years prior to privatization. 

MTS Para. 221 - The Guarantee was not Negotiated
97. MTS is extremely disingenuous when it states that the COLA guarantee “was then expressly agreed to in paragraph 3 of the MOA.”  The guarantee was not negotiated and agreed to; it was advanced as a fait accompli.  The subject of negotiations on November 7 was how the application of the initial surplus would be used to the benefit of employees; not to MTS. MTS’ own evidence is that there was no linkage between the initial surplus and the guarantee.  There was no “give and take” associated with the guarantee.  At discovery Fraser testified:  [Plaintiffs’ Read-Ins Exhibit 61 Tab 8] 


441          Q.    It is my understanding that

   23  this was the first time that this proposal was

   24  being offered to the employees for insertion into

   25  the new pension plan, that's why I was asking
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    1  earlier.  Do you have any comment on that?

    2               MR. OLSON:  First of all, it is not

    3  an offer.  MTS never saw this as a negotiation

    4  process in the sense of offers and acceptances.

    5  This might have been the first communication.

    6               MR. MERONEK:  Let me rephrase it.

    7  

    8  BY MR. MERONEK:

    9  442          Q.    I understand that without --

   10  that essentially, that you had indicated to Mr.

   11  Restall that this was going to be provided in the

   12  New Plan .  It wasn't an issue of negotiations, you

   13  just put that on the table as an improvement in

   14  the plan to offer to the employees.  Do you have

   15  any comment?

   16               A.    Yes, I wouldn't quibble with

   17  that.

   18               MR. OLSON:  He does say he doesn't

   19  have any independent recollection of the meeting,

   20  but I don't think that there is any quarrel that

   21  that would have been the nature of any

   22  communication.

98. The guarantee was not an improvement over the Old Plan.  MTS’ own evidence is that it was an existing obligation and thus a benefit that had to be equivalent.  [Pl Read-Ins Exhibit 61 Tab 6]  Therefore, the employee’s initial surplus (employee assets above 50% of the liabilities which included the guarantee), which is a tangible pension benefit, could not have been considered compensation for the guarantee. 
MTS Para. 222 - MTS Misstates Corp’s Evidence 

99. MTS mischaracterizes Corp’s evidence by selectively quoting from him.  Corp expected that all of the assets related to COLA would be in the account and that interest would not be other than the plan rate of return.  He was advocating, in strong terms, a pro-rata sharing of surplus, such that the employee surplus would go to the employees’ benefit and not to MTS to reduce its costs.
MTS Paras. 226-227 - Paterson’s Notes of December 19, 1996 Meeting 

100. MTS says that, on cross-examination, Corp agreed that with respect to the “benefit provisions” in the plan text, equivalence had been achieved.  He was obviously talking about the formula benefit provisions, which have never been an issue between MTS and its employees, versus the surplus provisions in the plan text. 

101. MTS is absolutely improper and is being mischievous to assert that Corp’s evidence is that the plans were equivalent in terms of surplus and control over surplus (governance).  MTS convolutes and warps Corp’s answers.  MTS states: 

On redirect examination, Corp made it clear that he included surplus and control of surplus as a benefit.  As such, he confirmed that when indicating that equivalence had been achieved with respect to benefit provisions, he included surplus and control of surplus (Sept. 12, pages 28 - 30).

102. Corp’s evidence was that the benefits were not equivalent because of surplus and control of surplus (governance), which he considered to be a benefit.  His evidence on these points is set out below. 

         Q   And  in these notes, in the -- about the  mid-page,

   17  there is a reference that says, quote:

   18  

   19                  "The  concerns    were  with    the

   20                  'non-benefit'  provisions  in   the

   21                  new MTS plan."

   22  

   23        A   Correct.

   24        Q   Do   you  recall  whether  or  not  you  made   the

   25  statements  that  are indicated  here,  that the  concern  is

   26  with non-benefit provisions?

   27        A   I   don't   recall   making   --   describing   the

   28  provisions in that way.

   29        Q   At  the time, did you have a view as to whether or

   30  not surplus was a non-benefit provision?

   31        A   Our   view,  that  surplus   was  --  surplus  and

   32  governance had to be included in, in equivalence.

   33        Q   And  it says -- also,  it says within these notes,

   34  above  the reference that we  were just looking at, it  says,
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    1  quote:

    2  

    3                  "Both of  these parties  felt that

    4                  through the negotiations they have

    5                  achieved equivalence."

    6  

    7            Do  you recall whether or not you indicated at  the

    8  meeting   that  through the   negotiations  there's been  an

    9  achievement of equivalence?

   10        A   No, I think that, that's wrong.

   11            THE  COURT:    Where  did you  --  where  were  you

   12  looking at?

   13            MR.  SAXBERG:   That  was under  the --  there's a

   14  word --

   15            THE COURT:  What page?

   16            MR.  SAXBERG:   Sorry, first page,  just above  the

   17  reference  we were earlier looking  at.  The paragraph  above

   18  it begins --

   19            THE COURT:  Oh, yes.

   20            MR. SAXBERG:  -- with "Both of these parties ..."

   21            THE   COURT:    And your  response  was   that  you

   22  disagreed  with the  view that  equivalence of  benefits  had

   23  been achieved.

   24            THE WITNESS:  That's correct. [V8 Sept. 11 pp. 63-64]

   29       Q      All  right.    And  then   the  next  paragraph   it  says:

   30  Both   of  these   parties   felt  that   through   the   negotiations

   31  they  have   achieved   equivalence.     Just  stopping    there,  sir.

   32  It's  not  just  you  now,   or  not  just  Ms.  Hadfield,   but  both,

   33  you think they just got it dead wrong?

   34       A      I  think   they,  they   have  achieved    equivalence    of
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    1  benefit provisions.

    2       Q      I see.

    3       A      Bec ause  it goes   on to  say  they  are  happy  with  the

    4  terms of the    -- as they relate to benefit provisions.

    5       Q      And  so  as  it  relates   to  benefit   provisions   would

    6  that be correct then both of these parties felt that through

    7  negotiations    they   had  achieved   equivalence    of  the   benefit

    8  provisions?

    9       A      I think that's correct, yes.

   31              THE  COURT:     The  question   --  sorry,   the  question

   32  specifically was ...

   33  

   34  
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    1  BY  MR. SAXBERG:

    2       Q      At  this  time  did  you  have  a view   as to  whether   or

    3  not surplus and control over surplus was a benefit?

    4       A      Yes.

    5       Q      At that time?

    6       A      At that time it was a benefit. [V9 Sept. 12 pp. 29-30]

103. Clearly, Corp was making a distinction between “benefit provisions” and “surplus provisions” in the plan text.  Corp was using “benefit provisions” to mean the formula benefits in the plan text as opposed to the separate provisions relating to surplus and control thereof.  Regarding these “surplus provisions”, Corp wanted changes to the plan text.  He said the benefits were not equivalent without the surplus provisions being amended.    

         Q   At  the time, did you have a view as to whether or

   28  not  this change was necessary  in order for the benefits to

   29  be equivalent in value to the old plan?

   30        A   This,  this was  the protection  of the  employees'

   31  share  of the  surplus.   It was  trying to  ensure that  MTS

   32  didn't  use the employees' share  of the surplus to fund  the

   33  plan.  Sorry, to reduce their contributions.

   34        Q   At  the time, did you have a view as to whether or
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    1  not  that was a necessary change to allow for benefits to be

    2  equivalent in value to the old plan?

    3        A   Exactly, yes. [V8 Sept. 11 pp. 49-50]
104. It is obvious that Corp believed that surplus and control over it was essential to equivalency.  He drafted specific surplus sharing language to be included in the New Plan to replace sec. 16.1 [AD 413]. 

   30        Q   Okay.   Then let me refer you to a document.  It's

   31  agreed document 413.

   32        A   Okay.

   33        Q   Does  this help you?  Is this the wording that  you

   34  prepared?
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    1        A   Yes, I think that's the wording I prepared.

    2        Q   How,  if at all, does it change the meaning of  the

    3  Section 16.1 that was in the plan text you were reviewing?

    4        A   Well,  it identifies or  attempts to identify part

    5  of the surplus as being attributable to the employees.

    6        Q   How   did  it  identify  the  portion  that's   the

    7  employees'?

    8        A   Because  it splits the, the  surplus based -- in a

    9  ratio  of  the  employee  contributions to  the  sum  of  the

   10  employee  and the  employer contributions.   So  that if  the

   11  employee  and the  employer contributions  plus interest  had

   12  been  the  same,  then  that  would have  been  --  meant 50

   13  percent  would, would be attributable to the employees.   But

   14  if  the employees had contributed more, shall we say, then  a

   15  larger  share of  the surplus  would be  attributable to  the

   16  employees, and vice versa.

   17        Q   Would  it  be  fair to  characterize  that  as  pro

   18  rata?  As pro rata?

   19        A   Yes, that's a good description. [V8 Sept. 11 pp. 53-54]

   17        Q   I  hate to go backwards,  but just if you can take

   18  a  -- go  to the page two  pages back,  to that wording that

   19  you indicated that you drafted with respect to 16.11.

   20        A   16.1, I think.

   21        Q   Sorry,  16.1.  Apologize.   And I just want to  ask

   22  you  if, at the time,  did you have a  view as to whether or

   23  not  this change was  necessary in order  for benefits to be

   24  equivalent in value to the old plan?

   25        A   Yes,  to preserve the concept of an employee share

   26  of the surplus.

   27        Q   Without  the change, would  the benefits have been

   28  equivalent in value?

   29        A   I don't believe so. [V8 Sept. 11 p. 62]

MTS Paras. 228-232 - Governance

105. MTS is suggesting that the Plaintiffs have no entitlement to governance; only a hope and expectation.  Equivalence in its broadest sense meant that the plans were to be duplicated.  Not only was that evidence clear and unequivocal from the Minister in charge of negotiating the MOA (Praznik), but there was a representation by the government that governance of the plan would flow through the Pension Committee (AD 434) (Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 176 & 206).
106. It is worth repeating the presentation by the government as set out in the November 6, 1996, memo (AD 434),
MTS is proposing that the composition of the governing body emulate the composition of the present Civil Service Superannuation Board.  That is, the governing body will be composed of a designated number of employees / pensioner representatives and an equal number of employer representatives.  In addition, the Chairman of the governing body will be appointed by management.  [Emphasis added]
107. There is no question that governance was to be replicated.  (Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 4, 50-51 & 853-854).
108. MTS’ position on governance is pure rhetoric.  The entitlement under The Re-Organization Act is to a measure of governance equivalent to that which had been enjoyed.  The entitlement was not merely to a process, but to a consensus requirement before any use could be made of surplus.  That entitlement is lacking.  Even if it was just a matter of process, the process involved in the New Plan is woefully inadequate.  (Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 450-475 & 837-854)
MTS Para. 233(d) & 241 - Joint Trusteeship

109. MTS is using the “boogieman” of joint trusteeship as some indication that there was no governance.  Joint trusteeship is a degree of governance sharing.  Erb, in his testimony, explained:
    5       Q      And, and why was it being raised with the Minister

    6  as a, as a,   topic  to  get his input in.

    7       A      Well,  we,  we  have  been  frustrated,    I guess   -- had

    8  been   frustrated    through   negotiations     and   try  --   we,   we

    9  negotiate, you know, we negotiate improvements, and it takes

   10  two,  three   years  to  implement    them,  and   what  we  wanted   to

   11  do,  what  we  wanted  to  do  is, you  know,  take,  take  it  a step

   12  further.    We, you know, we, we have      --  we can, we can    -- our

   13  involvement    to the  plan  --  in  the  plan  in terms   of managing

   14  the  plan,  being   on  the  board,  making   decision  s on,  on  plan

   15  improvements, going thro     ugh all that work and then having to

   16  wait  for,   for  a year,   or  two,  or  three  in  some   cases,  for

   17  the  Government   to  implement   it  was,  was  frustrating,    so we,

   18  we wanted to bring it closer to a modern, you know, a modern

   19  --  the  modern  running   of  a pension   plan  where,  where   you  --

   20  where the   -- those authorities are with a board and, and not

   21  in the Legislature, so we, we were        -- and, and the other was

   22  --  the  other   frustration   was   --  that  goes  along   with  that

   23  was  having  them   set aside   some  money,  or  put  money  into  the

   24  funds   so  that  they   didn't  come   to  the  table   all  the  time

   25  saying   they  were   broke,  you   know,  we  have   surplus,   that's

   26  fine,   but  we,  we  have   no  money,   so  we  wanted   them  to   --

   27  along  with,   you  know,  a  properly   managed   plan  to,  to  --  or

   28  modernly   managed   plan  have,   have  us  move  towards   a  jointly

   29  trustee  model which, you know, I mean, we, to a large degree

   30  are there, we're just saying, take us all the way there, you

   31  know, take us, take us out of Legislation, you know, retain,

   32  retain those powers in terms of, of        the purse strings in, in

   33  terms  of  the  Government's    costs,   but  let  us,  let  us  manage

   34  the plan.  [Emphasis added]  [V2, Sep. 3/08, p. 75, l. 5-34]  (See also paras. 25 & 40(d) above.)
110. MTS can rail all it wants about consultation and legislative requirements and years of delay, but the mere fact of the matter is MTS is usurping a position in terms of governance that the employer never had under the Old Plan (that is unilateral use of employee surplus to MTS’ benefit).  Consensus over use of surplus was an entitlement that the plan members had; that The Re-Organization Act contemplated be kept in place; and, that the Court must declare if equivalency is to be achieved.
MTS Paras. 244-247 - Pension Committee can Make Recommendations
111. MTS asserts that the Pension Committee’s right to make benefit improvement recommendations is equivalent to the role played by the Liaison Committee in the Old Plan.  In practice MTS views the surplus in the New Plan as its property because of its deficit responsibility.  In the Old Plan the exact opposite was true; it was recognized by the government and MTS that the surplus belonged to the employees because all of the money in the CSSF was employee money.  The issue is not the “right to make recommendations” (which does exist in both plans); the issue is ownership of surplus.  The joint recommendations of the Liaison and Advisory committees are treated differently in the Old Plan (i.e. rubber stamped – not a single one was reversed by the government) versus the recommendations (not that there have been any) made by the Pension Committee in the New Plan.  The reason relates to the parties’ understanding of who owns the surplus.  In the Old Plan, the understanding was that it was the employees’ money and thus their recommendations were sacrosanct.  In the New Plan MTS does not treat the Pension Committee seriously because MTS believes that it owns the entire surplus, even the part generated by employee assets. 

112. Surplus in the CSSF belonged to the employees and was only used for benefit improvements that the Liaison Committee supported and endorsed.  The government’s involvement with respect to surplus was only to ensure it was used equitably and that its use would not automatically increase the government’s liability.  The government never claimed ownership of the surplus in the Old Plan as MTS has done in the New Plan.
MTS Para. 248-250 - Wind-Up Protection
113. MTS is suggesting that somehow there are greater protections under the plan under sec. 18.1, because the New Plan shall not adversely affect any right with respect to benefits which have accrued under the New Plan immediately prior to the time such action is taken.  MTS is simply incorrect when it says the government could take action which was adverse to the CSSA.  The PBA provides the same protection as the New Plan text.  It is a legislative requirement under the PBSA and it was a legislative requirement under the PBA.

Bill 22

114. As far as The Civil Service Special Supplementary Severance Benefit Act and Bill 22 are concerned, see paragraphs 42ff above.
MTS Para. 251 - Amending Formula - 2/3 Vote

115. MTS says that there is no amending formula for 2/3 majority required under the CSSA.  Equivalency under the CSSA required a mechanism by which consensus would be achieved.  Fox in his deliberations came to the conclusion that consensus could not be protected and the New Plan could not be effective without such a provision.  (See Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, para. 397)

116. Fox, who was fixed with the responsibility of determining the issue of equivalence, had the following to say in AD 806:

Based on the concerns of interested parties, it would certainly be appropriate to suggest that an amendment to the provisions respecting governance be added that does not permit the Company to unilaterally amend the MTS Plan in areas of surplus utilization and funding of benefits . . . The suggestion that approval by 2/3 of the Pension Committee would be required to amend these sections seems reasonable.  Further discussions with the concerned parties should be undertaking to obtain a satisfactory consensus on the Plan governance.  Without agreement on the governance of the Plan to the satisfaction of the Union and retiree groups, it will be difficult for this Plan to satisfactorily operate.  [Emphasis added]
117. The above statement was an unabridged and uncontaminated opinion held by Fox, who to this day remains of the view that governance under the New Plan is not equivalent.
MTS Para. 252-256 - Governance in Governance Document
118. MTS is suggesting that governance implies more than the issue of pension benefit improvements, as evidenced by the governance document.  MTS further asserts that under the Old Plan the employees did not have any ability to make recommendations for the use of surplus for funding purposes.

119. MTS is plainly incorrect in its assertion.  Firstly, the Plaintiffs did not agree to the governance document.  Consequently, whatever is cited in that document is not something upon which there was agreement.  Secondly, the governance document was subordinate to the plan text which gave the administrator the unilateral and unqualified ability to make whatever changes it wanted or desired under the plan text, subject to the restrictions of the PBSA concerning benefits already accrued.  Thirdly, the employees did have a role in funding.  In 1961, the employees agreed to a different method of funding in return for benefit improvements.  That funding mechanism has stayed in place and will only be changed by consensus.  Furthermore, it is a distinction without a difference to say that recommendations could only be made for the use of surplus for benefit improvements; not for funding.  It is a distinction without a difference, because the use of surplus is a funding issue as it involves a determination of who pays for the improvements and at what cost.
MTS Para. 257-261 - ERPC Agreement to Governance

120. MTS is suggesting, because the Plaintiffs knew what was stated in the governance document, that they agreed to that position.  The Plaintiffs would ask the court to hearken back to the evidence particularly as contained in AD 481, AD 485, AD 486, AD 490, AD 540, AD 559, AD 564, AD 637 and AD 645 demonstrating that the Plaintiffs consistently were of the view that governance, especially in the use of surplus, is not appropriate.  Apparently Fox thought the same too.

MTS Para. 258 - Restall Understanding

121. MTS’ assertion that Restall meant that the Liaison Committee was getting the same information as the Pension Committee is mischievous.  He was talking about administrative information, not governance.

MTS Para. 259
122. MTS is using an examination for discovery question which is not what Restall indicated in his testimony.


Funding

123. MTS is suggesting that there is no funding equivalency because there was no funding under the CSSF.  MTS is misconstruing the issue of funding.  The issue of funding is merely a question of the extent to which equivalent amounts of assets were transferred over to the New Plan.  (See paras. 26-28 above.)
124. This principle is unassailable.  It is worth repeating the statement of Scott, C.J. in TEAM [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 2] at para. 95:

Given that pension were to be fully protected and equivalency was a legislative imperative, a strong argument could be made that the deemed consent in sec. 15(10) only relates to the assignment and transfer of equivalent assets; if the assets are not in fact equivalent, then the deemed consent should not apply.

125. In this case, equivalent assets were not transferred.  MTS was $49 M short in respect of its share of the liabilities ($43.4 M short of what the Plaintiffs put into the New Plan) (see as well Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 778-793).
MTS Paras. 268-269 - Concern re Government Funding

126. The fact that there were concerns over funding under the Old Plan had nothing to do with the ability of the government to fulfill its obligations.  It was an accounting issue from the Provincial Auditor’s perspective and a matter of choice of the government as to how it was going to fund its obligations.  In that regard, see Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 68-70).

MTS Paras. 269 & 276 - Walter Worosz’ (“Worosz”) Letter to Fraser (AD 291)
127. MTS misconstrues Restall’s testimony on examination for discovery.  He testified that he had no knowledge of the letter of Worosz dated July 24, 1996.  Consequently, he was only expressing his lack of knowledge with respect to the questions posed.  In any event, Worosz’ letter is not admissible for the truth of its contents; merely for the fact that it existed.  It should be disregarded in substance, because Worosz was not called to testify and should have been called by MTS if it wanted to in support of the opinion expressed in that letter.
MTS Para. 271 - Unfunded Liability in CSSF
128. MTS is suggesting that the unfunded liability in the CSSF was a major problem.  First of all, there was no unfunded liability in the CSSF.  The CSSF was fully funded insofar as it was required to in terms of the employees’ obligations.  The funding requirements for the 50/50 share by the government was clearly the government’s obligation which it chose to satisfy in a particular manner.
MTS Para. 272
129. MTS suggests that should the government default under the CSSF, there would only be employee contributions to back up the pension promises.  It is wild speculation and certainly not the legislation.  The Plaintiffs would remind the Court of sec. 22 of the CSSA which requires the government to back up its obligations.  In any event, as the government has an obligation, only if the government went out of business, would there be an issue.
MTS Para. 273 - Security
130. The Plaintiffs merely repeat their argument found at paras. 855-860 of the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs.  Furthermore, any reference to Exhibit 10 and Exhibit 53 are again irrelevant as not relating to the circumstances in Manitoba and certainly not relating to circumstances that are relevant beyond January 1, 1997.

MTS Para. 274 - Pension Reserve Fund / Security
131. MTS holds up the “straw man” that the pension reserve fund somehow now reposed being in trust is more protection to the employees than previously existed.  The Plaintiffs say that the Old Plan was never at risk.  In any event, for MTS now to suggest that the pension reserve fund, not being in trust, was a risk is purely hypothetical for the following reasons:

(a)
MTS keeps asserting that, by the government not pre-funding, the plan members were in a precarious position.  Yet, MTS was almost fully funded with respect to its pension.  Curiously, then how could the employees still be in a precarious position?  The argument is circular.

(b)
There is no evidence that at any time the pension reserve fund was at risk of being used for other purposes.
(c)
MTS was prudent from a business perspective and an accounting perspective when it organized its financial affairs in that manner and there was no expression from any source, including the regulators, to suggest that funding its pension obligations was not the appropriate thing to do.

(d)
When MTS was spewing its propaganda in mid-1996, not once did it advise that the pension reserve fund had been at risk; whereas, it is not anymore.  As a matter of fact, when Williams was presenting his information “dog and pony show” on October 2 and 3, 1996, he admitted that he never once indicated that the government plan was not secure; or that the employees’ benefits could be reduced under the government plan; or that the government could increase the contribution rates without their consent.  Nor did he indicate in terms of security that the government could increase contributions to pension plans if it saw fit or that private plans could wind up.  Nor did he indicate that the pension reserve fund was at risk of being used for other purposes.  [V37, Oct. 28/08, p. 51-52, l. 4-15]

MTS Paras. 286-335 - Contribution Holidays

132. In support of MTS’ position that it was entitled to take contribution holidays under the New Plan, MTS has cited a series of cases (at MTS Book of Authorities Tabs 8-13) which outline the principles involved  in considering whether an employer has the right to take contribution holidays under a defined benefit pension plan.  Rather than clarify the real issues that this Court must consider in the present case, the inclusion of these authorities actually obfuscates them.  All of the cases MTS cites involve the determination of rights under true defined benefit plans.

133. In contrast, as stated previously, the Old Plan was not a true defined benefit plan.  It was a unique Plan, the essentials of which were to be duplicated as close as possible, pursuant to the provisions of The Re-Organization Act.  Accordingly, none of the cases cited by MTS are apt.  They do not deal with the unique position before the Court, where special legislation was passed to deal with the issues facing the Court.  Nonetheless, the Plaintiffs will deal with these cases to articulate the principles and to point out their irrelevancy, where appropriate.
134. The Plaintiffs agree that Schmidt v. Air Products Canada Ltd. (“Schmidt”) [MTS Tab 8] is the leading case on contribution holidays under true defined benefit plans, and do not take issue with the summary of general considerations from Schmidt as outlined in the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal decision in Smith v. Michelin North America (Canada) Inc. [MTS Book of Authorities, Tab 11].  However, Schmidt warned that:

(a)
An employer’s right to take a contribution holiday must also be determined on a case-by-case basis.

(b)
When a plan is silent on the issue, the right to take a contribution holiday is not objectionable so long as actuaries continue to accept the application of existing surplus to service costs as standard practice.

(c)
These general considerations are, of course, subject to applicable legislation.  [Emphasis added] @ para. 950
135. Here, the applicable legislation is The Re-Organization Act, and the proper question is whether MTS was entitled to take a contribution holiday under the New Plan.  The Plaintiffs say MTS was not so entitled to the extent that the contribution holiday taken was calculated by reference to the surplus generated by the Plaintiffs.  None of the plans in the cases cited by MTS in support of the right to take contribution holidays were subject to legislation that was in any way analogous to The Re-Organization Act.

MTS Para. 297

136. MTS submits that contribution holidays are a way to reduce the amount of surplus in a pension plan to avoid violating Income Tax Act rules.  However, as Kaplan notes, the “excess surplus” rule under the Income Tax Act
does not require the employer to only take a contribution holiday in order to reduce the surplus.  The margin of excess surplus can also be reduced, for example, by enhancing pension benefits . . .  [Emphasis added]

Ari N. Kaplan, Pension Law (Irwin Law:  Toronto, 2006) at 406 (“Kaplan”) [Plaintiffs’ Reply Authorities, Tab 1]
Aegon Canada Inc. v. ING Canada Inc. (2003), 34 C.C.P.B. 1, at para. 43 (ONSCJ), aff’d (2003), 38 C.C.P.B. 1 (ONCA) [Plaintiffs’ Reply Authorities, Tab 2]
137. The current running through all of the cases cited by MTS, is the requirement for a close examination and analysis of the plan text (as the governing pension legislation is largely irrelevant), which is in accordance with Schmidt.  Obviously, in this case, the point is how the text for the New Plan was created and how it compares to the CSSF and the provisions of The Re-Organization Act.

MTS Para. 317 - Maurer
138. Maurer v. McMaster University [MTS Book of Authorities, Tab 9] is clearly distinguishable.  The employer’s right to take a contribution holiday turned on the sole issue of the interpretation of a one sentence clause, which read:

The university shall pay into the fund each year the amount required to fund fully the current service cost of the Plan, as determined by the actuary, after allowing for the Members’ required contributions.

139. The court held @ para. 3 that the plain meaning, which allowed for a contribution holiday, could be easily determined.

MTS Para. 332 - Nolan
140. It should also be noted that the Supreme Court of Canada has granted leave to appeal in Nolan (sub nom Kerry (Canada) Inc.) v. Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services) [MTS Tab 13].
MTS Para. 296-298 - Contributions

141. MTS is using the standard treatment of contribution holidays to justify its actions.  No one argues that under normal circumstances that contribution holidays are appropriate.  What is inappropriate, is the commitment made by MTS not to use initial surplus to reduce its share of costs and obligations.

142. In normal circumstances private plan contribution holidays are contemplated in circumstances where there is a surplus.  However, as a precursor and pre-condition to the use of surplus, The Re-Organization Act independently; or pursuant to the MOA; and/or, the representation made by the government was that $49 M would not be used by MTS to further its purposes.  Unfortunately, MTS has breached the Act, the MOA and its representations by allowing the $49 M to be incorporated into the calculation of surplus and the extent to which contribution holidays could be taken.

143. As admitted by Williams, had MTS not taken contribution holidays in 1998 or 1999, there would have been close to $83 M in surplus which could have been used for contribution holidays.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 48, l. 2-32]
144. As Levy has testified, no benefits were purchased for the $49 M, nor were COLA increases above 2/3 of CPI granted.  Therefore, the $49 M was used by MTS to defray its costs while at the same time taking contribution holidays.  (Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 789-793)
MTS Para. 297 - Income Tax Act

145. While the Income Tax Act has a threshold beyond which surplus cannot be accumulated (in this case over the years the threshold was between $83 M and approximately $120 M).  Those levels were never achieved because contribution holidays were always taken.  Furthermore, the Income Tax Act does not prevent surplus in a greater amount being accumulated.  When that threshold is achieved or exceeded, then contribution holidays are either taken or benefits are granted to reduce the surplus.  It was always obvious that MTS never intended to improve benefits, but only to keep the plan from being more than fully funded.  (AD 1196) (18437) (See para. 136 above.)
MTS Para. 299-300 - MTS Contributions Versus Employee Contributions

146. MTS’ assertion that there has been equivalency in funding by virtue of Exhibits 51 and 52 is a misnomer.  The funding that Fox, Levy and the Plaintiffs have been talking about are the funding requirements on January 1, 1997; not some post facto accumulation of relative contributions over time beyond that date.  Firstly, the Act was never intended to track contributions beyond January 1, 1997.  Secondly, what MTS suggests is that the relative contributions as of today’s date are the appropriate contribution rates.  If one were to carry the argument to its absurd conclusion, perhaps the case should be delayed another 10 years and then an analysis of the relative contributions.
147. In any event, the Plaintiffs repeat their arguments concerning relative contribution.  Exhibit 34 shows that without solvency testing, because solvency testing was not a factor under the Old Plan in order to compare “apples to apples”.  It shows the employees putting in $118.6 M more than the Company ($35.5 M v. ($83.2) = $118.6 M).  [V13, Sep. 19/08, p. 78, l. 26-34; p. 79-82, l. 1-7]


Exhibits 51 and 52
148. MTS’ analysis with respect to Exhibit 51 and 52 are erroneous and ought to be disregarded because:

(a)
MTS has taken into account going concern versus solvency requirements;
(b)
It has disregarded the income tax deductions of $383 M;

(c)
It has not considered the issue of timing of payments;

(d)
It is ignoring the fact that contributions in terms of liability are not the issue.  It is the benefits to which the employees are entitled which is at issue.

MTS Para. 301 - MTS Obligation to Fund
149. MTS asserts that the Plaintiffs are taking the position that there was an obligation on the part of MTS to match or pre-fund the new Plan on a 50/50 basis.  That is not what the Plaintiffs are saying.  The Plaintiffs are saying that if there was no equal funding as at January 1, 1997, then there was not equivalency.  Accordingly, an employee surplus amount existed, which could only be used for employee benefits and not for MTS’ purposes.
MTS Paras. 303-309 - Status of the SAA and the $145 M Surplus Transfer
150. MTS is postulating a position that is speculative; for which there is no evidence; and, which ought to be disregarded out of hand by the Court.  (See paragraph 32 above.)

MTS Para. 312 - Declaration Sought by Plaintiffs re Surplus
151. The Plaintiffs are not seeking a declaration that MTS is not permitted to use surplus for contribution holidays.  The Plaintiffs are seeking a declaration that, to the extent that surplus is created through contribution of employees, MTS is not entitled to use that surplus without the Plaintiffs’ consent.  There is no law that forbids such a declaration from being granted.  The only law that applies to this case is The Re-Organization Act.
MTS Para. 327 - Burke
152. When MTS relies on the Burke case in terms of what the Court of Appeal stated, all the Court of Appeal was noting was that, absent legislation governing entitlement to surplus, entitlement is to be decided by a careful analysis of the pension plan documentation.  In this case, there is superceding legislation.  That legislation is The Re-Organization Act which pre-empts any other legal authorities.  Consequently, to the extent the plan text is in contradiction to The Re-Organization Act, it does not apply and is not a pertinent document upon which to rely.

MTS Paras. 336-381 - Surplus

MTS Para. 339 - Surplus

153. MTS asserts that actuarial surplus is not an actual or real surplus, which only exists if the New Plan is wound up and the surplus thus fixed and known.

154. In Metropolitan Toronto Pension Plan (Trustees of) v. Toronto (City) [2003] O.J. No. (Ont.CA) @ para. 24 [Plaintiffs’ Reply Authorities, Tab 3], the Ontario Court of Appeal noted that there is no qualitative difference between actuarial and actual surplus; both belong to the total assets of the fund:

Accordingly, the actuarial surplus in this case constitutes part of the trust fund held for the employees.  The fact that the employees’ entitlement to those funds may not crystallize until the Plan is terminated, at which point an actuarial surplus (if there is one) becomes an actual surplus, does not change the fact that the actuarial surplus is part of the trust fund and that as such it may only be dealt with during the life of the trust in a manner that is consistent with the principles of trust law or relevant statutory provisions.

155. MTS relies on Schmidt, supra, and Buschau v. Rogers Communications Inc. (“Buschau”) [MTS Tab 17] to argue that the Plaintiffs cannot claim an entitlement to surplus while the plan is ongoing because it is not definite, and that the right to any surplus is crystallized only when the surplus becomes ascertainable upon termination of the plan (@ para. 87).  In Buschau (@ para. 90), the court concluded that “absolute entitlement” to the surplus by members of a plan would only occur once the plan and trust had been terminated.

156. However, the Plaintiffs are not claiming an “absolute entitlement” to surplus.  They are claiming ownership, with restrictions, of their share of the surplus in the ongoing plan.

157. Furthermore, in practice, while actuarial surplus is an estimate, employers can and routinely do put a real financial value on ongoing surplus through:

(a)
Solvency and going-concern valuations

(b)
Taking contribution holidays

(c)
Withdrawing surplus

158. See Monsanto v. Ontario [2004], 3 S.C.R. 152 [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 16 @ para. 44].

159. Under the Old Plan, ongoing surplus was used for benefit improvements.

160. MTS asserts that Plaintiffs have failed to establish that use of ongoing surplus is a “pension benefit” versus simply being an aspect of a “pension plan”, and relies on Lennon v. Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services) [MTS Book of Authorities, Tab 14] for this proposition.  However, as Kaplan notes, a contribution holiday is clearly an employer benefit, and most companies identify any surplus in a pension plan as an asset.  [MTS Written Submissions @ para. 344] [Kaplan @ 410 and Footnote 128]

161. To the extent that any of the cases cited by MTS are the issue, they are irrelevant to The Re-Organization Act.  In the alternative, the Plaintiffs rely on the Ontario Superior Court of Justice decision of Burke v. Governor and Co. Of Adventurers of England Trading into Hudson’s Bay [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 30], in which Campbell J. held that employees who were being transferred pursuant to a sale agreement had a right to their pro rata share of surplus in the vendor’s pension plan at the time of transfer based on their “reasonable expectation”.

162. The Plaintiffs submit that, based on the history of the CSSF Plan, they had a “reasonable expectation” that the surplus accumulated under the Plan and attributable solely to the employees’ contributions would be safeguarded.  [Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 819-821]

163. In contrast, MTS urges that this Court should accept that the findings of the Ontario Court of Appeal [MTS Tab 12], which overturned the trial judge’s decision, are applicable to this case.  [MTS Written Submissions, paras. 323-330]

164. The Plaintiffs submit that the Ontario Court of Appeal decision [MTS Book of Authorities, Tab 12] is based at least in part on a misunderstanding of the trial judge’s reasoning.  At para. 56, the court held that “... the trial judge did not consider the terms of the Plan documentation” when determining whether the transferred employees had a right to surplus.  In fact, the reasons of the trial judge make it clear that he had contemplated the Plan documents when he stated, at para. 173:

In the absence of specific contract entitlement, where a plan is not terminated or wound-up or in the absence of legislative directives, it is reasonable to look at the history of conduct of the parties to determine what their expectation in respect of surplus was at any point in time.  [Emphasis added]
165. Furthermore, there were a number of factors in Burke that may have led the Court of Appeal to conclude that the employees in that case did not have a right to surplus:

(a)
In Burke, only some employees believed that surplus would be used “at least in part” to improve pensions;
(b)
The Company owned any surplus on discontinuance or termination;

(c)
The Company retained the right to amend the Plan “in any way, at any time”;

(d)
The Company in fact had made amendments to the Plan that allowed it to make contributions based on actuarial advice and permitted all Plan expenses to be paid from the Fund.

166. Based on these factors, the evidence on the record indicates that the Plaintiffs would have a far stronger claim to the “reasonable expectation” that their share of surplus would be used to improve pension benefits than the Plaintiffs in Burke.

167. Also, as stated in the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, para. 820, an application for leave to appeal has been filed with the Supreme Court of Canada.

MTS Para. 339 - Use of Surplus

168. MTS postulates that the only real surplus is wind-up surplus and that has been dealt with sec. 18 of the plan text.  The assertion is faulty.  Ongoing surplus has and continues to be used for benefit improvements.  (Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 104-111 and paras. 814-836.)
MTS Paras. 340-342 - Deficit v. Surplus

169. Again MTS is connecting the responsibility for deficits with the entitlement to surplus.  Of course the plan members owned the surplus.  The evidence is overwhelming in that regard.  Ownership connotes entitlement.  It is a bizarre proposition to suggest that one can own something and not be entitled to it.  Ownership in this case came with certain restrictions; namely, the plan members could dictate the use of the surplus, provided the government was not exposed to enhanced liability without its consent.  It is a far cry from the suggestion that there was only a “hope and expectation”.

170. In any event, although liabilities were of concern to MTS, that concern is irrelevant to the proposition that the employees are allowed to use their own surplus to their own benefit.

MTS Para. 342 - Control Over Employee Generated Surplus
171. MTS suggests that there is no basis in law for the Plaintiffs to claim employee generated surplus without assuming a corresponding risk.  Au contraire.  There is no law that prohibits such a proposition.  There is no law that says employee generated surplus can only be used if there is a concomitant exposure on the part of the plan members to share in the liabilities.  The PBSA does not say that; nor does any other statute so espouse.  The law that governs is The Re-Organization Act and control over employee generated surplus means consensus and to the extent that there are deficits, MTS still has control over whether the surplus gets used for improvements or stays in a separate account.  That was the rationale that the government contemplated when it passed the amendment.
MTS Paras. 351 & 495 - Attack on Levy’s Report re CSSA
172. MTS’ attack on Levy is punctilious in the extreme.  There was nothing in the CSSA to assist anyone in terms of the determination of equivalency in value, but for the determination of the monthly pension benefits entitlement.  It was of no consequence as no one has disputed the equivalency in value of the monthly pension benefits.  Not reading the CSSA is a red herring.
173. Levy went behind the CSSA, as he ought to have, to ascertain how the plans really operated and what the facts of the case are.  On the other hand, FitzGerald did nothing but read the CSSA.  He was acting as a lawyer, whereas Levy was not.  Levy was performing the function of an actuarial expert.  FitzGerald was not.

174. When MTS talks about Levy elevating expectations to entitlements, it is being semantical.  The Plaintiffs had an expectation that they would receive their entitlement under the Act.  It is a question the Court has to answer based on the facts, not someone’s linguistic expression of the facts.

Use of Surplus - Decision Making of the Liaison Committee
175. MTS makes the absurd suggestion that the Liaison Committee and Advisory Committee could not make recommendations for funding purposes as there was no employer funding.  As the Plaintiffs have reiterated on several occasions (and the evidence is replete in support), the only thing that the plan members were not entitled to do was bind the government to extra liability.  The issue was always the matching of improvements; that was what created the “Gordian Knot”.  The Plaintiffs were making the assertion that, whatever the Plaintiffs did with that surplus, there was a corresponding obligation on the part of the government to match.  The government resisted that proposition stating there was no legal obligation to do so.  However, had the plan members so chosen, they could have utilized the surplus at any point in time as long as they funded that component which the government would not fund.

MTS Paras. 353-356 - Restall Evidence
176. MTS persists in twisting the evidence in terms of the issue of entitlement to the use of surplus.  There is no question that there were negotiations back and forth as there are in all settlements.  In the end result, the government, in the 1990s, did not match employee costs for benefit improvements, did not have anything to do with the ability of the employees otherwise to use their surplus.

MTS Para. 358 - Erb Evidence

177. MTS misconstrues the evidence of Erb.  Erb did not say that the plan members were not entitled to the use of surplus.  What he conceded was that there was no legal obligation on the part of the government to add improvements without their consent.
MTS Paras. 359-362 - Expectation or Hope Versus Entitlement
178. The fallacious argument of MTS can simply be put to rest by the re-reading of the exchange between Praznik and the leader of the opposition at the time in 1990 in Hansard (AD 137), which is recited in paragraph 104 of the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs.
MTS Paras. 364-369 - Public Sector Pension Investment Board Act

179. MTS cites the Public Sector Pension Investment Board Act and the subsequent legal challenge by The Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada v. Canada (Attorney General) for the proposition that the plan members did not have an interest in the surplus and that the government is entitled to absolute use of that surplus.

180. The case is distinguishable for several reasons:

(a)
It was a completely different plan than the plan under the CSSF in that the federal government created a true defined benefit plan where there was matching of contributions between the government and the plan members.  The CSSP is not a true defined benefit plan.  The only contributions to the plan were that of the employees.  A trust is established.  The government cannot unilaterally remove the employee funds.
(b)
The federal government passed clear legislation allowing specifically for surplus to be removed from the COLA Account.  There is no such provision in the CSSA or The Re-Organization Act.

(c)
Consequently, the treatment in Manitoba as it related to plan members’ surplus was entirely different than that which was experienced in The Public Sector Pension Investments Board Act.

(d)
In any event, this case is the subject of an appeal presently before the Ontario Court of Appeal and is not the final word on the entitlement of plan members to their share of surplus in the federal civil service.
(e)
As a matter of fact, by analogy just the opposite occurred in Manitoba at or about the time of privatization.  At the same time the CSSA was being amended, so was The Public Servants Insurance Amendment Act; a related piece of legislation dealing with the use of insurance surplus.  Under The Public Service Insurance Amendment Act, even though the government had contributed to the insurance fund in order to create a surplus from time (most of the surplus being that of the government), there was resistance on the part of the CSSB to allow surplus to be utilized by the government even with the agreement of MGEU.  Consequently, legislation was passed, which indicated that no surplus could be used from that fund without the consent of the unions.  Furthermore, to the extent that MTS employees contributed to that insurance fund, upon privatization and pursuant to sec. 15(2)(b) of The Re-Organization Act, there was an agreement between the government and the plan members to the disposition of the insurance surplus.  (See Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 279 & 861)
MTS Para. 369 - Government Unilateral Use of Surplus

181. See paragraph 129 above.

Procedural Fairness

MTS Paras. 410-413 - Did Fox satisfy his duty of procedural fairness? 

182. Astonishingly, MTS asserts that the Plaintiffs have not met their legal burden to prove that the process followed by Fox was unfair.  This in the face of Fox’s own admission that he believed he was acting like an arbitrator and that it would be unfair to favour one party over the other.  Fox testified:

         Q      And  in  terms  of  your  assignment,   did  you  see  your

   29  role   as   being,   to  some   extent,    similar    to  that   of   an

   30  arbitrator?

   31       A      Yes. [V18 Sept. 29 p. 5]
        Q      So  you  would  agree  that   it would   be inappropriate

    9  in order to provide additional opportunities to one side, as

   10  opposed to the other?

   11       A      What, what is your question?  I'm -- that's not --

   12  I didn't get a question there.

   13       Q      I  believe  you  just  indicated    that  you  agreed  that

   14  it  wouldn't   be independent    to  favour  one  party  over   another

   15  -- over the other party in this determination?

   16       A      Correct.

   17       Q      And  I  then   follow   that   by  saying   therefore,    it

   18  wouldn't     be   appropriate     to    give    one    party    greater

   19  opportunities     than  the   other   party,   to  make   their   views

   20  known to you?

   21       A      We,  we  schedule    --  try  to  schedule   everybody    at

   22  the same time so I would have to agree with that. [V18 Sept. 29 p. 12]

183. The Plaintiffs submit that MTS position reveals its absolute contempt for Plan members and their right to have input into the creation of the New Plan and the determination of whether benefits were equivalent.  MTS continues to disappoint when it supports and defends a grossly unfair and biased process. 

MTS Para. 417 - Fox and Singleton Interaction
184. MTS states that it was not Fox’s view that there should be consensus between him and the PAO on the definition of equivalency.  

185. Fox’s testimony on this point was challenged with reference to his discovery testimony.  Fox changed his testimony from discovery, at trial.   

BY MR. SAXBERG   :

    7       Q      Question 1209 reads:

    8  

    9              "Q    We  have  been  over  that,   sir.   And,

   10                    you  have   agreed   with   me  that  the

   11                    definition   was  your,   that  was  part

   12                    of  your  responsibility     to develop.

   13                    And   to  come   to  a  conclusion    on,

   14                    correct?

   15               A    Well,   consensus     would   have   been

   16                    between   the  provincial    auditor  and

   17                    me."

   18  

  16       Q      So  the  answer   that  you  gave  on  your  discovery    is

   17  wrong?

   18       A      I would have to -- you know.  I'm just (inaudible)

   19  this, going back over the other questions.

   20              That's   the   answer   I  gave   at   discovery,    that's

   21  correct.

   22       Q      And  I  guess  the  simple   question   is  which  --  that

   23  answer   is  different   than  the  answer   that  you've   given  here

   24  today and I'm -- I want you to say --

   25       A      All  I'm,  all  I'm  saying  is  the  view  was  mine,  was

   26  not the provincial auditor's.

   27       Q      So  you're   saying,  as  you  sit  here   today,  that   it

   28  was  important   that  you  be  the  one  to develop   the  definition

   29  of equivalency?

   30       A      Correct.

   31       Q      And   you   didn't    need   the   provincial    auditor's

   32  concurrence?

   33       A      Whatever happened, it was my view.

   34       Q      And   their    role   in   this,    in   determining    the
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    1  definition    of  equivalency,    was  what?     Did  they   even  have

    2  one?

    3       A      Well,   they   provided    me   with   information    if   I

    4  needed it.

    5       Q      And  that  would   be  it,  that  would  be  the  limit   of

    6  their   involvement     in  the   determination     of   the,   of  the

    7  definition of equivalence?

    8       A      As far as I was concerned, yes.

186. The evidence of what happened next, in terms of what the PAO actually did, clearly exceeds Fox’s admission about the limited role the PAO should have played. 

MTS Para. 420 - Who Instructed Funding Paragraph?
187. Fox’s evidence on this point was unequivocal and totally contradicts MTS’ assertion.  The paragraph, which was deleted by Singleton, was Fox’s idea and he wanted it in the definition of equivalency.  

          Q     Yeah.       In    agreed    document     782   there's     a

   20  handwritten    note  on  the  bottom   of  the  document    that  says:

   21  Secondary     objective     will    be   to    ensure    whether    the

   22  contributions     to  finance    benefits    on  implementation     are

   23  shared   equally  by  the  employer   --  employees   and  employer   as

   24  intended by the CSSA; you see that?

   25        A     Yes.

   26        Q     Do   you   recall    having    a  discussion     with   Mr.

   27  Paterson   about   the  inclusion    of  that  paragraph    into  draft

   28  seven?

   29        A     I think that is the paragraph referred to.

   30              THE  COURT:    Can  you  -- you  just  have  to  hold  on  a

   31  second while I catch up.  That would be what, draft seven?

   32              THE WITNESS:  Or eight.

   33              MR.  SAXBERG:      The  agreed   document   782   would   be

   34  draft eight.
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    1              THE   COURT:      Is  that   your   handwriting     at  the

    2  bottom?

    3              THE WITNESS:  No, it isn't.

    4              THE  COURT:     But   it  is  your   suggestion    for  the

    5  change?

    6              THE WITNESS:  Yes, I believe it is.

    7              THE COURT:  Okay. [V19 pp. 36-37]

188. Fox wanted the funding paragraph in the final definition.  [V19 p. 37] 

189. Paterson testified that the funding paragraph language that was added in handwriting to AD 782 was collaboration between himself and Fox.  [V24 p. 41]  Singleton did not know who recommended that the funding paragraph be added.  [V39 p. 33]  He deleted it nonetheless, on his own initiative as a result of his discussion with Fraser. 
MTS Paras. 429-431 - The ERPC did not Withhold Information

190. MTS is trying to spin an innocuous admission by Restall into an act of villainy disentitling the Plaintiffs to procedural fairness.  MTS says that Restall chose not to disclose material facts, which he knew to be material to Fox.  MTS wrongly accuses Restall of withholding information about the use of surplus in the Old Plan.  However, the evidence is that Fox believes he was provided with the October 31 presentation made by Meronek to the legislature on behalf of the ERPC.  That presentation is at AD 409.  The presentation contains a comprehensive history of the use of surplus in the Old Plan and indicates when surplus was used to pay for more than 50% of the costs of a new benefit.  AD 408 shows that the presentation was also sent to Barker and others at MTS. Fox testified: 

   33       Q      Were  you  provided    with  the  presentation    that  the

   34  employees and retirees made to the legislature?
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    1       A      I believe I was.

    2       Q      So   you   would   have   been   aware   then   that   with

    3  respect   to   the   employees'    and  pensioners'     concerns   that

    4  basic   benefits,     the   financial    benefit,    or   the   formula

    5  benefits were not an issue at the time?

    6       A      Correct.

    7       Q      Their issues revolved around surplus ownership and

    8  use, and governance and funding; is that correct?

    9       A      Correct. [V18 sept. 29 pp. 18-19]

191. Barker testified that the Plaintiffs presentation went into far more detail on the history of the use of surplus in the Old Plan than what she would have told Fox on February 19, 1997.  

         Q   And,  and you'll  see, under the  bullet, the very

    3  first example is the 1992 example?

    4        A   Yes.

    5        Q   And under Note, it says:

    6  

    7                  "The  full   cost  of   these   two

    8                  amendments ...  were  financed  out

    9                  of the surplus of the CSSF."

   10  

   11            Do you see that?

   12        A   It says that, yes.

   13        Q   And  then it goes  on to list all  the rest of the

   14  surplus uses for a period of time --

   15        A   Okay.

   16        Q   --   and  goes   into   detail.     MTS  had  this

   17  information   from  the Plaintiffs  --  sorry,  the   pension

   18  representatives.    Did you  disclose all  of the  detail of

   19  this information to Mr. Fox at your February 19th meeting?

   20        A   It's  -- I can't recall, but I know that I  didn't,

   21  if  you know  what I  mean.  This  would have  been way more

   22  detail than I would have gone into.

   23        Q   Okay.   Thank you.   The evidence  is that Mr.  Fox

   24  received a copy of this presentation.

   25        A   Okay.

   26        Q   And  so at the February  19th meeting, did Mr. Fox

   27  advise  that he already had  the information relative to  the

   28  1992  amendments  and the  fact that  they were  100 percent

   29  paid out of the surplus in the CSSF?

   30        A   I don't recall that. [V41 Nov. 3 p. 61]
192. Restall’s evidence was that he did not provide the surplus use details at the ½ hour meeting on December 19, 1996, with Fox and Paterson.  He was not specifically asked if the Plaintiffs ever provided the information to MTS, to the legislature and or to Fox.
193. MTS’ assertion that the Plaintiffs intentionally withheld important evidence that they knew was relevant and that Fox himself considered relevant is thus completely wrong.  The Plaintiffs provided more detail on surplus use to Fox than MTS did.  The Plaintiffs also copied MTS with their submission to Fox (AD 717).  For MTS to accuse its employees of withholding information (when they did not), given MTS’ failure to disclose details of the plan text until pressed by the government, Barker destroying the Fox draft opinion, and the nondisclosure of the actuarial reports and later the operation of the COLA Account, is simply hypocritical. 

MTS Para. 433 - Did Fox use Plaintiffs’ Definition?
194. Relying only on Fox’s self-serving evidence, MTS states that Fox continued to use the same definition, both before and after his meeting with Barker; therefore, the Barker meeting did not influence Fox’s definition.  Of course, the biggest problem with this argument is that Fox himself says he changed his mind after the meeting with Barker based on new information provided by Barker.  Obviously, the meeting was important to Fox’s decision to reverse his previously held views on funding, surplus, and governance.  

195. At paragraphs 673-680 of their Written Argument, the Plaintiffs review the evidence adduced at trial that proves on a balance of probabilities that Fox changed his opinion in part because he narrowed his definition of equivalence to exclude funding, surplus and governance as a result of the events of February 19, 1997.
196. Fox denies, that after the meetings of February 19, 1997, and the telephone call with Johnson, he excluded funding, surplus, and governance from his definition of equivalency (as Johnson asserts), thereby causing him to change his opinion.  [V19 pp. 119-120]  If Fox did not narrow his definition, then Fox’s evidence is that he changed it on the basis of a series of unreasonable assumptions or expectations about funding, surplus and governance.  [V19 p 80]
197. Fox’s main assumption dealt with surplus use.  He expected that surplus would be dealt with by agreement between MTS and its employees and that MTS would not act unilaterally.  He testified as follows: 

        THE  COURT:   Mr. Fox,  the question  was given  to

   28  you  two or three times  before we broke.   I thought it  was

   29  pretty  clear.  I repeated it one last time and asked you if

   30  that  was your answer.  You indicated that it was.  Now your

   31  answer is different?

   32            THE  WITNESS:   I guess I  was in  the wrong  space

   33  here.  I don't ...

   34            THE  COURT:  I'm going to, I'm going to recite  one
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    1  more time what I wrote down in my notes --

    2            THE WITNESS:  Okay.

    3            THE  COURT:  --  as your answer.   Your answer  was

    4  that  as  of  March   '07 (sic),  the   time  that  you were

    5  rendering  your  opinion,  you  believed  that  it  would be

    6  equivalent   for  MTS  to   use  surpluses  attributable  to

    7  employee  contributions at  their --  at  its discretion  and

    8  without  the consent of  the employees.   You said yes, that

    9  was  your belief at  that time, that  it would be equivalent

   10  for  that to,  for  that to occur.    That would  be -- that

   11  would,  that would  amount to  equivalence or  that would be

   12  equivalent.

   13            THE  WITNESS:  Well,  I must have  ...  That's  ...

   14  I  don't,  I don't  think that's  --  that is  not true.    I

   15  apologize.

   16            THE  COURT:  So you don't believe -- you're  saying

   17  now  you don't  believe it  would be equivalent  for that to

   18  happen.

   19            THE WITNESS:  Yes.

BY MR. SAXBERG:

   22        Q   At  the  time, did  you have  an assumption  as to

   23  whether  or not  MTS would  seek the  agreement of  employees

   24  before unilaterally using surplus?

   25        A   The  feeling  was  that  they  would  certainly be

   26  informed,  and  I felt  that  that would  be --  through  the

   27  governance process, would happen.

   28        Q   Now,  you've answered by saying that they would be

   29  informed,  but the question that  I posed to you was  whether

   30  you  had a  belief or  assumption as  to whether  or not  MTS

   31  would  seek the  agreement of  employees before  unilaterally

   32  using surplus.

   33        A   I'm just trying to think back to 12 years ago.

   34            At  the time, my belief was that they wouldn't  act
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    1  unilaterally  and that they would have some agreement on  the

    2  surplus.

    3            THE  COURT:  By "agreement," do you mean agreement

    4  between the employees and the employer?

    5            THE WITNESS:  Correct. [V16 Sept. 24 pp. 29-31]

198. Other “expectations” included: 

(a)
He expected that the initial surplus (the MOA) would form some form of benefit for the employees.  [V18 pp. 51-52] [V19 p. 81 and 83] [V18 p. 34] 

(b)
He relied on the MTS’ undertaking that the initial surplus would not be used to reduce MTS’ cost or share of contributions.  [V18 p. 26]  (He testified that it would have been helpful if the initial surplus showed up as a liability for future cost of living increases, then MTS could not have used the initial surplus to reduce its cost or share of contributions to the plan.)  [V19 p. 81]
(c)
All of the COLA related liabilities and assets (debits and credits) would be included in the COLA Account.  [V18 pp. 40-41] 

(d)
A reasonable interest rate would be applied to the COLA Account.  [V18 p. 42]  

(e)
The amount of funding to maintain 2/3 of inflation COLA awards would be credited to the account each year to keep the account solid.  [V18 pp. 45-46]
(f)
The governance of the plan would operate on the basis of consensus between employees/retirees and MTS.  [V19 p. 80]

(g)
It would be impossible, or at least very difficult, for MTS to use surplus without consulting the employees in the New Plan.  [V16 p. 23] 

(h)
MTS would not use surplus without consulting the employees / retirees.  [V19 p. 80] 

(i)
MTS would act in good faith and be even-handed and forthright with                    employees and would not bypass the Pension Committee.  [V19 p. 81] 

(j)
He assumed the parties could go to court to resolve surplus matters;      otherwise he would have put in protection in the plan text to stop MTS from taking surplus without the agreement of employees.  [V19 pp. 80-81]  

199. Fox’s opinion is based on faulty expectations.  He either narrowed his definition based on the views and pressure from Singleton or he made unreasonable assumptions about funding, surplus, and governance in the New Plan, as a result of the pressure brought to bear by Singleton and MTS.
MTS Paras. 434-435 - Wood v. Wetaskiwin (County)
200. This case has no application to the case at bar.  On the Baker test the duty of fairness was minimal and was not breached based on the facts of that case.  The present case involves sacrosanct pension issues and a seriously biased process that prevented the Plaintiffs from responding to the case made against them.    

MTS Para. 439 - The Plaintiffs did not Raise Concern about Process
201. MTS says that if the Plaintiffs believed the process to be unfair, it was incumbent on them to raise their concerns with Fox.  The statement is absurd.  The Plaintiffs did not know about the unfair process until well into the litigation when Fox’s documents were disclosed.  

MTS Para. 443 - What was the PAO doing?

202. All of these assertions by MTS as to the function and honest intentions of the PAO, which are not cited, are contradicted by other evidence given by the same witnesses.  The documents and the totality of evidence clearly show that Singleton overstepped his function and interfered with the very independence of Fox when he biased the processes in MTS’ favour.
203. Singleton had no right or duty to challenge Fox’s draft opinion as it related to funding, surplus and governance.  Singleton did not deny Johnson’s evidence that he (Singleton) challenged the linkage between Fox’s recommendations and equivalency of benefits.  Fox testified that Singleton wanted surplus moved out of the equivalency analysis:
         Q   Mr.  Fox,  do  you  agree  that  it  was  also Mr.

   18  Singleton's  view that  surplus should  be moved  out of  the

   19  equation?

   20        A   I  can't say whether I -- we didn't really  discuss

   21  it that much, so I don't -- he may have, yes. [V20 Oct. 1 p. 7]

204. The strong irony is that Singleton was chosen by the government to select Fox in order to ensure Fox’s independence; not destroy it. 
205. MTS contradicts its own witness, Fraser, in relying on Singleton’s self-serving assertion that he (Singleton) did not form an opinion on equivalency.  Fraser testified that Singleton told him on February 20, 1997, that he (Singleton) had concluded that the benefits were equivalent.  Fraser testified: 

         Q   Turn to 816, sir.  Are these your notes?

    5        A   Yes.

    6        Q   On February 20, 1997?

    7        A   Yes.

    8        Q   Can you tell me what this is recording?

    9        A   It's the provincial auditor calling me again.

   10        Q   And  what does it indicate?  Number one, what  does

   11  that mean?

   12        A   Well,  the first two bullets are sort of me  making

   13  notes  on what he's saying to me, and so the first bullet is

   14  saying  that,   you know,   he's  concluding  that  they  are

   15  equivalent;  and his second point is, you know, that sort of

   16  the  feedback that  he's getting  from other  parties and so

   17  on,  that if you  ask ordinary members, they  feel a loss of

   18  personal ownership and control.

   19        Q   What are the balance of these notes, then?

   20        A   Well,  the  first sort  of rubric  underneath tha t

   21  says,  you know, that  isn't an equivalency  issue.  I  mean,

   22  if  they feel  a loss of  personal ownership  and control,  I

   23  mean  that's kind of a personal emotion, if you will, that's

   24  not  equivalency, and that, you know, they should not  accept

   25  the  lobbying  position  that's being  put  before  them  and

   26  that,  you  know,  I mean  he's  saying there's  a  fear  the

   27  company  will reduce its contribution in the, in the, in  the

   28  future  if there's  surplus, and  it, in  brackets, says  sup

   29  fund  has  zero contributions  from employers  and  basically

   30  takes  a  contribution  holiday  every year.    So,  I  don't

   31  understand  the point.  Who steps up to the downside risk if

   32  there's  under-performance?  MTS does.  So I mean, that's my

   33  debate,  if you will, with him.  So there's a little sort of

   34  grid  underneath that that compares it  in the sup fund and,
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    1  and  the MTS pension plan, and  the first sort of bullet  is,

    2  employer's  funding, under the sup fund, zero, under the  MTS

    3  plan,  full.   Cost  of living  is the  next bullet,  and it

    4  says,  under the sup fund three percent maybe, and under  the

    5  MTS plan, guaranteed.

    6        Q   All  right.   In  any event,  these are  notes yo u

    7  made  during the course of the conversation you had with  Mr.

    8  Singleton?

    9        A   Yes.  [V33 Oct. 22 pp. 102-103] 

206. Furthermore, Singleton testified that he determined that the object of the Act did not include a secondary consideration regarding the funding of benefits.  Clearly, Singleton had opinions, and he was not afraid to share them.  He testified that the “cache” associated with his office would have to be kept in check; otherwise people took his words further than intended.  Singleton testified: 

         Q   And  do  you agree  that  there's a  certain  cache

   28  that is attached to the title of provincial auditor?

   29        A   Yes.

   30        Q   And  that cache  caused some  people  that you  met

   31  with,  from your experience, to take your words further than

   32  you  had  intended them to  be  taken; would  you agree with

   33  that?

   34        A   Well,  it caused  me to  cautious about  how I  had
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    1  conversations  with  people, to  try to  avoid that  kind of

    2  thing happening.

    Q   Now,  when you had hired consultants, you  weren't,

   13  you  weren't afraid  to give  your consultants,  or your, as

   14  you   called  them, agents,   your  opinion of  matters   and

   15  express your opinions to them?

   16        A   Not where I had an opinion, no.

   17        Q   And  in, was  it not  your practice to,  as you,  I

   18  think  you  believe, you  indicated at  some point,  to warn

   19  your  consultants not to read too much into what you said on

   20  occasion in, in terms of your strong opinions?

   21        A   I would do that on occasion, yes.  [V40 Oct. 31 pp. 1-2]

MTS Para. 447 - Fox was Wrestling with Issues of Funding, Surplus and Governance

207. MTS says the evidence establishes that Fox was wrestling with whether the issues of funding, surplus and governance ought to be considered in equivalency from his Draft Opinions to his Final Opinion.  What is confusing about MTS’ position is that it also asserts that Fox maintained his definition from Day One to include funding, surplus and governance, despite what the PAO did; all of which begs the question: so why did he change his opinion?  Either he changed his definition to Singleton’s definition and is sheepish about admitting it for obvious reasons, or he determined that the plans were equivalent with respect to funding, surplus and governance based on his unrealistic expectations about funding, surplus and governance in the New Plan.  These expectations were unrealistic because the plan text allowed MTS to do what Fox was assuming it would not do, i.e. use surplus unilaterally.    

MTS Para. 448 - Three Pieces of New Information from Barker 

208. Fox states that Barker’s information about the actuarial report was one of the reasons he changed his opinion.  Obviously then, it was important information from Fox’s perspective.  The Plaintiffs were denied the opportunity to respond to this important information and to give their position on the significance of it in relationship to the matters that they were raising. 

209. Furthermore, it is not only the information he received which is the matter of complaint; it is also the fact that the information was woefully incomplete and thus skewed and inaccurate.  The reason it was skewed is because Barker did not mention the $63M write down in assets; or, that there was a large surplus on a solvency basis among other matters (see paragraphs 423-424 of the Plaintiffs’ Written Argument). 

MTS Paras. 449-550 - Did Fox’s Views Change After Barker Meeting?
210. MTS says that Fox’s view with respect to surplus changed.  Fox’s evidence was that the government had the ultimate power over how surplus was used.  In particular, the new information gave Fox the view that “employees view of control of surplus was higher than it was”.  They could not indiscriminately use surplus.  The government could say “no and that would be it” [Sept. 30, p. 100].  Fox testified that he was surprised to learn that surplus had been used to fund both halves, as “there was a feeling that the employees had some control over use” [Oct. 1 p.  38].

211. During cross-examination by the Plaintiffs, Fox was challenged on these assertions.  He was not aware of any instance where there was a dispute over the use of surplus in the CSSF.  Ultimately he admitted that he was only speculating that employees may have been unhappy with the agreement to use surplus in 1992. 
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    1        Q     Are  you  aware   or were   you  aware  of  some  instants

    2  where  there   was  a  dispute   in  the  old  plan  over  the   use  of

    3  surplus?

    4        A     Not at this time.

    5        Q     Not back then?

    6        A     No.

    7        Q     And, and are you aware as you sit here today as to

    8  any instance where there's every been a dispute over surplus

    9  in the old plan?

   10        A     Use of it, yes.

   11        Q     You're suggesting that there was an occasion where

   12  there was a dispute over the use of surplus?

   13        A     Well,  I  don't   know  that  --  disagreement    maybe   or

   14  --  not  total   -- I  don't   think  it  was  a  total  agreement    on

   15  the use of it.

   16        Q     And when was -- can you tell us about that?

   17        A     Well,  it  came   up later   on.   I'm  sure   we're  going

   18  to get to it.

   19        Q     Are,   are  you   talking   about   a  precedent    whereby

   20  surplus   by  agreement   went   to  pay  a  hundred  of  the   benefit

   21  improvement?

   22        A     Yes.

   23        Q     But that's not a dispute, sir.

   24        A     Well,  it  may  not  have  been  --  I don't   think  there

   25  was total agreement on that use.

   26        Q     Okay.    So you,  you  --  your  belief   is that  in  1992

   27  the  1992  use  of  the  surplus  in  the  old  plan  wasn't  with  the

   28  consent of employees, at least --

   29        A     Well,   I'm  sure  they   consented,   but   I  don't  know

   30  whether they agreed to it.  That's all I'm saying.

   31        Q     I'm   not  sure   I'm   understanding    the   distinction

   32  between --

   33        A     Well,   you   can  have,   you   can  have   an  agreement

   34  without   really  being   a hundred   percent   -- you  know,  I  don't
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    1  think everybody was in favour of that agreement.

    2        Q     And   what's   the   source   of  your   information    for

    3  that?

    4        A     What is the source of ...

    5        Q     Of  your   information    with  respect   to  there   being

    6  dissatisfaction     with   this  1992   agreement    and   the  use   of

    7  surplus?

    8        A     Well,  I'm   just  --  I don't   know  whether   everybody

    9  was a hundred percent in agreement.  That's, that's my view.

   10        Q     Are you just speculating about that?

   11        A     Yes. [V19 Sept. 30 pp. 58-59]

212. Fox testified that it would not be equivalent for MTS to use surplus unilaterally, because he understood that government did not have that right in the Old Plan. 

    3            THE  COURT:  --  as your answer.   Your answer  was

    4  that  as  of  March   '07 (sic),  the   time  that  you were

    5  rendering  your  opinion,  you  believed  that  it  would be

    6  equivalent   for  MTS  to   use  surpluses  attributable  to

    7  employee  contributions at  their --  at  its discretion  and

    8  without  the consent of  the employees.   You said yes, that

    9  was  your belief at  that time, that  it would be equivalent

   10  for  that to,  for  that to occur.    That would  be -- that

   11  would,  that would  amount to  equivalence or  that would be

   12  equivalent.

   13            THE  WITNESS:  Well,  I must have  ...  That's  ...

   14  I  don't,  I don't  think that's  --  that is  not true.    I

   15  apologize.

   16            THE  COURT:  So you don't believe -- you're  saying

   17  now  you don't  believe it  would be equivalent  for that to

   18  happen.

               19            THE WITNESS:  Yes. [V16 Sept. 24 p. 30]

MTS Paras. 451-453 - Three Pieces of Information True
213. Firstly, the evidence discloses that Fox changed his opinion either based on a narrowing of the definition (as Paterson and Johnson testified) or because of his numerous fallacious expectations about funding, surplus and governance.  

214. Second, Levy’s first report [Exhibit 40] definitively answers the question as to whether it was reasonable for Fox to change his conclusion based on the three new pieces of information.  In his report Levy states: 

9.    …In my experience, however, actuarial values are never used for other purposes, including particularly evaluating what plan assets are worth for transactions involving more than one party.  Thus, for example, in the sale of a company, the evaluation of the worth of the pension fund is always done using market value, regardless of whether or not an actuarial value has been used for funding.  In my opinion, it was improper to determine whether the New Plan was “equivalent in value” to the prior plan valuing assets at anything other than market value.  Mr. Fox’s reliance on the undertaking that there was an unfunded liability was improper because the computation did not use market value.  Therefore, his bedrock assumption that there was an unfunded liability was false, and as a consequence his conclusion based on his own definition of “equivalent in value” was incorrect.  

10.   …In this case, the $63 million difference will be reflected as a $21 million increase in the actuarial value in each of the years 1997, 1998 and 1999.  Note therefore that the $63 million difference between actuarial and market value is not made up by future employer contributions – it is made up by recognizing assets that are already in the fund.  Thus even if Mr. Fox knew that the unfunded liability was created by MTS’ actuarial consultant’s choice of asset valuation methods and found that acceptable, he needed to consider that the unfunded liability was not going to be funded by the company – it was going to be funded by assets already in the plan, with $56 million to spare.  At the actuary’s assumed rate of 7.75%, interest on $56 million is $4.3 million a year.  In short, after the $63 million difference between market and actuarial values pays off 100% of the $7.0 million purported unfunded liability, interest on the remaining $56 million surplus pays 100% of the $1.8 million difference between the employer and employee shares of the normal cost.  Subtracting $1.8 million from $4.3 million leaves about $2.5 million more for the company, all without touching the $56 million principal amount of the surplus.  None of this is reflected in Mr. Fox’s analysis, but it is sufficient to demonstrate that by any fair measure the company was paying less than 50% of the cost, even based on the company’s own actuarial report prepared by its own consultant for a different purpose than judging “equivalent in value.”

11.   …When Mr. Fox did not require that the plan start with equivalent past funding from both parties as a condition of “equivalent in value,” he in effect gave MTS a $49 million bonus – he judged whether they were expected to pay more than 50% of the future cost without requiring that they pay 50% of the past cost.

215. Levy concludes that the funding of benefits, as determined based on the information available in the first actuarial valuation and based on the past experience in the CSSA, was obviously not equivalent by “any standard”.  (para 32)

216. Levy also discusses the COLA Account and how putting the initial surplus in it does not make up for the funding imbalance on Day One of the New Plan. 

12.     …In short, there is no real possibility of the Adjustment Account ever providing improved benefits.  Thus it is of no value to the employees and is in no way a valid offset to the company’s past deficiency compared to employee funding. 

13.    …the only real function of the Adjustment Account is to camouflage the fact that MTS has not in fact matched past employee contributions and the funding arrangement going forward is not “equivalent in value” to CSSF.  Part of this camouflage process is to include in the Adjustment Account assets in the amount of $31 million, labeled as “employer matching amount.”  This “employer matching amount” does not represent a single added dollar of employer contributions.  Rather, it is counting a portion of the MTS Reserve Account transfer twice – once to determine whether the employees will get extra benefits (they will not) and once to determine the required employer contributions.  This is, of course, precisely what MTS is doing with the purported employee piece of the Adjustment Account – using it once to determine whether the employees will get additional benefits and a second time to determine the required employer contributions.

14.       Mr. Fox does not appear to have evaluated the Adjustment Account at all.  Absent a clear demonstration that all amounts in that account could reasonably have been anticipated to provide added benefits to employees at no added cost to them, he should have concluded, as I do, that there is nothing about the existence of the Adjustment Account that supports a finding that the new pension plan is “equivalent in value” to CSSA.

MTS Paras. 459-461 - Was the Process Biased in Favour of MTS?
217. MTS says that Fox’s process did not involve a bias in favour of MTS.  This argument is quite a stretch.  Allowing Fraser to comment on the draft definition and showing Barker Fox’s draft opinion and then meeting with her were obvious advantages in favour of MTS.

218. Fox’s evidence was that being “independent” meant that he should not favour one side over the other.  Fox testified:   

   13       Q      I  believe  you  just  indicated    that  you  agreed  that

   14  it  wouldn't   be independent    to  favour  one  party  over   another

   15  -- over the other party in this determination?

   16       A      Correct.

   17       Q      And  I  then   follow   that   by  saying   therefore,    it

   18  wouldn't     be   appropriate     to    give    one    party    greater

   19  opportunities     than  the   other   party,   to  make   their   views

   20  known to you?

   21       A      We,  we  schedule    --  try  to  schedule   everybody    at

   22  the same time so I would have to agree with that. [V18 Sept. 29 p. 12] 

219. Fox testified that he was surprised at Singleton as he appeared to be giving MTS another “kick at the cat”.

         Q     Is  it   not  the  case   that   you  were   surprised    to

   18  learn   that  Mr.  Singleton   had  sent   it  to  MTS  since  all  the

   19  parties had already been consulted?

   20        A     Yes, I was surprised that it had been sent.

   21        Q     Did it appear to you that MTS was getting an extra

   22  kick  at  the  cat,   as  it  were,  in  terms   of suggestions    with

   23  respect to equivalency?

   24        A     Yes.    This   was  a  document   to   be  distributed    to

   25  everybody,   so  I'm    --  I  was  surprised   that  it  was  sent   to

   26  MTS. [V19 Sept. 30 p. 39]
      Q     And  did  you  then   contact  Mr.   Singleton   or  anyone

   16  else  from   the  provincial    auditor's   office   and,   and  advise

   17  the  provincial    auditor's    office   that  you   had  a  different

   18  opinion of equivalence in value?

   19        A     It   came   out  later.      I  think   --   I  was   still

   20  thinking    formulating    upon   different    things    and  thinking

   21  about  different    things  and  I,  I  think  I  was  a little   upset

   22  that this had gone out changed.

   23        Q     And,   and  I   guess   the  question    was  a   bit  more

   24  specific.     I,  I  just  want   to  know  if  you   communicated    to

   25  anyone at the provincial auditor's office that your version,

   26  your definition of equivalence wasn't the one that was being

   27  sent to the interested parties?

   28        A     No, I did not.

   29        Q     Why wouldn't you do that?

   30        A     I don't know.  I didn't. [V19 Sept. 30 p. 44] 

220. It is submitted that Fox was upset because Singleton changed Fox’s process and gave MTS an advantage over the employees.  Singleton’s process resulted in a definition being sent to interested parties that did not express Fox’s definition of equivalency.  That happened because MTS received and commented on the draft definition of equivalency. 

221. Johnson and Paterson testified that the final definition of equivalency was narrowed to exclude funding, surplus and governance.  Singleton testified that he heard this was the case as well.  MTS’ opportunity to comment on the draft definition and the draft opinion obviously contributed to this narrowing of the definition and as such the special opportunities they were afforded advantaged MTS to the detriment of employees. 

222. Regarding Singleton providing the draft opinion to MTS and arranging a meeting to discuss it, Fox testified:  

         Q     Did  Mr.  Singleton   ask  you  if  it  was  okay  to  send

   31  your draft report to Ms. Barker of MTS?

   32        A     No, he didn't mention it to me.

   33        Q     So that's not something you authorized?

   34        A     No, it is not.
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    1        Q     Did  he  consult   you  at  all  on  who,   if  anyone,   it

    2  should be sent to?

    3        A     No.

    4        Q     Did you send that document to any other interested

    5  parties?

    6        A     None.

    7        Q     Did you believe that it was a document that should

    8  be sent to the interested parties?

    9        A     No, I did not. [V19 Sept. 30 pp. 71-72]

223. Fox testified that he did not want to meet with MTS to discuss his draft report. 

         Q     And   just   before   I  get   to   the  question.      You

   27  wouldn't have wanted a meeting with MTS though to provide to

   28  MTS your draft report and review that with them?

   29        A     No.

   30        Q     You -- that's -- you weren't looking for that kind

   31  of information from MTS?

   32        A     No.

   33        Q     No?

   34        A     No.  [V19 Sept. 30 p. 72]

224. MTS submits there was no obligation on Fox to meet with the Plaintiffs following his meeting with Barker, because Fox had already met with the Plaintiffs, and had obtained their views and the information provided by Barker was true. 

225. The Plaintiffs say they should have been able to comment on the actuarial report and the $63M write down in assets; the existence of a large solvency surplus; and to rebut MTS’ views on the use of surplus in the Old Plan; and, whether it in fact demonstrated that the employees had less say with respect to surplus use than they believed.  Fundamentally, of course, the employees should have been given the same opportunity as MTS and the PAO to comment on the draft opinion.  Discussion with one party requires discussion with the other party in order for the process to be fair. 

MTS Paras. 464-477 - Standard of Review on Merits of Opinion

226. The Plaintiffs analysis of the factors to consider in determining the appropriate standard of review are dealt with in paragraphs 699-720 of the Written Argument and require no further elaboration in light of the anemic analysis of MTS in its argument.  The Plaintiffs’ position is bolstered by Justice Kennedy’s determination that Fox had a duty to be correct.  
40. A duty was owed, in my view, to the employees and employer.  A duty to the employees and MTS to be correct was imposed upon Fox.  The government expected independence from the actuary, not incompetence, inexperience or outside influence.  The government’s expectation in legislating as it did was entitled to correctness and it is this factor which is called into the question in the handling of the surplus, the deficit and the governance of the plan.

117. “[F]airness and correctness are essential components to the review of the actions taken by Fox.”  

154. In summary I find that in this case that Fox’s conduct and his report are subject to a duty of fairness and can be reviewed on that basis. The duty entails a duty to be fair – applying natural justice principles and allows individuals to present their case fully and fairly in an open process. Fairness allows the parties the opportunity to respond to presentations made. I conclude that there were instances where credibility issues arose and fairness may not have been applied giving rise to genuine issues for trial. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 1]
MTS Para. 480 - MTS/ Normal Costs
227. On this point, the Plaintiffs pointed out during the trial that the accounting treatment of MTS’ yearly pension expense is often lower than the employees’ contributions to the New Plan.  [Ellement V13 Sept. 19 pp. 23-29]

228. On this point Fox testified as follows:  

          Q     And   you  agree   that   normal    costs   in  the   ratio

   24  between the employer and employee contributions could change

   25  every year?

   26        A     Could change every valuation period, yes.

   27        Q     Right.     And  were   you  aware   as  to  what   MTS  was

   28  proposing for the pension expense for 1997?

   29        A     No.

   30        Q     Were  you  aware  that   there  was  a proposal   that  the

   31  pension   expense   for  1997,   first   year  of  the   plan,  be  6.6

   32  million dollars?

   33        A     No, I wasn't.

   34        Q     Which would, of course, be lower than the employee
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    1  contribution?

    2        A     I  don't  even  know  what  the  employee   contributions

    3  were.

    4        Q     But  those,   those  weren't   inquiries    that  you  made

    5  with respect to --

    6        A     No --

    7        Q     -- MTS --

    8        A     No, no.

    9        Q     -- you didn't ask --

   10        A     No, no.

   11        Q     --  what the pension expense --

   12        A     No.

   13        Q     -- would be?

   14        A     No,   I  did  not.     Pension   expense    accounting    is

   15  totally different.

   16        Q     But  --  it is  totally   different,   but  it's  the  true

   17  cost that MTS would incur with respect to the pension plan?

   18        A     That's reasonably true, yes. [V19 Sept 30 pp. 95-96]
229. The normal costs expressed in an actuarial report are only one measure of the cost of a pension plan to an employer.  The bottom line impact of the pension plan costs on the company’s profitability is reflected in the accounting treatment of the pension plan.  This is the measure that should be compared to the employees’ contributions to determine who is paying what year over year.  Solman confirmed this in her testimony. 

        Q   Yes.   So the point is, the pension plan  obviously

   24  has   a   financial   impact   on   the   company   and  its

   25  profitability?

   26        A   Um-hum, it does.

   27        Q   Right?    And that's  one --  that's the  big risk

   28  that  you've talked about  the employer taking  on with the,

   29  with   taking   on  a   hundred   percent  of   the   deficit

   30  responsibilities.      It's,  there's   a  risk   that  your

   31  financial,  there could  be financial impact  on the  company

   32  as a result of the pension plan; is that fair?

   33        A   That's fair, yes.

   34        Q   And  the way -- where you would see that  financial
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    1  impact  isn't on the actuarial  valuation, but it's going to

    2  be on the financial statements of the company; correct?

    3        A   Correct.

    4        Q   And  so this  document is telling  you what impact

    5  the  pension plan has  and its funding  and, and, and status

    6  on  the financial position of  the company, on the  financial

    7  statements; correct?

    8        A   Okay.  [V42 Nov. 5 pp. 53-54] 

230. Ellement reviewed the accounting treatment of MTS’ pension costs during his testimony.  Discussing AD 1191 (20298), the 2004 Report on the Actuarial Valuation for accounting purposes, he explained how MTS’ pension expense (the accounting version of the normal costs) is not only lower than the employee contributions but is recorded as a profit in some years.  

   24        A     That  amount,   based   on  the  accounting   rules,   that

   25  negative   3,016,000    represents   an  income   amount.     In  other

   26  words,   it's  a  positive   3 million,   3.0  million   that  will   be

   27  recognized     as   a   revenue     in   the   company's     financial

   28  statements.

   29        Q     Now,  we've  seen   in the  funding   report   that  MTS  is

   30  putting   in  substantial    amounts,    why  is  this   number  a,   an

   31  income number, a revenue number?

   32        A     The  accounting    rules  essentially    are  saying   this

   33  is your true cost.  You may have paid in too much.

   34        Q     And  what   happens   with  in  that  event   when  if  MTS

00026

    1  pays in too much for pension purposes?

    2        A     If  they  pay  in,  if,  if they  pay  in  too  much,  they

    3  create an offsetting asset.

    4        Q     Create an offsetting asset where?

    5        A     The   offsetting     asset   appears    on   the    company

    6  balance sheet.

    7        Q     And how does that offsetting asset get dealt with?

    8        A     The  offsetting    asset  that's   created   represents    a

    9  credit   that  the  company  expects   to  get  back  because  it  paid

   10  in too much.  [V13 Sept. 19 pp. 25-26]

231. As a result of recent years of large solvency payments that are based on a wind-up of the plan, which the accounting treatment does not presume, the New Plan represented a $224 M asset for MTS in 2007.  Solman confirmed as much in her testimony. 

AD 1283 
Report on the Actuarial Valuation For the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2007 – CICA Handbook Section 3461  

    9        Q   And  you haven't seen this, but if you look at  the

   10  document  from the  documents you've  reviewed before,  your,

   11  during  your  period,  there  is,  there's  here  an  accrued

   12  benefit  asset of 224 million  dollars and that's reflecting

   13  the  asset of the pension, that the pension plan is an asset

   14  for the financial statements; correct?  Of 224 million.

   15        A   Okay.  Yeah.

   16        Q   And  so that,  the impact  of the  pension plan  on

   17  the  financial position of  the company on  this report is  a

   18  plus 224 million; fair?

   19        A   That's    what   this   report    says,   if    I'm

   20  understanding it correctly.  [V42 Nov. 5 p. 54]
MTS Para. 481 - Smoothing of Assets v. Market Value
232. MTS uses evidence of Williams and Fox for the support that the smoothing technique was appropriate versus the market value of the assets.  What MTS is not stating is that the purpose of the reports were for funding purposes, which is a totally legitimate use of actuarial value of the assets.  Neither Ellement nor Levy disagree with that proposition.  In terms of Fox’s evidence, as recited, he was speculating on what he may or may not have done differently had he used the market value of the assets.  In no way does that evidence detract from the appropriate measure of the value of the assets coming over from the Old Plan as at January 1, 1997.  [V12, Sep. 18/08, p. 17-18, l. 1-27]
233. Ellement made the proper comparison in terms of amounts between market value of assets and the actuarial value of assets and concluded that, on either basis, the employees put more money into the New Plan than MTS as at January 1, 1997.  (Exhibit 31) [V12, Sep. 18/08, p. 19-22]
234. Even Williams indicated that the value of the assets at Implementation Date should be based upon market value.  [V37, Oct. 28/08, p. 64-66] (AD 327) (17449)  He indicated that in terms of splitting the assets in the CSSF, market value was the appropriate approach.  Mercer supported that approach in AD 326.

235. The Plaintiffs repeat their argument on market value versus smoothing value as contained in paragraphs 794-799 of the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs.

236. As reiterated by Levy in dealing with the issue of actuarial value versus market value, he stated as follows:

   12        Q   You  indicate in  paragraphs 11  and 12  -- and  it

   13  may  be a repeat  a bit of  what you  said this morning,  but

   14  you're,   you're  referencing   Mr.  FitzGerald's   preferred

   15  treatment  to  using  an  actuarial  value  versus  a market

   16  value.   And then you make some comments with respect to, in

   17  paragraph  12,  that,  "that  it was  inappropriate  for  the

   18  determination   of  'equivalency  of   value'."    Is  there

   19  anything  you   want  to  elaborate upon  that  you   haven't

   20  covered off this morning in that regard?

   21        A   No,   I'd   reiterate   briefly   that    I   think

   22  equivalence  in value has  to be done  with everything -- if

   23  it's  using actuarial  numbers, assets  or liabilities,  they

   24  need  to  be unbiased.   Otherwise,  the chances  are pretty

   25  high that the conclusion you reach will also be biased.

   26            But  I do want to follow up briefly on a comment  I

   27  made  in  the first presentation  this  morning about,  about

   28  the  use  of actuarial  value of  assets.   The standard  for

   29  what  is  accepted  actuarial   practice  in  Canada  is  the

   30  consensus  of what practising actuaries in Canada believe is

   31  the  appropriate way to do  actuarial work.  That's a slight

   32  paraphrase  of what it  says right at  the beginning of the,

   33  of the standards of practice.

   34            As   I  indicate   here  --  and   I  believe   Mr.
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    1  FitzGerald   concurs;  he  can  speak  for  himself  --   the

    2  practice  when you  are doing things  where you're  comparing

    3  the  value and trying  to make a fair  deal, the most common

    4  one  of which is selling a  company which has a pension  plan

    5  and  trying to figure  out how the fact  of the pension plan

    6  affects  the purchase price, you do it at market value.  You

    7  do  it at unbiased values.   And if one  side in a deal like

    8  that  tried  to use  a  biased value,  the other  side  would

    9  simply say, We don't accept.

   10            So  to  me,   that  establishes the   consensus of

   11  actuarial  practice  in Canada,  which is,  for calculations

   12  like  this,   to  use market  value   and to  use   actuarial

   13  assumptions  that  aren't biased  towards  high cost  or  low

   14  cost but are what we call best estimate.

   15            In  my  judgment,  when Mr.  FitzGerald  is  saying

   16  that  the preferred practice is to  do something else and he

   17  cannot  cite to anybody  else ever having  done it that way,

   18  that  has  to  raise  a question  as  to  whether  what he's

   19  suggesting is within accepted actuarial practice in Canada.
[Emphasis added] [V21, Oct. 7/08, p. 59, l. 12-34; p. 60, l. 1-19]

237. And earlier he stated:

   22            But  a  pension plan  is a  long-term undertaking.

   23  The   people  who  are  hired   today  are  going  to   start

   24  collecting  their pensions 30 or  40 years from now, and  may

   25  collect  them for 20  or 30 years after that.   So a  pension

   26  plan  we think  of as a  kind of institution  where they  can

   27  ride  out  the swings  in the  market.   And  so one  of  the

   28  common  things that actuaries do  when they're doing  funding

   29  valuations,  and  sometimes  when  they're  doing accounting

   30  valuations,  is  they  smooth out  the  market  fluctuations.

   31  And  that's  what Buck  Consultants  did in  this particular

   32  case.   And so  for determining the funding,  they may use a

   33  value  that's higher or lower than  market to smooth out  the

   34  fluctuation.    That doesn't  change the  investment  income,
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    1  but  it changes when you recognize it, when you take it into

    2  account in determining future funding.

    3            So  on  page  14  --  and  I  understand  that Mr.

    4  FitzGerald   may   disagree  with   this   and  --   but  my

    5  understanding  of  accepted actuarial  practice is  that  the

    6  use   of  a   smooth  value  is   to  moderate  contribution

    7  volatility.   It is not to offer a more appropriate value of

    8  plan  assets.  And in any  event, the portion of the  current

    9  investment  performance  that's  not  recognized  immediately

   10  under  the  smooth,  smooth  methods,  is  reflected  in the

   11  following years. [Emphasis added]  [V21, Oct. 7/08, p. 17, l. 22-34; p. 18, l. 1-11]
(See also Exhibit 41, paras. 11 & 12)

MTS Para. 488 - Actuarial Assumptions can Vary

238. MTS posits that there was a range of value assumptions that could have been employed by different actuaries in determining the size of the surplus, or deficit on Day One of the New Plan, all of which may have been reasonable.  Corp’s testimony that there is a lot of room for differences of opinion when it comes to “equivalent in value” is relied on by MTS. 

239. The Plaintiffs do not disagree that, when it comes to actuarial valuations, an actuary’s job is to make reasonable assumptions and that two actuaries may disagree on the precise assumptions which would result in different values.  The assumptions could have been different, but it cuts both ways.  They could have resulted in a much larger surplus on Day One or a deficit.  Regardless of the assumptions, one thing is immutable: employees contributed $43.4 M more to fund the benefits than MTS did as at the Implementation Date.  In the Old Plan employees only had to fund 50% of the liabilities.  Assets above that were declared surplus and used to improve benefits.  The Plaintiffs had an initial surplus on Day One of the New Plan.  If the Plaintiffs did not receive a benefit from that initial surplus, then they have paid more money for the same benefits.  FitzGerald agreed that paying more for the same benefits is tantamount to receiving reduced benefits. 

240. Thus, this case is not about the assumptions and whether they were reasonable, it is about the funding gap (initial surplus) on Day One of the New Plan.  

241. Furthermore, the Plaintiffs say it is unreasonable to use a write down in assets of $63 M to value assets for a particular point in time, i.e. the Implementation Date, as was required here.  FitzGerald is wrong that the equivalency test is a forward looking test.  MTS’ position contradicts FitzGerald in this regard.  MTS argues that the benefits only had to be equivalent on the Implementation Date. 

242. The equivalency test is a snapshot at a point in time that has forward looking consequences.  It is not a test of what the funding may be in the future; only with respect to the funding on the Implementation Date.
MTS Para. 489 - Is Fox’s Opinion Reasonable?
243. MTS suggests that the Court should only interfere with Fox’s opinion was unreasonable in the sense that it falls outside the range of possible acceptable outcomes.  Unfortunately for MTS in this regard, Fox had to be correct, not reasonable.  In any event, when it comes to the issue of dealing with the market value versus actuarial value of assets, he did not consider either because he did not even see the Buck report (AD 827).

MTS Para. 490 - Corp did not Conclude that the Benefits were Equivalent

244. MTS says that this Court will have to reject the evidence given by actuaries Williams, Corp and FitzGerald in order to conclude Fox’s Opinion is unreasonable.  Firstly, Corp did not conclude that the benefits were equivalent as demonstrated earlier herein.  He is squarely on the side of Ellement and Levy.  Secondly, Williams based his determination of equivalency on the narrow definition, which every other actuary has eschewed.  Thirdly, FitzGerald agreed that if an employee pays more for benefits, the employee would have received reduced benefits.  The evidence is uncontested that the employees contributed assets that exceeded 50% of the liabilities of the plan on Day One and received no compensation for it.  In the Old Plan they were only responsible for 50% of the liabilities.  Therefore, it is unreasonable for FitzGerald to conclude that the benefits were equivalent, if he includes funding of the benefits.   

MTS Para. 493-496 - FitzGerald Assessment of Reasonableness of Fox Report

245. FitzGerald at paragraph 66 of Exhibit 42 is making a trite conclusion.  He spends 50% or more of his report analyzing whether the formula benefits are equivalent, when in fact that has never been in dispute and FitzGerald admitted as much on cross-examination.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 65-66, l. 1-5]
246. With respect to FitzGerald’s conclusion on security, it is a “red herring”, because Fox was not opining on the issue of security; and, in any event, although the Plaintiffs are of the opinion that the New Plan is not as secure, no declaration is being sought to improve the security from that which the employees enjoyed under the Old Plan.

Governance

247. With respect to paragraph 78 of Exhibit 42, FitzGerald did nothing more than look at the CSSA.  FitzGerald’s observations must be totally disregarded for the reasons set out in paragraphs 837-848 of the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs.
248. Furthermore, his entire analysis was skewed by his admission that he was really not an expert in matters of governance and it is quite disturbing that, although he seems to have been provided with every shred of paper in the case, including all of the pre-trial discovery material, he would not have analyzed the process.  On that score, it is highly unusual and the Plaintiffs submit inappropriate for an expert to be given all materials associated with the case.  He was acting more as a lawyer in rendering a legal opinion than an actuary rendering an actuarial opinion.  FitzGerald even admitted that in order to analyze the case, he should not have had more than that which Fox had available or reasonably available to him.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 56-57, l. 1-30]
249. Lastly, FitzGerald conceded that his opinion was essentially incorrect as it related to governance.

    1        Q     Yeah.    Are   you  aware   that  he   expected   that  MTS

    2  would   act   in  good   faith    in  terms   of   dealing   with   the

    3  employees and retirees as to the use of surplus?

    4        A     Again,   I  don't   specifically     recall   seeing   that

    5  but --

    6        Q     Okay.    And  will  you  agree,  sir,  that  if  the  court

    7  finds as a fact that there was some kind of control in terms

    8  of  the   use  of  surplus   on  --  enjoyed    by  the  employees    or

    9  retirees   under   the  old   plan,  that   your   opinion   would  not

   10  stand?

   11        A     If  the,  if  the  court  found  that  my  assumption   was

   12  incorrect, then yes.   [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 4]


Use of Surplus per FitzGerald
250. Again, FitzGerald’s analysis is fraught with cursory observations, again based solely on a reading of the CSSA.  Again, he is not a lawyer; he is an actuary who was parroting MTS’ position without an appropriate understanding and analysis as to what took place under the Old Plan with respect to the use of surplus.  In that regard, the Plaintiffs repeat paragraphs 822-836 of the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs.
251. Furthermore, FitzGerald ignored all of the factual background which demonstrated the use of surplus under the Old Plan; and, the fact that, when privatization had been announced and MTS circulated its propaganda in information circulars, there was no challenge made by MTS as to surplus ownership and the ERPC was attempting to make its position known.  With respect to surplus, FitzGerald made the following admissions:
    1        Q     And  he's   asking   questions    about,   first   of  all,

    2  Will -- under (b),

    3  

    4                    "Will     the     employees     'surplus

    5                    portion'   of  the  transfer   amount   be

    6                    used to enhance the employees share

    7                    of the benefit improvements?"

    8  

    9              And under (c),

   10  

   11                    "Will     the     employees     'surplus

   12                    portion'   of  the  transfer   amount   be

   13                    used to reduce the employer's costs

   14                    to the plan?"

   15  

   16              Do you see that, sir?

   17        A     Yes.

   18        Q     And   you'll    agree   with   me,   sir,   that    in  the

   19  following    months   in   terms   of  exchange    of  communications

   20  emanating from this letter, that there was never any dispute

   21  over  the  fact  --  or  dispute  over  the  --  as  to the  ownership

   22  of the employee surplus.

   23              In   other     words,    you're    not    aware    of   any

   24  correspondence or communication where MTS said, No, there is

   25  --  that   this   employee   surplus    portion   is  not   employees'

   26  money.

   27        A     No.  I'm not aware of any.
   28        Q     You're not aware of any.

   29        A     I'm not aware of any.

   30        Q     Okay.     And   are,  are   you   aware,   sir,   that  the

   31  employee   surplus   was  unknown  in  --  prior  to  or when  Bill   67

   32  was passed?

   33              The actual amount?

   34        A     I,  I,  I  would   not  --  I  mean   I  --  to  achieve   I
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    1  would not think it was necessary --

    2        Q     Yes.  But you --

    3        A     -- to mean a -- because this --

    4        Q     Nobody   knew  the,  the  amounts   is  what   I'm  saying.

    5  That's, that's the evidence.

    6        A     Yeah.

    7        Q     Do you accept that, sir?

    8        A     Yes.  Yeah.

    9        Q     And  that   after   Bill  67   was  passed,   the   parties

   10  agreed   that  that   transfer   amount   would  be  measured   by  the

   11  difference between the amount coming over from the supe fund

   12  (phonetic)    versus   the   amount   coming   over   by  the   pension

   13  reserve fund.

   14        A     That, that what?  Which amount would be?

   15        Q     The transfer amount.

   16        A     No.  I'm not sure that's my understanding.

   17        Q     I'm sorry.  I -- that was --

   18        A     Let me, let me --

   19        Q     -- improperly worded.

   20        A     -- tell you my --

   21        Q     That, that the, that the --

   22              THE COURT:  Surplus.

   23  

   24  BY MR. MERONEK:

   25        Q     --   initial    surplus   was,    was   agreed   upon   and

   26  determined   by  the  parties   to  be  the  difference    between  the

   27  amount   coming   over   from   the  Civil   Service   Superannuation

   28  Fund  versus   the  amount  coming   over  from  the  pension   reserve

   29  fund.

   30        A     No.   I  do not  have  a  recollection    of that  --  that

   31  agreement.  [Emphasis added]  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 23-24]

252. Perhaps the most egregious display of inconsistency is when FitzGerald indicates that he sees no reference to surplus under the CSSA and therefore concludes surplus does not exist.  Yet, on the other hand, he acknowledges that, notwithstanding there is also no reference to a COLA guarantee under the CSSA, MTS felt compelled to include a COLA guarantee provision in the New Plan because of past history and perceived OSFI requirements in that regard.  How can he possible reconcile the rejection of surplus because there is no mention of it in the CSSA, and yet acknowledge a guarantee as a benefit requirement under the New Plan because of past practise of the CSSF awarding 2/3 of CPI?  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 24, l. 32-34; p. 25-26, l. 1-10]
253. With respect to his analysis he does confirm that surplus is a benefit if that is its only use.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 20, l. 6-13]
254. He also acknowledges that it was reasonable for Fox to conclude that surplus ownership was not an issue because it belonged to the employees:
    1        A     If,  if  he  is  going  to  measure   equivalents    by the

    2  funding status, yes.

    3        Q     In the third bullet -- (iii),

    4  

    5                    "Surplus   ownership    has  not  been   a

    6                    concern    in  the   past   because   the

    7                    surplus in the CSSA belonged to the

    8                    employees."

    9  

   10  Do you see that?

   11        A     I do see that.

   12        Q     Do   you   have   any  basis    to  disagree    with   that

   13  statement?

   14        A     I  have  no  --   as  I said,   I  had  no  documentation

   15  that told me that the surplus belonged to the employees.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 36, l. 1-15]

The November 7 Agreement (MOA)

MTS Paras. 497-500 - Consensus ad idem 

255. MTS submits that the MOA should not be interpreted as the Plaintiffs claim.  In the alternative, if the Court accepts the Plaintiffs’ interpretation, MTS says it was not aware of nor did it ever except the Plaintiffs’ intentions and as such there is no consensus ad idem and no enforceable contract that MTS could have breached.   

256. The Plaintiffs submit that the argument that there was no consensus ad idem, can only apply to the aspects of the agreement where there is a difference of interpretation.

257. Here, the parties all agree on the objective of the Agreement, which was to achieve a benefit for employees by putting the initial surplus in the COLA Account. 

258. The Plaintiffs main argument is that it was an implied term of the Agreement that MTS would set up the COLA Account such that it had a reasonable chance to produce the benefit which was the object of the Agreement. 

259. The following summary from the recent case of Pine Valley Mining Corp., Re, 2008 CarswellBC 492 [Plaintiffs’ Reply Authorities, Tab 4] explains the law concerning implied contractual terms:

The general principles for finding an implied contractual term in a contract are to be found in the case of Canadian Pacific Hotels Ltd. v. Bank of Montreal, [1987] 1 S.C.R. 711, (S.C.C.). There Le Dain J., for the majority, held that terms may be implied in a contract: (1) based on customer usage; (2) as a legal incidence of a particular cause or kind of contract; or (3), based on the presumed intention of the parties where the implied term must be necessary "to give business efficacy to a contract or of otherwise meeting the "officious bystander" test as a term which the parties would say, if questioned, that they had already assumed".

In M.J.B. Enterprises Ltd. v. Defence Construction (1951) Ltd., [1999] 1 S.C.R. 619 (S.C.C.), after citing Canadian Pacific Hotels, Iacobucci J., discusses whether a contractual term should be implied on the basis of the presumed intentions of the parties. He said, at 588:

What is important in both formulations is a focus on the intentions of the actual parties. A court, when dealing with the terms implied in fact, must be careful not to slide into determining the intentions of reasonable parties. This is why the implication of the term must have a certain degree of obviousness to it, and why, if there is evidence of a contrary intention, on the part of either party, an implied term may not be found on this basis.

He then cites Fridman in the Law of Contracts in Canada:

“In determining the intention of the parties, attention must be paid to the express terms of the contract in order to see whether the suggested implication is necessary and fits in with what has clearly been agreed upon, and the precise nature of what, if anything, should be implied”.

In Shaw Cablesystems (Manitoba) Ltd. v. Canadian Legion Memorial Housing Foundation (Manitoba), [1997] 3 W.W.R. 425, 143 D.L.R. (4th) 193 (Man. C.A.) a useful summary of the facts and findings of the court is provided in the headnote in the W.W.R. report:

The cable company agreed in its standard form contract to supply cable television to a housing foundation at a 75 per cent discount on the basic rate. It agreed to maintain the connection for 12 months, subject to its right to terminate on certain events occurring. The one-year term would continue from year to year on the same conditions, unless the foundation gave notice of termination. The foundation never gave notice, and none of the events triggering termination occurred. After 23 years, the cable company brought an action for a declaration that it was entitled to terminate the agreement.

The action was dismissed. The court held that a term was only to be implied in a commercial agreement to prevent the parties' intention from being defeated. The court found that the agreement gave the foundation, but not the cable company, the express right to terminate without cause. That showed that the parties, or at least the cable company which had prepared the agreement, had addressed the issue. As the cable company considered the issue of termination but failed to provide for its own right to terminate on reasonable notice, the agreement could not be written to imply the provision.

260. The Plaintiffs say that unless this Court reads in the implied term that the COLA Account would be set up with the appropriate credits and debits relating to COLA assets and liabilities, the object of the MOA, as agreed by all parties, would be defeated.  Solman testified that she would not have set up the COLA Account with the intention that it fail.   

         Q     And   you   were   involved    in   designing    the   COLA

   25  account   through   your  involvement    in  the  preparation    of the

   26  new MTS plan text?

   27        A     Yes.

   28        Q     And  you   wouldn't   have   expected    or  you  wouldn't

   29  have wanted to design the account to fail, correct?

   30        A     Well,  the  account   was  designed   in  the  same  manner

   31  and  fashion   that  the  account  worked   under  the  Civil   Service

   32  Superannuation Act, under the government plan.

   33        Q     But  the  question   was  you  wouldn't    have  wanted   to

   34  design a COLA account that you knew was going to fail.
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    1        A     No. [V42 Nov. 4 pp. 82-83]

261. It is uncontested that the account failed, it is now $17 M in deficit, because of the credits and debits assigned to it by MTS. MTS itself told OSFI that “the adjustment is not currently sufficient to provide more than the guaranteed maximum increase, nor has it ever been since inception of the plan.”  [AD 1288]  

262. This Court should read in the implied term that the COLA Account be set up to succeed (not fail) so that the objective of the MOA can be satisfied.  

263. Another way to look at it, is that MTS’ consensus ad idem argument is a moot point because if the MOA fails, then the question concerning the funding imbalance on the Implementation Date (the initial surplus) must then be addressed in terms of the requirement that the benefits be equivalent in value under sec. 15(2) of the Act. 

264. In other words, invalidating the MOA, simply moves the question of how the initial surplus should be used, in order for benefits to be equivalent, from the MOA to section 15(2) of the Act. 

265.  MTS relies on Fox and the “reasonableness” of his final Opinion as a defence to the Plaintiffs case.  Fox relied on his interpretation of the MOA, that it would produce a benefit for employees and not a benefit for MTS.  If Fox’s expectation (assumption) was incorrect the benefits are not equivalent because they have not been funded equivalently on Day One of the New Plan as Fox presumed.  (See Levy Report Exhibit 40.)
MTS Para. 501 - ERPC Concerns on October 31, 1996 (AD 410)

266. MTS asserts that the ERPC expressed a concern that surplus be identified and not disappear upon the creation of the New Plan; that there be equal representation; and, that there be ERPC input into the plan text.  MTS argues that all these concerns were addressed.  However, the presentation on October 31, 1996, has to be put into context.  Firstly, it was a recitation of concerns that the ERPC had at the time about funding, surplus and governance.  It was a plea to the government to take those matters into consideration and preserve those rights.  The report to the Legislative Standing Committee has to be read in its entirety in order to understand the concerns of the ERPC as they understood the situation at the time.  That situation and concern was articulated without full disclosure from MTS.  Furthermore, the fact that:

(a)
there was equal representation is irrelevant, because it was not equal representation on the governing body.
(b)
that surplus was put into the COLA Account is irrelevant, because subsequently it disappeared.
(c)
the ERPC only received a belated opportunity to review the plan text, which was too little, too late.  Bill 67 had been passed and the issues of surplus and governance persisted after the position of MTS was disclosed for the first time in contravention of prior representations.

MTS Para. 504-506 - Pension Committee a Governing Body
267. Any agreement to the Pension Committee provisions in the MOA was predicated upon the ability of the Plaintiffs to have a legitimate say and consensus in the use of their surplus and also in terms of there being no changes to the plan text detrimental to their entrenched rights.  In addition, the evidence is replete with references to the Pension Committee as meaning the “governing body”.  The Plaintiffs were consistent in that regard.  MTS conveniently marginalizes the November 6 memo (AD 434), because it is fatal and terminal to their position.  Everything that flowed therefrom was based on Restall’s prior assertion as to governance and the commitment of the government through Messrs. Toews, Findlay and Praznik, that the Pension Committee would be the governing body.  (See Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 176, 177, 186, 206, 230, 234-240.)

MTS Para. 508 - MTS Non-Disclosure of Position Prior to November 7, 1996

268. MTS mis-states its own evidence when it says it had always made its position concerning control of surplus clear. 

269. MTS’ evidence is that it had not communicated to the ERPC the company’s intentions regarding surplus and governance prior to November 7, 1996.  [Exhibit 61, Tab 5 - Plaintiffs’ Read-Ins]  


722          Q    In the November 7 meeting on the

    6  phone, did you convey to the Plaintiffs'

    7  representatives what was contained in the draft

    8  plan as it related to the use of surplus?

    9                 MR. OLSON:  You are talking about

   10  ongoing or future surpluses?

   11                 MR. MERONEK:  Yes.

   12                 THE WITNESS:  No, I didn't, because

   13  I hadn't seen a draft plan myself at that point in

   14  time.

80(93).
In response to question number 654, Bill Fraser stated that, prior to November 7, 1996, to his knowledge, no one at MTS conveyed to the Plaintiffs’ representatives the company’s intentions with respect to the use of ongoing surplus. An undertaking was provided that if this response is not correct, the Plaintiffs’ counsel will be advised accordingly.


There is no change to this response.

87(101).Inquire of Cheryl Barker, Pat Solman and Brenda McInnes whether they conveyed at any time prior to November 7, 1996 as to what the Pension Plan text said in connection with the use of ongoing surplus by the company and governance. If so, what was said about governance, to whom, and when?

To the best of the recollections of Cheryl Barker, Pat Solman and Brenda McInnes, they did not advise anyone as to what the Pension Plan text provided for regarding the use of ongoing surplus by the company and governance prior to November 7, 1996, other than the individuals involved in the drafting of the Pension Plan document.

270. Restall and Praznik testified that there was no indication from MTS on November 7, 1996, that the Pension Committee would be something other than the governing body as was stated in the November 6 memo.   

MTS Para. 509 - Did the ERPC Request that the Pension Committee be the governing body?
271. MTS wrongly asserts that in none of the versions of the New Plan text throughout November and December 1996 was it ever suggested that the New Plan text or the governance document inaccurately described the role of the Pension Committee. 

272. AD 471 was the ERPC’s first response upon receiving the plan text from MTS. The document could not be any clearer: the ERPC wanted the Pension Committee (described in this document as the “Administration Board”) to have final say on all important matters: 

All references conveying absolute or discretionary authority to MTS… should be changed to indicate such action shall take place only on the recommendation or approval of the Administration Board. This is important in all areas of the plan text, but is particularly important in those sections dealing with funding requirements and surpluses.  [AD 471 p.03363]

273. The position was later softened to require a 2/3 vote of the Pension Committee with respect to major changes to the plan, including the surplus provisions.  This change of position was made to achieve an agreement; it was a compromise that was not accepted by MTS.  Most importantly, it was premised on the surplus provisions of the plan text being changed to a pro-rata sharing of surplus between MTS and the employees.  Trach testified as to why the ERPC “softened” its position with respect to the governance of the New Plan:
        Q   And  if  you flip  to the  second page,  the firs t

    7  recommendation,  and I'm  paraphrasing it, is  to change  all

    8  references  to  the  company  or  the  administrator  to  the

    9  Pension Committee.

   10        A   That's correct.

   11        Q   And  that  that  could be  accomplished  through  a

   12  single  clause in article 20  to the effect that the  company

   13  will  have the  final right of  approval in those situations

   14  that   would  cause   an  increase   in  their   contribution

   15  requirement to the plan.  Do you see that?

   16        A   I do. [V4 Sept. 5 p. 79]

….

      Q   And  you've,  you've  described that  change  as  a

   22  softening.  Why a softening?

   23        A   Well,  we're, we're  now at the  25th of November.

   24  We're  trying to get agreement on  the plan text, and one  of

   25  the  things that we're trying to do is, through  negotiation,

   26  pare  down our position so that we, you know, that to get to

   27  a  point where  we can  agree to jointly  approving the plan

   28  text.   Or endorsing the plan text I think would be a better

   29  word. [V4 Sept. 5 p. 80]

MTS Paras. 510-511 - Plaintiffs’ Persistence re Governing Body

274. As stated in paragraph 273 above, the ERPC constantly and repeatedly in November and December pursued the governance issue on the basis that they were asserting what they had under the Old Plan.  They were not asserting absolute and complete control.  Secondly, they were concentrating on attempts to change the plan text.  They never agreed to the governance document.  As a matter of fact, it was provided to them late in the day and was never changed by the defendants.  Thirdly, it does not matter what the plan text said or what was argued in November and December.  The fact remains that the law requires equivalency in value.  The Plaintiffs were never bargaining out of their statutory right and could not do so.
275. In any event, MTS conveniently forgets the fact that the Plaintiffs were articulating their rights to Fox.  As a matter of fact, in February of 1997, in his draft opinion letter of February 18, 1997 (AD 806), Fox endorsed the concerns of the Plaintiffs with respect to governance.  That concern never subsided or diminished.  The Plaintiffs spent a considerable amount of time upon receipt of the March 5, 1997 Fox letter, trying to obtain information of the basis behind Fox’s decision, but were stonewalled virtually until after the litigation commenced and the discovery process began.
276. Restall wrote to Fraser on April 3, 1997 [AD 869] stating “we continue to work toward achieving changes in the plan that will make the Pension Committee become as you describe it to Mr. Findlay in your Dec 6/96 [sic] memo, ‘the governing body’”.  Clearly, the Plaintiffs relied on the MTS representation that the Pension Committee would be the governing body.  The Plaintiffs never faltered in their belief as to this entitlement.  
MTS Para. 523 - Restall, Trach and Praznik Knowledge of the CSSF COLA Account 


277. MTS says witnesses Restall, Trach and Praznik had limited working knowledge of the key concepts surrounding the operation of the CSSF SAA and appeared confused on several key points, despite their apparent earlier involvement with the CSSF.

278. One might say this is the proverbial “pot calling the kettle black”.  Fraser testified that on November 7, 1996, there was no discussion of the 20 year pre-funding test applying to the initial surplus and no discussion about the mechanics of how the COLA Account would operate.  However, he said that everyone should have known about the 20 year pre-funding rule and assumed its application.  But Fraser did not even know the source of the rule.  He incorrectly attributed it to the PBSA, rather than the CSSA, even after a desperate attempt to rehabilitate by MTS’ lawyer on re-direct.   

         Q   What,  what was your  understanding of the PBSA as

   33  it  related to the  necessity to pre-fund?   Like, what were

   34  you speaking about?
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    1        A   I,  I guess I'm, I'm confused.   I, I'm not sure  I

    2  understand  the question.   I  mean,  my basic  understanding

    3  was  that  there was  a 20  year pre-funding  requirement in

    4  terms  of paying COLA and paying a, a formula in relation to

    5  it.

    6            THE COURT:  I, I'm having trouble hearing you.

    7  

    8  BY MR. OLSON:

    9        Q   Yeah,  you're talking about in the, in the text  of

   10  your plan?

   11        A   Yes.

   12        Q   All  right.  And what was the funding requirement s

   13  under PBSA as you understood them?

   14        A   Twenty year pre-funding.

   15        Q   But  what  does that  mean though?   What  did yo u

   16  understand that meant?

   17        A   Well,  that  if you  had  a certain  level  of  CPI

   18  increase  that you, you couldn't  go above that unless  there

   19  was  -- on an ongoing basis, unless there was a 20-year pre-

   20  funding,  I mean, so that if you were, you know, giving two-

   21  thirds  of CPI  and then  you changed that  and increased it

   22  significantly,  that  would   consume funds   that  if  there

   23  wasn't 20-year pre-funding, that you couldn't do that. [V34 Oct. 23 pp. 115-116]
    EXAMINATION BY THE COURT:

    Q   Just,  I want to  go back to  the PBSA  requirement

    3  for  20-year pre-funding.   My understanding  of your answer

    4  and  I want to  make sure that  I have it,  is that there is

    5  reference   in   the   PBSA  to   the   20-year   pre-funding

    6  requirement  and so it's  not an  option, it's a  legislative

    7  requirement  to be included in the  New Plan  as it was  under

    8  the  CSSA and under the,  the Superannuation Fund?  At  least

    9  for,  it, it had  been in the, in the,  in the Civil  Service

   10  Superannuation    for   a   number   of   years   prior    to

   11  privatization.

   12        A   Yes.

   13        Q   So   it's  your  understanding  that  there  is   a

   14  legislative requirement in the PBSA requiring --

   15        A   Yes.  [V34 Oct. 23 p. 119]
279. The evidence is that Fraser only spoke to Restall and Praznik the night of November 7 when the MOA was negotiated.  Therefore, it is Fraser, Restall and Praznik’s views that are relevant in terms of deciding whether there was a consensus ad idem.  It really does not matter how Ellement, Corp, McInnes and Williams later interpreted the agreement.  It is particularly so in the case of McInnes, Williams and Solman because none of them spoke to Fraser about what the agreement meant. 

280. McInnes testified:
         Q     No.   And   so you  have   no personal    knowledge   as  to

   31  its contents as discussed and agreed upon on November 7?

   32        A     I  do  not  know   what  was   discusse d  on  that   date,

   33  no.

   34        Q     It's   my  understanding     from   your  evidence    that,
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    1  that  you  received   a  copy  of  the  memorandum    of agreement    at

    2  some point after November 7.

    3        A     Yes.

    4        Q     And --

    5        A     Within   a --  the  next  day  or  two,  I  believe   I got

    6  it.

    7        Q     Right.    And  it  was  provided   to  you  to  assist  you

    8  in terms of relating it to the pension plan text?

    9        A     Yes.

   10        Q     Now --

   11        A     And a few other things that relate to governance.

   12        Q     And   you  didn't   speak   to   Mr.  Fr aser  about   this

   13  particular memorandum, correct?

   14        A     I didn't, personally, no.

   15        Q     And    as    I   understand      your    evidence,     your

   16  interpretation     of  the   memorandum    of  agreement    was   based

   17  upon   your   reading   of   the   document   and   discussions    with

   18  Mr. Williams?

   19        A     And Ms. Solman. [V31 Oct. 20 pp. 97-98]

281. Williams testified:
          Q   Okay.   Now, agreed document  440 is the plan, is,

   16  sorry,  the memorandum of agreement.   It's my  understanding

   17  that  you weren't involved in  the discussions leading up to

   18  that agreement; correct?

   19        A   I wasn't directly involved, no.

   20        Q   Your,  your  advice and  counsel wasn't  sought i n

   21  connection with that particular agreement?

   22        A   No, it wasn't.

   23        Q   And  you,  is it  fair to  suggest that  you neve r

   24  talked  to any party involved  in the discussions leading up

   25  to the signing of that agreement?

   26        A   Do  you mean by  that that I  didn't speak to the,

   27  the people this memo is, memorandum is --

   28        Q   The, the signatories.

   29        A   The  signatories?  Well, I, I did have discussion s

   30  with  Bill Fraser, not, around that time, but not about this

   31  particular memo.

   32        Q   All right.  That's my question.

   33        A   Yeah, that's right.

   34        Q   You  didn't have  any discussions with  any of th e
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    1  signatories?

    2        A   That's right. [V37 Oct. 28 pp. 84-85]

282. Solman testified:
         Q     So   with    respect    to    the   amendments     and    in

   30  particular   this   final  sentence   in  paragraph    3 that   begins:

   31  "In subsequent years the financial position ..."

   32        A     Um-hum.

   33        Q     That's   an  amendment,    that  entire   sentence   is   an

   34  amendment you were not involved in, correct?
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    1        A     That would be correct, yes.

    2        Q     And the interpretation that you ultimately gave to

    3  that was your own interpretation?

    4        A     That would be correct, yes.

    5        Q     Are  you   aware  of  any  of   the  discussions    between

    6  Mr.  Fraser   and the  Plaintiffs,    the  ERPC  representatives,     on

    7  November 7th?

    8        A     No. [V42 Nov. 4 pp. 80-81]
MTS Paras. 524-525 - Corp’s Interpretation of Paragraph 3 of the MOA

283. Corp did not testify that he provided advice to Hadfield on November 7, 1996.  To suggest that he spoke to her belies the evidence.  See the Plaintiffs’ reply to MTS paras 546-549 below. 
MTS Para. 527 - Has MOA been Breached?
284. MTS states that it complied with the Plaintiffs’ request that the initial surplus be placed in the COLA Account [AD 348].  In AD 348 the ERPC states the reason why it believed that the COLA Account was the most appropriate use of the surplus.  It was to protect the initial surplus, so that it could be spent on a benefit (protection against MTS using it to reduce its obligation.)
1.
The surplus relates to accrued benefits under the Act based upon participation in the plan by the employees for decades and has been identified historically as such. This surplus has from time to time been used to improve their benefits and ought not to be comingled such as to allow MTS to reduce its obligation.  (01551)
285. This request was made before the Plaintiffs were told about the guarantee.  The assumption was that the COLA Account would operate like the SAA in the Old Plan.  The Plaintiffs were unaware that there was enough money available from the CSSF transfer to pay for 50% of the liabilities associated with guaranteed indexing and still leave a $49 M initial surplus.  Without this information, how could the Plaintiffs have made the specific demands that MTS says they ought to have made leading up to and on the night of November 7?  MTS had all the information; the employees were kept “in the dark”. 

MTS Para. 529 - The Guarantee is not the Compensation for the Initial Surplus 

286. Paterson’s notes [AD 620] with respect to the MOA state:
established minimum guarantee of 2/3rd of CPI up to 4%.  This is considered to be the compensation for the excess of employee assets contributed to the fund from CSSF over MTS contribution.  (05996)
287. The Plaintiffs’ witnesses deny making this comment.  They never considered the surrender of the initial surplus to be a compromise to get the guarantee.  It would make no sense, since 50% of the cost of the guarantee was paid for by the employees.  The initial surplus is the amount of employee assets in excess of 50% of the liabilities of the New Plan on Day One (which includes the full cost of the guarantee).  If the initial surplus could be used to pre-fund the cost of COLAs, then the employees are paying more than 50% for this benefit on Day One. 

288. MTS has never taken the position that the initial surplus was compensation for the guarantee.  The company’s evidence is that the guarantee was an established obligation which it had to incorporate into the New Plan to make it equivalent to the Old Plan.  The guarantee was in the plan text long before the negotiations concerning the initial surplus took place on November 7.  How could the initial surplus be compensation for something that was already in the plan?

289. MTS made numerous representations that it would not use the initial surplus to reduce its cost or share of contributions.  Using the initial surplus to fund the guarantee for future COLAs is a direct breach of that commitment since it reduces what would otherwise be MTS’ costs.   

MTS Para. 530 - Is Ellement’s Interpretation of the MOA Credible?
290. MTS derides Ellement’s “interpretation” of the MOA and asserts that it is not consistent with the views of the Plaintiffs’ other witnesses.  MTS is wrong.  

291. Restall’s understanding of placing the excess in the COLA Account was that it was surplus owned by plan members and was to be used for new benefits, new benefits only.  Restall testified: 

    2    Q   And so to that extent, you had some discussion

    3  about funding; isn't that correct?

    4    A   I don't think you and I are on the same page.  In

    5  funding, my, my understanding of funding is, is

    6  contribution to pay for upcoming entitlements for plan

    7  members.  I think in here, if I understand you correctly,

    8  you, you're suggesting that the, that the placement of the

    9  excess or surplus in the indexing account is a -- is --

   10  makes up part of funding.  Our understanding of placing the

   11  excess in the indexing account was that it was surplus

   12  owned by plan members and was to be used for new benefits,

   13  new benefits only.. [RV13 June 16 p. 14]
292. Trach and Praznik had the same understanding.  MTS could not benefit from the use of the initial surplus.  [V4 Sept. 8 p. 44] [V5 Sept. 9 pp. 46-48]

293. Ellement’s evidence is absolutely consistent with Restall’s in terms of what Restall was telling him about the MOA.  What follows is Ellement’s testimony regarding AD 440, the MOA. 

        Q      Okay.    Now,  what  are  you  being   advised   by  Mr.  --

   15  or  what   were  you   advised,   to  your   recollection,    from  Mr.

   16  Restall about what this document represented?

   17       A      The   one   thing    that   I   can   recall    with   some

   18  certainty   is  that  --  or with   certainty   is that  the  employee

   19  surplus was going to be used to provide additional benefits,

   20  either through top up cost of living increases or some other

   21  types of benefit improvement.

   22       Q      And  in  terms  of  your  review  of  the  document,   what

   23  did you understand it to provide?

   24       A      I  had  to  review  the  document   many   times  and  I've

   25  come   around   to  an  interpretation    of   it.    At  the  time   of

   26  receiving   it,  the   one  thing  that   was  made  clear   to me  was

   27  that  employee    surplus   was  for  top   up.    Over  some   months,

   28  some   considerable    number    of  months,   and   re-reading    this

   29  document    many,   many  times,    I  came   to  a  conclusion    with

   30  respect to how the indexing was to work. [V11 Sept. 17 p. 18]

294. The reason Corp’s understanding is slightly different is that he was not advised of the November 6 memo and the representations that were made by MTS about the exclusive use of the initial surplus. 

          Q   You  have  that  in front  of  you?   This  is  the

   14  November  6 memorandum  from Mr. Fraser to  Mr. Findlay that

   15  is  familiar to many in the room.   The question that I have

   16  for you, Mr. Corp, is, did you get a copy of this document?

   17        A   I don't believe so, no.

   18        Q   Were  you  aware  in the  period  November-December

   19  1996,  through any source, MTS or your clients, that MTS  had

   20  undertaken  that any  initial surplus  would not  be used to

   21  reduce  MTS's  cost or  share  of contributions  to  the  new

   22  pension plan?

   23        A   I don't recall being aware of that. [V8 Sept. 11 p. 18] 

295. Restall, Praznik, Trach and Ellement all rely on the MTS undertaking to inform their understanding of what was agreed to on November 7, 1996.  

296. Ellement’s interpretation three years later is simply a refinement on how the account should be organized and operate to achieve the objective of the MOA and also maintain MTS’ promise to not use the initial surplus to reduce its costs.  Ellement’s understanding of what was agreed to has never changed or evolved.  What changed was his knowledge of how the COLA Account was actually functioning to defeat the purpose of the MOA and how it could best be arranged to accomplish the objective of the MOA.  

297. It is crucial to understand that if the COLA Account was organized as it should have been from Day One (all COLA assets and debits in one place) [Exhibit 33], the initial surplus would not have been used up to the benefit of MTS and would have been available, plus interest, to improve benefits.  In other words, it would have grown until it was applied during a period when there was a surplus in the plan as a whole.  That is exactly what happened with the other part of the initial surplus that remained in the CSSA January 1, 1997.  It grew, unused by the employer, until it was transformed into a significant benefit improvement in the summer of 2000.  The application of that surplus did not create an unfunded liability in the CSSF and it did not increase the liabilities of the government.    

298. The Plaintiffs’ position on the MOA, simplified to its very essence, as stated by Restall, is that the initial surplus was employee money to be used for benefit improvements (including higher COLA) only.  The mechanics of how this was to be accomplished are not part of the MOA. 

299. Essentially, the Plaintiffs wanted the initial surplus to become a benefit improvement in the same way that surplus in the Old Plan transformed into a benefit improvement; sometimes at no cost to the employer. 

MTS Para. 535 - Is the MOA a Complete Agreement?
300. There is no disagreement amongst the witnesses about the objective of the MOA.  The MTS representation to not use the initial surplus is also clear.  The MOA is not a detailed document, but what flows out of the MOA is the right to the employees to obtain additional benefits from the $43.4 M that goes into the COLA Account.  It was an obligation on the part of MTS to set up a regime to let that happen.  MTS failed miserably in that regard and even if it took three years to figure it out, the end result is MTS failed.

301. The Plaintiffs and MTS appear to be in agreement that the MOA does not detail how the COLA Account would function and whether or not the 20 year pre-funding rule would apply.  That is an equivalency issue.    

302. Thus to the extent that the MOA is not complete, section 15(2) of the Act requiring equivalency fills the void. 

MTS Para. 538 - MTS Interpretation of Paragraph 3 of the MOA

303. MTS asserts that McInnes’ and Williams’ interpretation is the appropriate one.  Firstly, it is a statutory interpretation.  Secondly, MTS criticizes Ellement for not being involved in the negotiation process leading up to the MOA execution and therefore disregards his interpretation.  Yet, Williams and McInnes both were using their own interpretation without regard to any discussions that took place on November 7, 1996, or without even talking to the parties who were negotiating the agreement.  [V37, p. 84-85, l. 1-25]  Consequently, their interpretation is of no moment.  Clearly their interpretation was reconstructed after the fact.
MTS Para. 540 - Does the Plaintiffs’ Interpretation Favour Retirees?
304. MTS asserts that Ellement was in a conflict of interest by suggesting that the $43.4 M would be used without regard to the 20 year pre-funding rule, as it favours current retirees only, not those who paid the $43.4 M surplus into the New Plan and who have yet to retire.

305. This assertion is offensive.  First of all, the retirees assisted in paying part of the $43.4 M.  Secondly, all the money is used for retirees; it is not used for employees.  Thirdly, there was no issue as to the money being used right away.  It would be predicated upon the wishes of the plan members as presented by the Pension Committee employee / retiree group which includes three employee representatives to one retiree representative.  

306. In any event, the point is redundant because if the COLA Account was organized properly the 20 year pre-funding test would have been met after the first year (Exhibit 33 and Plaintiffs Written Argument paras 561-572).  

MTS Para. 541 - Levy Model

307. MTS recites FitzGerald’s assertion that the New Plan could not be administered in accordance with the Levy model.

308. The Plaintiffs reject that assertion out of hand.  Levy’s evidence is clear in that regard and very simply stated.  It is not about capturing the individual surplus of each plan member, but rather about tracking surplus in its totality.  Ellement did it in Exhibit 34.  Levy lucidly and quite convincingly articulated his methodology in Exhibit 40, paragraphs 16-31.  [V21, Oct. 7/08, p. 42, l. 24-34; p. 43-47]
309. Furthermore, FitzGerald’s comments ought to be totally disregarded because he did not understand the Levy model.  In that regard, see Exhibit 41 Levy’s Report, paragraphs 37-38.  [V21, Oct. 7/08, p. 75, l. 24-34; p. 76-77, l. 1]
310. As FitzGerald admitted,
   24        Q     Okay.     Lastly,   sir,  were   you  --   I,  I,  I  think

   25  you've   agreed  in,  in  terms   of the  exchange    of reports   that

   26  when  --  your  initial   understanding    of  Mr.  Levy's   model  of,

   27  of   separating    out   surplus   contributed     by  the   employees

   28  versus   that  contributed    by   MTS  presumed   that   there  was   a

   29  requirement for matching.

   30        A     Yes.

   31        Q     And,  and  that,   that  you  know  now  that   that's  not

   32  the case.

   33              MR.  OLSON:    Sorry,  but  that  wasn't   in  the Levy   --

   34  I don't understand it.
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    1  BY MR. MERONEK:

    2        Q     That,  that   Mr. Levy's   evidence   is  that  that's  not

    3  what he was --

    4        A     Oh.

    5        Q     -- portraying in his model.

    6        A     I understand he said that, yes.

    7        Q     And   that  he   wasn't   suggesting    that   there  be   a

    8  separate account for regulatory or filing purposes?

    9        A     Agreed.

   10        Q     And,  and  that  he  was  attempting   to  set  up a  model

   11  not unlike a notional account?

   12        A     Right.

   13        Q     Okay.

   14        A     Yeah.

   15        Q     And  were  you  aware,  sir,   that,  that  all  of  the  --

   16  that,   that    the   employees    wanted   was   that    there   be   a

   17  segregation    globally    in   terms   of   the   surplus   that   was

   18  contributed     by  their    contributions     versus   that    of  the

   19  employer's?

   20        A     Yes.

   21        Q     And they didn't want to use -- they didn't want to

   22  have any control over the employer surplus.  Correct?

   23        A     I, I thought that what was put in the MTS plan was

   24  in effect a continuation --

   25        Q     My question --

   26        A     -- of the --

   27        Q     --  is  were  you   aware  that   the  employees   did  not

   28  want to -- were not suggesting that they should exercise any

   29  control    over   surplus    contributed     as   a   result   of   MTS

   30  contributions?

   31        A     I, I was -- I'm not aware of any such.

   32        Q     All right.  And were you aware, sir, that what the

   33  employees   wanted   was  in  relationship    to  surplus   associated

   34  with  their  contributions,     that  they  would  have  a  say  in how
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    1  that, that surplus was used.

    2        A     I,  I  don't   know  that   I  have  the   information    on

    3  what the employees wanted. [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 38, l. 24-34; p. 39-40, l. 1-3]
MTS Paras. 542-545 - Adverse Inference

311. MTS argues that this Court should draw an adverse inference from the fact that the Plaintiffs failed to call three signatories to the MOA; namely, Hadfield of CEP, Hales of TEAM, and Nyhof of IBEW.  MTS submits that their evidence, if called, would have supported MTS' interpretation of the MOA.

312. Firstly, the Plaintiffs did not call these witnesses because of redundancy.  Their evidence would have reflected an understanding of the MOA that the Plaintiffs had already presented to the Court.  Furthermore, all of the Plaintiffs had agreed to be bound by Restall's discovery evidence in any event. 

313. The whole issue of calling redundant witnesses with respect to the interpretation of the MOA was initially canvassed by the Court as follows:

   14        Q   Had  there  been  discussions between  Mr.  Restall

   15  and  Mr.  Fraser with  respect to  the privatization  in  the

   16  pension plan prior to November 5th?

   17        A   Yes.

   18        Q   And  what, what were you  aware of with respect to

   19  those discussions?

   20        A   I  understood that  in the meeting  that Harry  had

   21  with him, that they discussed the --

   22            THE  COURT:  You see, we've had this evidence  from

   23  the  main source.   I don't  know what purpose  it serves  to

   24  have  it  come  by  way  of  hearsay  evidence  through this

   25  witness.   I  mean, it's  the same  evidence, presumably, as

   26  we've  already heard, and while I permitted evidence of what

   27  was  your understanding about certain issues and what was on

   28  the  table because  of involvement in group  meetings and so

   29  forth,  I think  this is  going just  one step  farther than

   30  that,  and unless  you can  persuade me there's  a reason to

   31  reintroduce  evidence in this fashion,  I would, I would  say

   32  that it shouldn't be adduced, Mr. --

   33            MR.  SAXBERG:  That's fine.  And maybe I'll  short-

   34  circuit  things a  bit.   I'm simply  trying  to elicit from
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    1  this  witness  his  understanding of  some  of  the critical

    2  issues  that were in play before  he gave TEAM's consent  and

    3  agreement to the November 7 agreement.

    4            THE COURT:  Mr. Olson.

    5            MR.  OLSON:  Thank  you, My Lord.   I just rise on

    6  this  point because there has been  a commitment given by my

    7  learned  friends that all of the Plaintiffs are bound by  Mr.

    8  Restall's  evidence,  and  the difficulty  with  asking  each

    9  individual  plaintiff  whether  -- what  their  understanding

   10  was  if something comes out  different than that, then  we've

   11  got  a  problem.  But  that commitment  was made  during  the

   12  discovery process.

   13            THE  COURT:  I  mean, and that's, that's  certainly

   14  not,  that's certainly not a concern.  But, but as I say, if

   15  you  -- asking, asking Mr.  Trach about his understanding of

   16  the  issues I  think is,  I think  is appropriate.   I  mean,

   17  that's  why  he's, that's  why  he's here,  and you  want to

   18  support,  to some extent, some of the evidence.  But, but to

   19  say,  ask him what,  you know,  what discussions Mr.  Restall

   20  had   with  Mr.  Fraser,  that's  specifically,  when   we've

   21  already  had that  evidence first  hand from  Mr. Restall,  I

   22  don't think serves any purpose.

   23            MR.  SAXBERG:   And I think I  understand what  you

   24  mean, My Lord.  [V4, Sep. 5/08, p. 42-43]

314. Secondly, and perhaps more importantly, the Plaintiffs did not call these witnesses based on an understanding reached between counsel and the court during trial, which is reflected in the following exchanges regarding Nyhof:

        MR.  MERONEK:      I  just   wanted   to,  to  bring   this

    5  issue  up,  My  Lord; you  will  recall  that,  I  believe, in  open

    6  court  and   in chambers  we  indicated  that  we  weren't  calling

    7  witnesses   that  related   to  the  November   7 meeting   because   we

    8  had  bound   ourselves   by   what  was  stated   by  Mr.   Restall   in

    9  his examination for discovery.

   10              Just  don't  want   it to  be  looked  at  later  on  as  us

   11  not   calling    somebody   we   ought   to   have   called   in  that

   12  regard.

   13              THE  COURT:    I  think  the  better   time  to  remind   me

   14  of  that  is  at  the  end.    I mean,   if  that's  --  I  don't  know

   15  what agreements were reached, et cetera, and --

   16              MR.  OLSON:    It's   not  an  agreement,    My Lord.     In

   17  fact --

   18              MR. MERONEK:  Well --

   19              MR.  OLSON:    --  I've  alerted   my  learned   friend   to

   20  --  I  may  argue  or  I  may  not  argue,  at  the  end  of  the  day ,

   21  that  inferences    should   be  drawn  from   who  he  called  or  who

   22  he didn't call.

   23              MR.  MERONEK:     Well,  it,  certainly,    as  it  relates

   24  to Mr. Nyhof, I think Mr. Olson can concede that.

   25              THE  COURT:    Well,   I think   that's   something   that,

   26  I  think   that's   something    that   counsel   have   to,   have   to

   27  resolve between yourselves.

   28              MR.  MERONEK:    We ll,  then,  we  may  not be  finished  ,

   29  but  I  mean,   the  point   is  that   we,  we  clearly   stated,    in

   30  open   court,    at  Mr.   Olson's    request,    Why  are   we   going

   31  through   this?     And   we  indicated    we  weren't   going   to   be

   32  calling    Mr.  Nyhof,   and   Your   Lordship    indicated    that   we

   33  wouldn't   --  if you're   just  going  to  be  reiterating   the  same

   34  thing   and   you're    going   to   be   bound   by   Mr.   Restall's
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    1  remarks,   then   what's   the  point?    And   we  agreed   that  that

    2  was  the  case.    So,  I don't   want  to  be,  now,  saddled  with  a

    3  situation    where   someone   says,   Well,   you   didn't  call  Mr.

    4  Nyhof.

    5              I  think   that's,   I  think   that's   totally    unfair ,

    6  and,  you  know,   we  may  have  to  call   somebody   if,  if  that's

    7  going to be the case.  Maybe we'll do it in rebuttal.

    8              But   I,  I  clearly  understand    that  that   was  the

    9  arrangement in court.

   10              THE COURT:  Well, this is with respect to the --

   11              MR. MERONEK:  Mr. Nyhof.

   12              THE  COURT:     And   his,   and  the  evidence    that   he

   13  would provide --

   14              MR. MERONEK:  Yes, because --

   15              THE COURT:  -- relating to the --

   16              MR. MERONEK:  -- we had him scheduled --

   17              THE  COURT:    --  November   7th  agreement,   memorandum

   18  of agreement?

   19              MR. MERONEK:  Yes, My Lord.

   20              THE COURT:  Mr. Olson?

   21              MR.  OLSON:     My  Lord,  we  should   probably    address

   22  this  Tuesday   morning,    rather  than   doing  it  on  the   record,

   23  and  Mr.  Meronek   and  I will  have   a chat  about   it.   He  and  I

   24  obviously     have   a   different     recollection     of   what   the

   25  discussion was between us.

   26              THE   COURT:     I  mean,   ultimately  ,  we  can,   we'll

   27  have  to  go  back   to  the,  to  the  record,   if  that's   what   we

   28  have to do.

   29              I  mean,    I  recall,   I  recall    that   issue   being

   30  raised,   generally  speaking,   but  I'll   be  honest  with   you,  I

   31  mean,  I  don't  have as  specific   a recollection    as  I may  need

   32  to have, so we'll deal with it on Tuesday.

   33              We'll   adjourn   for  the  day,  and   let  me  just  take

   34  this   opportunity    to   wish  everybody    a   happy   Thanksgiving
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    1  weekend.

    2              MR. MERONEK:  Thank you, My Lord.

    3              MR. OLSON:  Go, Bombers.

    4              THE COURT:  Yes, and that, too.

    5              THE  CLERK:     Order,   all  rise;  court  is  adjourned

    6  until Tuesday.

    7  

    8                    (PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED)  [V24, Oct. 10/08, p. 90]

        MR.  OLSON:   That's  satisfactory,  My Lord.   My

    4  understanding,  the Plaintiffs  have closed  their case  with

    5  the  exception of Singleton and any reduction from the  draft

    6  that they had prepared (inaudible).

    7            MR.  MERONEK:  That's correct, My Lord.  We,  we're

    8  not  calling Mr. Nyhof who was on the list and Mr. Olson  and

    9  I  had  sorted  out  that  there  will  not  be  any  adverse

   10  inference  brought by virtue of the  fact that he was on  the

   11  list and is not being called.  (Emphasis added.)  [V25, Oct. 14/08, p. 2]

315. Finally, it is trite law to say that there is no property in witnesses.  If MTS was truly of the view that the evidence of these witnesses would have supported its interpretation of the MOA, MTS could have called them.  Alternatively, MTS could have called other witnesses, such as Stefanson, to challenge the Plaintiffs’ interpretation of the MOA.

316. Indeed, the Plaintiffs submit that, if an adverse inference is to be drawn, it could be against MTS for failing to call these or other witnesses, a proposition equally supported by all of the authorities on which MTS relies for suggesting an adverse inference should be drawn against the Plaintiffs.

MTS Paras. 546-549 - MTS Mischaracterizes Corp’s Evidence

317. MTS says that the Plaintiffs’ position that there was some reasonable expectation that the COLA Account would produce COLA awards above the minimum guarantee is contradicted by the evidence of Corp, that it was not an expectation, but a “hope”. 

318. Fraser and Solman each testified that the “object” of the MOA was to achieve a benefit for employees by virtue of higher COLA awards than would have been the case otherwise.  (See paras 481-483 of the Plaintiffs’ Written Argument).  Designing a COLA Account that makes that impossible, defeats the very object of the MOA. 

319. MTS’ February 19, 1997 briefing Memo [AD 813 p. 01730] references the “potential” (not the hope) for full cost of living adjustments as a result of the allocation of the initial surplus to the COLA Account.  

320. MTS has spun Corp’s evidence to exaggerate the distinction between a hope and an expectation.  Corp testified as follows: 

          Q   With   respect  to  paragraph   3,  what  did  you

   24  understand that to mean?

   25        A   Well,  that MTS would provide a guaranteed cost of

   26  living  -- minimum  cost of living  adjustment of two-thirds

   27  of  CPI up  to a maximum  CPI of 4  percent, but there  would

   28  also  be  a cost  of living  adjustment account  which  would

   29  receive  the initial surplus from the CSSF, and based on  the

   30  position  of that  account, it might  be able to  be used  to

   31  provide   for higher  cost  of  living  increases   than  the

   32  minimum guaranteed. [V8 p. 22] 

Q   Did  you understand what, if anything, the  initial

   34  surplus was going to pay for?
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    1        A   The  initial surplus  would go into the  -- a cost

    2  of  living adjustment account and, and would be used to fund

    3  not  only the  minimum cost  of living  adjustment but  maybe

    4  other  higher cost  of  living adjustments  or other  benefit

    5  improvements.  [Corp V8 p. 24-25] 
Q   What  rate  of  interest  did   you understand  or

   16  assume would be applied to the COLA account?

   17        A   I  assumed that the rate  of interest would be the

   18  rate earned by the fund.

   19        Q   Were  you ever advised by  MTS or its actuary that

   20  it was crediting the account with CANSIM?

   21        A   No.

   26  

   27  BY MR. SAXBERG:

   28        Q   Would  that  have been  important  information  for

   29  you to know?

   30        A   Yes, it would.

   31        Q   How so?

   32        A   Because   CANSIM   is   a   relatively  short-term

   33  interest  rate which is  going to be lower  in the long term

   34  than a rate of return -- a fund rate of return.
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    1        Q   Would  that have any effect on your  understanding,

    2  as  you previously described it, of what the initial  surplus

    3  was to do in the COLA account?

    4        A   Obviously,  the   COLA  account would   grow  at  a

    5  slower  rate  if  it's being  credited  with CANSIM  than it

    6  would  if it was using the fund rate of return over the long

    7  term. [Corp V8 pp. 26-27]
      Q   You   indicated  earlier  what  you  believed   the

    9  initial  surplus would pay for.  Did you have an  expectation

   10  or  an understanding at  the time as  to whether the  initial

   11  surplus  would result in  COLA higher than  the minimum COLA

   12  that MTS was guaranteeing?

   13        A   I  think that,  that with the  initial transfer of

   14  surplus  into  the, into  the cost  of living  account, then

   15  there's  more likelihood  of higher COLA  increases than the

   16  minimum guarantee. [Corp V8 p. 27]

        Q   And  I'm  --  the question  I'm having  is  --  I'm

   23  asking  is that  on day  one of  the plan,  being January 1,

   24  1997,  did you  have an  expectation or  understanding as to

   25  whether  there would be funds in  the COLA account in excess

   26  of,  of what  was needed  to  provide for COLA,  the  minimum

   27  COLA?

   28        A   No,  I, I  don't  think I had  an expectation.    I

   29  think  what we were  trying to do was  to establish the COLA

   30  account  in a way which would provide obviously the minimum,

   31  but  also  if there  was  sufficient  assets, that  it  would

   32  provide  more.  I don't believe  it's fair to say I  expected

   33  there  to be more, but I think  it's fair to say that we  set

   34  it up in the hope that there would be more.  [Corp V8 p. 28]

321. Corp was not at the legislature on November 7 and was not involved in any of the negotiations, directly or indirectly.  MTS says that “unlike Ellement, Corp gave advice to Hadfield, one of the signatories to the MOA, prior to signing”.  Corp was only speculating that he spoke to Ms Hadfield because he does not think “she’d have signed without discussing it.”  

322. Corp’s evidence follows:
    7        Q   Did  she communicate to  you her understanding  of,

    8  of what this document was accomplishing?

    9        A   I,  I think she must have done.   I, I say I  think

   10  I  spoke  to her  because I  don't  think she'd  have signed

   11  without discussing it with me first.

   12        Q   Okay.   But  you don't have  -- or do  you have  an

   13  independent recollection of what she told you?

   14        A   No, I don't.  [V 8 p 22]

323. Corp’s timesheets are AD 660.  They do not show an entry for November 7 relating to a discussion with Hadfield about the MOA.  He was only speculating and has no recollection of such a discussion.  

MTS Para. 551 - MTS States that it Incorporated the MOA into the Plan Text

324. Section 15.7 does incorporate the guarantee; however, that section was in the plan months before the negotiations over the initial surplus on November 7 occurred. 

325. Section 15.4 incorporates the 20 year pre-funding test into the operation of the COLA Account.  This provision was also in the plan text long before the events of November 7 and the execution of the MOA.  The second sentence in the MOA does not say anything about 20 year pre-funding.  It says: “However, if the cost of living adjustment account in any particular year is able to fund a higher increase, then a higher increase would be given for that year.” 

326. Clearly, sec. 15(4) has nothing to do with the second sentence in paragraph 3. 

327. All of the witnesses agreed that 20 year pre-funding was not discussed on November 7.  MTS did not disclose to the Plaintiffs that the initial surplus could only be accessed for improved COLA or benefits if the 20 year pre-funding test was met.  That would have been a very important piece of information on the night of November 7.  MTS had a positive duty to disclose this restriction so that the Plaintiffs’ would be aware of what MTS was planning.  The 20 year test had never applied as a restriction to transforming employee surplus into a benefit improvement in the Old Plan.
328. Ellement testified that he should have insisted (in Nov/Dec 1996) that there be an offsetting liability (a reserve, for future COLA awards above the guarantee) related to the initial surplus.  This offset would have ensured that MTS could not use the initial surplus to reduce its obligations.  It would have ensured that the initial surplus went to the benefit of employees.  Fox agreed, saying that would have been helpful.  [V19 pp. 81-82].  

329. The fact the recommendation was not made, does not evidence a contrary intention with respect to the use of the initial surplus.  It was a mistake that arose in part because MTS was not forthcoming with information about the operation of the COLA Account. 

330. Section 16.7(c) deals with the placement of the initial surplus in the COLA Account and in this respect accords with the MOA.  However, sec. 16(a) and (b) are not related to the MOA in that the composition of the COLA Account and the mechanics of how it would work were not discussed on November 7.  The Plaintiffs say that the COLA Account should have housed all of the assets earmarked for COLA in the New Plan.  Crediting assets that were much lower than the assets needed for COLA in the New Plan meant that the initial surplus would be “eaten into” rather than grow. 

331. Section 16.11 does not duplicate the fourth sentence of paragraph 3 in the MOA.  It says that if there is a surplus in the COLA Account it will be deemed to be allocated to other purposes of the fund.  The MOA states that “if sufficient additional assets exist in the account beyond those required for the stated COLA increase for a particular year then pension benefits may be increased…”  There is nothing in sec. 16.11 dealing with this aspect.
MTS Paras. 554-556 - Ellement Not Satisfied that the MOA Incorporated into Text
332. Contrary to MTS’ assertion, Ellement did not give up on his fight to attempt to understand the application of the MOA to the plan text.  Firstly, the MOA certainly was referenced in the plan text; of that there is no dispute.  However, its operation and the proper and effective mechanism for achieving the objective of greater than 2/3 of 4% in terms of COLA increases or other benefits through the use of the $43.4 M, was never articulated by MTS, notwithstanding Ellement’s constant expression of concerns to both Williams and Solman, and to his own clients.  His evidence is clear and unassailable.  Consider the following:

(a)
At no time did Ellement understand that the employee surplus would be used to defray the costs of MTS.  At all times, his thinking was the employees’ surplus was in a safekeeping place in the COLA Account, both from his own understanding and from the dissertations received from the ERPC.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 29, l. 14-25]
(b)
He remained concerned with respect to the funding of the COLA Account and whether it should include normal costs.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 31, l. 5-34; p. 32, l. 1-23] (AD 481, item 18) (14943)

(c)
He continued to be concerned about the assets being available for top up of indexing to 100% and in MTS not reallocating the assets in the COLA Account to other core assets.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 33, l. 13-34] (AD 481) (14943 & 14944)

(d)
He was visualizing substantial growth in the assets, as the plan rate of return was 8%, so that with normal costs and an interest rate of the plan rate of return, there would be large growth.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 34, l. 1-15]

(e)
He recorded on December 2, 1996 in AD 540 the undertaking of Williams, that Williams would look into the funding of indexing in relation to the basic accounts to see of any changes were needed to ensure the COLA Account kept sufficient assets to meet 100% of inflation, not just 2/3.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 40, l. 3-34; p. 41, l. 1-21]
(f)
Notwithstanding his request, in MTS’ letter of December 2, 1996 (AD 542), there was no response to Ellement’s concerns with respect to the amounts allocated to and the funding of the COLA Account.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 46, l. 30-34; p. 47, l. 1-24]
(g)
On or about December 6, 1996, Ellement had a conversation, whereby he reiterated his concerns to Williams about normal costs going into the COLA Account and liabilities associated with the COLA assets being identified in the account.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 48, l. 1-34; p. 49, l. 1-8] (AD 558)
(h)
There was a further iteration by Williams that he would look into the whole issue of the funding of the COLA Account.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 50, l. 29-34; p. 51] (AD 560) (07978)
(i)
Ellement remained concerned that there was an avoidance of the issue and a concern that there was an intent on the part of MTS to keep assets out of the COLA Account and only to recognize certain assets without any hope of meeting the 20 year pre-funding.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 52, l. 1-20]
(j)
Ellement never received a response from MTS or Williams with respect to his concerns as to what goes into the COLA Account in terms of assets.  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 66, l. 4-16]
(k)
Ellement gave up pursuit to the answer of normal costs going into the COLA Account because the MOA was not going away; it had to be complied with.  He stated:
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    1       A      Well,   I  guess   to  some   extent   we're   running    up

    2  against   the  stone  wall  but,  in  any  event,  16.7,   the  changes

    3  --  the,  the  more  detailed   specific   change  that  we  wanted   to

    4  see  with  respect   to  the  employee   surplus   going  in  there   is

    5  that  it  would  pull  in,  it  would  pull  in  the  item  number  two

    6  and  number  three   of the  MOA  and  I  guess  I,  I came  around   to

    7  the  feeling   that  the  MOA  is not  going  to  go  away,  you  still

    8  have to respect the MOA.

    9              I would have preferred to have it in the way I had

   10  suggested    because   then   it  makes   it  much   clearer   for  the

   11  reader   but  not  referencing    the  MOA  seemed   to  be  something

   12  that  you  can't   --  like,  you   can't  avoid   it,  it  doesn't   go

   13  away.

   14              And  at  the  same  time,  I,  I would   have  to say  that

   15  we  are  trying  to  narrow   the  focus  to  try  and  get  something

   16  that's   agreeable   but   the  key  issues   of  surplus   governance

   17  remained.

   18       Q      Why   are   you   not  making    specific    reference    to

   19  putting normal costs into the COLA account?

   20       A      I guess even with that, if -- and the, the company

   21  with  the  control   over  the  plan  still  had  the  wherewithal    to

   22  put it in there and if you, if you, if you read, if you read

   23  Section 5.9 ...

   24       Q      We  could   maybe   look   to  that   section.     It's   in

   25  agreed   document   711.     And  if  you  reference    computer   page

   26  number 00057.

   27       A      Yes.

   28       Q      In,  in  reference    to  that  section,    what  are  you,

   29  what are you saying?

   30       A      Well,   I   said   earlier   that,    that   the  company,

   31  through   its  discretionary    control   over  the  text,   still  had

   32  the  ability,    based  on   the  words   in  the  text,   to  put  the

   33  normal cost in there.  If you read Section 5.9, it says:

   34  
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    1                    "An  amount   equal   to  no   less  than

    2                    10.2%    of   Required    Contributions

    3                    made hereunder ..."

    4  

    5  Et cetera.

    6  

    7                    "...   (will)   be   allocated    to  the

    8                    Pension        Benefit        Adjustment

    9                    Account."

   10  

   11              The   corresponding    part   to   that   is  s. 12   and   it

   12  matches it so because it says no less than that number could

   13  have,   for  example,   been   doubled   to  20.4  and  automatically

   14  s. 12  would   require   a  matching   amount   on  the  company's   side

   15  and  you   would  have   the  normal   costs   going  into,   into  the

   16  indexing account.

   17  

   18  BY MR. MERONEK   :

   19       Q      Are  you  being  told,   at this  time,   that  there  will

   20  be no more than 10.2 percent being credited to that account?

   21       A      No.

   22       Q      Okay.

   23       A      What we're being told is have a little faith.

   24       Q      In what sense?

   25       A      Well,  the  --  many  of  the,  many  of  the  sections   of

   26  the  plan   text  can   be  interpreted   one   way  or,  or  another.

   27  There   was   a  certain    amount   of   ambiguity    and  you   could

   28  interpret   it   to  mean  that   the  company   would   do  the  thing

   29  that we wanted them to do.

   30       Q      At  the  end  of the  day  you  received   the  final  plan

   31  text  which  is  agreed   document   711  and did  it  alleviate   your

   32  concerns with respect to a surplus in governance?

   33       A      No.  [Emphasis added]  [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 67-68, l. 1-33]

(l)
There was still little understanding as to the account when Ellement makes note of same on March 21, 1997 (AD 863).  [V12, Sep. 18/08, p. 23, l. 16-34; p. 24, l. 1-24]
(m)
Ellement subsequently further indicates that the Plaintiffs have been told that they should have faith when MTS said it will not be using the future surplus to its advantage.  [V12, Sep. 18/08, p. 24, l. 23-34; p. 25, l. 1-16]
333. The COLA Account as the experience unfolded, is a sinkhole regardless of Ellement’s understanding of the operation of the account.  That is a fact.

   31        Q     But  if  -- when  you  say  debits   and  credits,   if the

   32  hundred   and  thirty-eight   million   wasn't   in there   and  if the

   33  normal   costs   weren't,   weren't   in  there,   then   you  say  the

   34  initial    account   couldn't    be  used  to   fund   not  only   the
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    1  minimum COLA but other, higher COLA?

    2        A     Correct.  Well, it was a sinkhole; we know that.

    3        Q     I'm sorry?

    4        A     The,  the  account   that  was   set  up was   virtually   a

    5  sinkhole.     Why  would   you  put   your  money   into  an  account,

    6  why  would  you   put  43 million   dollars   into  an  account   which

    7  you,  you  knew  was doomed   from  day  one?   Like,  everybody  has
    8  admitted   that.    The  wherewithal   was   to --  there   to keep   it

    9  going, but it didn't happen.  [Emphasis added]  [V14, Sep. 22/08, p. 88-89]
334. In any event, Ellement indicates in retrospect that he should have insisted in setting up a liability in the account; in other words, the $750 M in liabilities was deficient by $43.4 M and with the way it was structured and with MTS’ discretionary control, the $43.4 M vanished.  [V14, Sep. 22/08, p. 93, l. 22-34; p. 94, l. 1-7]
335. In December 1996, Ellement was of the belief that the $43.4 M was being used for increases above the 2/3 of 4% guarantee, because it was made clear by the Plaintiffs that it would be used for improvement of benefits beyond what they already had.  Most of the other changes to the Plan text were “window dressing”.  It was made clear that the issue of initial surplus and ongoing surpluses remained and the employees wanted to ensure that their initial surplus would be for improving benefits beyond what they had.  The ability to structure the COLA Account with debits and credits was never dropped.  [V14, Sep. 22/08, p. 102-103]
336. Even Williams acknowledged that Ellement was trying to understand funding of the COLA Account and was making suggestions for funding changes.  He acknowledges that Ellement’s position was that there should be normal costs for benefits determined.  [V37, Oct. 28/08, p. 97, l. 1-19; p. 100, l. 14-26]
337. He admits that Ellement was still trying to determine how the COLA Account was being funded on December 6, 1996 [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 2, l. 20-34; p. 3] and that Ellement’s concern about surplus in sec. 16.11 of the New Plan above the 20 year pre-funding was a discrete concern as per AD 552 [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 5, l. 2-12].  Williams also acknowledged that, as of December 9, 1996, Ellement was advised by Williams that sec. 5.11 and 5.12 of the Plan text would be looked at to see if any changes were needed in light of the determination of surplus in the account.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 7, l. 12-34]  He acknowledges that Ellement was concerned about how the COLA Account was going to work.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 9-10, l. 1-14]  He further acknowledges that there was not a meeting of the minds.  Ellement had one perception and Williams another.  [V38, Oct. 29/08. p. 12, l. 1-19]  He further admits that there were no discussions about the question of interest or lump sums and Williams never volunteered the issue that CANSIM was being used or that lump sums would be having an impact on the COLA Account.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 12, l. 22-34; p. 13-14, l. 1-11]
338. Williams admits that there is nothing in the response by MTS of December 20, 1996 (AD 637) which talks about sec. 5.9 or 5.12 of the Plan text and in particular Ellement’s concerns.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 14, l. 17-34; p. 15-16, l. 1-17]  In any event, Williams admitted that there was no correspondence from MTS from this point in time on or that MTS’ position was going to change in any event.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 18, l. 30-34; p. 19, l. 1-33]
339. Williams testified that Ellement never communicated that he was satisfied with the position being advanced by MTS with respect to funding; it was just an assumption on Williams’ part.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 19, l. 34; p. 20, l. 1-11]  Williams further acknowledged that Ellement, on July 23, 1997, in AD 521 is questioning the 20 year pre-funding.  [V38, Oct. 29/08, p. 20, l. 12-27]
340. The Plaintiffs continued to be in hot pursuit of the issue of indexing.  Once the evidence unfolded in terms of normal costs in 1998, lump sums in 2000 and the operation of the COLA Account in 2000, there was a full treatise on the subject prepared on June 14, 2000, by the Plaintiffs and conveyed to MTS in AD 1040.  [V15, Sep. 23/08, p. 28, l. 9-34; p. 29, l. 1-4]

MTS Para. 561 - Ellement and Corp Objected to the Credits and Debits in the COLA Account
341. MTS is wrong that Ellement and Corp never objected to the way the COLA Account was set up.  Ellement raised “red flags” about the operation of the COLA Account immediately after receiving the plan text in November 1996.  In his December 9, 1996 memo to the ERPC Ellement warned that MTS appeared to be arranging the COLA Account in a manner “to avoid the 20 year pre-funding in the Account being met.”  [AD 560 p. 07978]  Corp testified that he agreed with all of the recommendations made by Ellement during the review of the plan text. 
342. See the Plaintiffs’ Written Submission paras 526-536 for an accurate chronology of when the Plaintiffs learned of the problems associated with the COLA Account and what they did about it.     

MTS Para. 565 - No Reference was Made to Arbitration Pursuant to the MOA 

343. MTS is suggesting there was no arbitration reference to Fox with respect to the meaning concerning paragraphs 2 and 3 and therefore, MTS’ interpretation is correct.  MTS says this omission should bar the Plaintiffs from seeking recourse in this Court.   

344. Immediately after Fox rendered his opinion on March 5, 1997, the Plaintiffs attempted to find out the basis behind Fox’s decision.  [AD 870] Singleton’s office stonewalled the Plaintiffs.  [AD 872] Restall recounted, at length, the steps he took to obtain the documentation from the Provincial Auditor.  [AD 916, 928, 932, 936]  When the documents were finally released in September and December of 2000 (after threat of legal action) the Plaintiffs discovered the Provincial Auditor’s interference, the unfair process and Fox’s lack of independence.  Fox and Singleton were then sued.  In these circumstances it was impossible to access the arbitration provisions in the MOA once the employees discovered the full extent of the problem with the COLA Account. 

345. It is bogus to suggest that the Plaintiffs would go back to Fox and complain about something that the Plaintiffs had already complained about, but to which they were denied access.  

346. MTS has not pled that the arbitration provision in the MOA removes this Court’s jurisdiction to deal with the MOA.  The issue was not raised as part of MTS’ application for summary judgment.  In fact, MTS represented to the Court that the dispute over the MOA was a legitimate dispute that would be going to trial in any event of the summary judgment motion.  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 2]
MTS Paras. 575-576 - Was COLA Account Agreed to?
347. MTS submits the Plaintiffs are looking for a “re-do” of what was agreed to years ago.  MTS says the COLA Account of which Ellement and Levy speak is not the COLA Account that was agreed to in the MOA.  But, there was no discussion of the composition of the account on November 7.  What was discussed is evident in the wording of the MOA.  In essence, the agreement says: MTS provides a minimum level of COLA, the initial surplus goes into the COLA Account, if there is more money in the account in a particular year then a higher COLA award is given; and if there is enough money in the account above the COLA award for a particular year benefits may be increased provided it does not create a deficit in the plan as a whole; all of which is consistent with the witnesses testimony that the object of the agreement is to provide a benefit to employees. 

348. If the MOA fails, the legislation still requires equivalency.  The issue of the initial surplus and whether it is a pension benefit for which there must be equivalent compensation in the form of a benefit improvement remains.  The COLA Account has to operate properly such as to provide a benefit from the initial surplus for there to be funding equivalency on Day One of the plan. 

MTS Paras. 577-580 - Did Restall Understand MTS’ Undertaking Concerning the Initial Surplus?
349. MTS suggests that Restall had no knowledge of what MTS was undertaking in the November 6 memo.  The assertion is utterly fallacious.  Restall did not testify that he did not understand what the undertaking was; he stated that he did not know what MTS’ funding obligations would be when the New Plan was constituted.  His complete evidence in context follows.
         Q   Yes.  I would -- my suggestion to you, sir, is

   20  you discussed a couple of things with Mr. Fraser.  First,

   21  that it wouldn't use any of that excess to reduce its

   22  payment in of its reserve, its pension reserve; and

   23  secondly, let me tell you both things and then we'll come

   24  back to them, that it would not reduce any obligations to

   25  fund that it had under the New Plan .

   26    A   Your first point is suggesting that Mr. Fraser

   27  had indicated that the excess or surplus would not be used

   28  to reduce their reserve coming over to the New Plan ?

   29    Q   Yes.

   30    A   I didn't have that conversation with him at all.

   31    Q   I see.  What about the second one, sir, that its

   32  funding obligations under the New Plan  would not be reduced

   33  or they wouldn't credit that amount against their funding

   34  obligations in some way.
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    1    A   Yes.  I believe we agreed on. [RV13 June 16 pp. 12-13] 

  Q   You had indicated in the third paragraph you had

   29  reviewed, with your actuary, your proposal relating to the

   30  use of the surplus.

   31    A   Yes.

   32    Q   Yes.  And we already covered this, but you

   33  discussed with him the proposal by MTS to place the excess

   34  into the adjustment account.
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    1    A   Yes.

    2    Q   And so to that extent, you had some discussion

    3  about funding; isn't that correct?

    4    A   I don't think you and I are on the same page.  In

    5  funding, my, my understanding of funding is, is

    6  contribution to pay for upcoming entitlements for plan

    7  members.  I think in here, if I understand you correctly,

    8  you, you're suggesting that the, that the placement of the

    9  excess or surplus in the indexing account is a -- is --

   10  makes up part of funding.  Our understanding of placing the

   11  excess in the indexing account was that it was surplus

   12  owned by plan members and was to be used for new benefits,

   13  new benefits only.

   14    Q   I see.  And is it your evidence then, that as of

   15  November 6 you did not know what MTS' funding obligations

   16  were under the proposed plan?

   17    A   I did not know, no.

   18    Q   So, when you saw this memo of November 6, under

   19  that heading, there's commentary that pensioners have

   20  expressed concerns the anticipated surplus in employee

   21  contributions to the CSSF may be used to finance MTS' share

   22  of funding obligations, you didn't even know what the

   23  funding obligations were?

   24    A   That's correct. . [RV13 June 16 pp. 13-14]
   Q   Sorry, before I go to the next heading, that next

   29  paragraph in between the one I just showed you and the

   30  heading of Governance refers to: The surplus will not be

   31  used to reduce MTS' cost or share of contributions to the

   32  new pension plan.  You had some understanding as to what

   33  MTS' cost or share of contributions were going to be to the

   34  new pension plan?
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    1    A   I don't know what he means by that.

350. Therefore, MTS is wrong to say that Restall did not understand what Fraser was undertaking not to do with the initial surplus.  Restall’s testimony is clear: Fraser never said the undertaking was that MTS would apply its full Reserve to the New Plan; Fraser and Restall agreed on the second aspect of the undertaking, that MTS would not credit the initial surplus against their funding obligations.  

351. Restall’s understanding of placing the excess in the COLA Account was that it was surplus owned by plan members and was to be used for new benefits, new benefits only.

352. Trach and TEAM had the same understanding of what MTS was undertaking.  Trach testified:

   20            What  did you  understand MTS  to be  promising in

   21  this   memorandum  with  respect  to  potential  surplus   of

   22  contributions?

   23        A   I  understood MTS to be promising that any su rplus

   24  that   was  above  the  liabilities  in  the  Civil   Service

   25  Superannuation  Fund  for  the  MTS  employees  and retirees

   26  would  not be utilized to pay down any of MTS'  contributions

   27  to the New Plan  or costs.

   28        Q   Did  TEAM rely on this memo in its negotiations  on

   29  November 7?

   30        A   Yes, we did. [V4 Sept. 5 p. 45]
353. Praznik had the same understanding.  [V5 p. 68]
354. MTS states that it was not possible for them to do anything other than count the initial surplus in the total plan assets in order to determine their contributions to the plan because there could only be “one account.”  This statement is wrong.  There can only be one trust fund, but their can be many accounts and accountings within the fund.  That was the case in the CSSF where there was only one trust fund but separate accounts and a separate accounting of the COLA funds from the basic benefits.  These accounts were notional rather than physically separate accounts.  MTS could have created a “reserve” or offsetting future liability for the initial surplus.  It could have accounted for the initial surplus such as to preserve it for the purpose in which it was designated and to ensure that MTS’ costs were not reduced. 

355. As Ellement testified,

   11       Q      Are  you  aware   of  any  prohibition    against   setting

   12  up  separate    accounts   such   as  are  found   in  the   CSSA  with

   13  respect to the indexing account and the core account?

   14       A      The  --  I have   -- I  am  a --  I'm  the  actuary   for  a

   15  number of plans that, that have an account set up similar to

   16  the   superannuation    adjustment    account,    they're   registered

   17  here in Manitoba and, in effect, those assets are separated.

   18  They're   commingled   for  investing   purposes   but  they  were  set

   19  aside.

   20              Now, the key difference between those accounts and

   21  the account that is here has got the word guarantee attached

   22  to  it  and   when  CRA   sees  that,   when   the  Pension   Benefits

   23  Standard   Act   people   see  that,   they  say   you  must  pre-fund

   24  those  obligations,    you  have  to  have  the  assets  there   today.

   25  So  that's   quite  a  different    situation   and  it  creates   some

   26  complications. [V11, Sep. 17/08, p. 56, l. 11-26]
   26        Q     All   right.     An d  can   we  agree ,   sir,  that   the

   27  valuation    of  the  adjustment    account   was   not  for  purposes

   28  subsequently,    was   not  for  purposes   of  determining    funding

   29  requirements    of  it,  but  rather   to determine    whether   or not

   30  more than two-thirds of CPI could be granted?

   31        A     My  understanding    of  the  account   is  that  what,   it

   32  was  not  pure   funding  and  I,  I,  agreed   to  that  in  terms   of

   33  the  reporting,    'cause   they   could  be  combined,    but  I  also

   34  indicated    that  the  adjustment    account   should,   should   have
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    1  its  proper   debits   and  credits,   and  it  could   achieve   that,

    2  and  you   could  have  a  surplus   in  one,   one  port ion,  and   a

    3  deficit   in  the   other   portion   and,  yes,   it  was   the  CRA's

    4  position they had to be reported together.  [V14, Sep. 22/08, p. 100, l. 26-34; p. 101, l. 1-4]

356. The Plaintiffs’ main argument is that MTS could simply have credited the COLA Account with all of the actual and existing credits and debits associated with COLA in the New Plan.  Doing so would have preserved the initial surplus and allowed it to grow.  In fact, it would have grown to the point of satisfying the 20 year pre-funding rule in 1998, at a time when the plan as a whole was in a surplus position.  [Exhibit 33]      

357. As indicated in the Plaintiffs’ Written Submission, Ellement did raise these concerns about the operation of the COLA Account in a timely fashion as the issues were disclosed and consistent with the Plaintiffs’ understanding of the objective of the MOA.  (See Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras 523 - 572.)
MTS Para. 581 - No Documentation
358. MTS repeats its rhetoric that there was no documentation prior to October 2000, that the $43 M initial surplus was to be excluded from any funding calculations and that the ITA requires that the initial surplus be part of the assets of the fund upon which the funding status is calculated.  MTS again is mistaken because there was documentation as of June 2000, with respect to a separate account (June 14, 2000) (AD 1040).

MTS Paras. 582-584 - Fraser’s Interpretation of MTS’ Committment Concerning Surplus

359. Fraser’s interpretation was that the committment by MTS was merely to transfer all the pension reserve fund into the New Plan.  It is a shameless manipulation of the truth.  The Plaintiffs were talking about the initial surplus coming over all along.  Their concern about the pension reserve fund being transferred as well was a separate and discrete item which was dealt with separately and discretely in MTS’ response.
360. It is incredulous that Fraser would invent this late interpretation when it had never been represented in any documentation despite many specific requests for clarification by the Plaintiffs.  Secondly, and more importantly, it is astonishing that Fraser could come up with an interpretation about a memo of which he has no recollection authoring or ever seeing (AD 434).
MTS Para. 588 - November 6, 1996 Memo

361. MTS asserts that the November 6, 1996 memo was merely an undertaking, a pre-negotiation statement which is unenforceable at law, and that the only way a pre-contractual statement will attract liability is if it falls within the tort of negligent misrepresentation, which MTS argues the Plaintiffs have not properly pled nor made out. 

362. MTS also relies on the fact that the November 6 Memo was not incorporated into the MOA to support its claim that the representations it contained were merely pre-contractual statements.  This is a ridiculous assertion, as the key for determining whether or not a pre-contractual statement is a representation is reliance, which is one of the elements of the tort of negligent misrepresentation:  Would the aggrieved party have otherwise entered into the contract but for the representations?

MTS Para. 590 - Elements of Misrepresentation

363. The Plaintiffs submit that, firstly, all of the elements of the tort of negligent misrepresentation, which were set out by the Supreme Court of Canada in The Queen v. Cognos (“Cognos”), [1993] 1 S.C.R. 87 [MTS Tab 44], have been properly pled and made out. 

1.
There must be a duty of care based on a “special relationship” between the representor and the representee.

364. MTS concedes that a duty of care may have existed between MTS and the ERPC; but in any event, the Plaintiffs have pleaded that MTS owed a “fiduciary duty” to the Plaintiffs to “exercise the utmost good faith in all dealings relating to the New Plan”.
365. The Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim states, at para. 48:

48.
The plaintiffs say that the funds in the new plan at all material times constituted and were the subject of a trust.  As administrator of the plan, MTS, is and was at all material times, the trustee of all contributions made for deposit into the new plan, whether made by the employee or MTS itself, and of the pension fund itself, and the employees and the former employees, as represented by the plaintiffs, were the beneficiaries of the trust.  In the circumstances, the plaintiffs say that MTS at all material times owed a fiduciary duty to the employees and the former employees, as represented by the plaintiffs, to exercise the utmost good faith in all dealings relating to the administration of the new plan in general and relating to the funds therein, in particular, including any and all surpluses.

2.
The representation must be untrue, inaccurate or misleading.

366. The Plaintiffs assert that MTS used pension funds to take contribution holidays, which it was not entitled to do, and that this amounted to a breach of the representation made in the November 6, 1996 memo and/or the MOA.

367. The Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim states, at para. 63:

63.   The plaintiffs say further that, in breach of the aforesaid representations and/or in breach of the November Agreement, MTS has used pension funds to take contribution holidays, which MTS was not entitled to do.

368. The Breach of the representation is best described by Levy in his Reply report at Exhibit  41 at para 36 as follows:
36.
In F8, Mr. FitzGerald’s reasoning is flawed. As demonstrated in L16-L34, the entire employee surplus was expropriated by MTS - the entire initial surplus was claimed by MTS, regardless of source. By definition, that money has been used to reduce the MTS cost for the post-privatization Plan. If the transfer from CSSA had been exactly half of the new plan’s actuarial liability (i.e., if there were no employee surplus), the new plan’s assets would have been lower by $49 million and MTS would be required to make larger contributions than it did. Because that $49 million was in fact transferred, those additional contributions are not required. If the employer contributes less because the employee surplus was transferred than if the employee surplus had not been transferred, I do not see how one can logically conclude that the employee surplus has not been used to reduce employer contributions or otherwise benefit the employer. In any event, if the $49 million employee surplus was not used for the employees in the past and has no way to be used by them in the future (which is clearly the case), it must have benefited MTS.

3.
The representor must have acted negligently in making the misrepresentation

369. While not specifically referenced in paragraph 63 of the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim, supra, the Plaintiffs have alleged that the representations were breached.  By implication, this would mean, at best, that the representor was acting negligently, if not fraudulently.

370. MTS’ representations were made carelessly and recklessly in light of the wording in the plan text at the time that the representations were made. They were obviously intended to be relied on by the employees.  

4.
The representee must have relied, in a reasonable manner, on the negligent misrepresentation

371. The Plaintiffs have pled not only that they were induced by the representations and assurances to enter into the MOA, but that both the government and MTS were aware.

372. The Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim states, at paras. 16(f) and (g):
16.(f)
The plaintiffs say that based upon the representations and assurances set out in paragraphs 16(d) and 16(e) above and induced thereby, on or about November 7, 1996, the plaintiffs agreed in writing with MTS and the Manitoba Government (the “November Agreement”):

…

16.(g)
The plaintiffs say that the Manitoba Government and MTS were aware, at all material times, that the plaintiffs would never have entered into the November Agreement, but for the representations and assurances contained in paragraphs 16(d) and 16(e) above.

5.
Reliance must have been detrimental to the representee in the sense that damages resulted

373. The Plaintiffs make very specific allegations as to the damage that resulted from the misrepresentations:

(a)
but for the breaches of the representations, there were sufficient assets in the COLA Account to fund COLA increases higher than 2/3 of 4 percent of CPI from 1997, pursuant to the MOA, but MTS has failed and or refused to do so;
(b)
the Plaintiffs’ $43.4 M, which was to be used to pay for COLA increases above two-thirds of CPI or to improve benefits, has been totally depleted by MTS to fund its financial obligations to the plan;

(c)
the $43.4 M has also been wrongfully used to calculate or trigger MTS’ entitlement to take contribution holidays pursuant to the plan text and the PBSA;

(d)
MTS has not allocated the appropriate funds to the COLA Account to afford the employees and former employees of MTS the opportunity in the future of achieving a 20 year pre-funding of COLA; and

(e)
MTS has not established and administered the COLA Account such that it is equivalent to the corresponding account under the Old Plan.
374. The damages are that the initial surplus was used by MTS to reduce its cost and share of contributions to the plan rather than to provide any benefit to Plaintiffs. 

375. The Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim states, at paras. 64 and 65.

64.
As a result, the plaintiffs say that, but for said breaches, there were sufficient assets in the Pension Benefit Adjustment Account to fund COLA increases higher than 2/3 of 4 percent of CPI  from 1997, pursuant to the November Agreement, but MTS has failed and or refused to do so.  Meanwhile the plaintiffs’ $43.364 million referenced in paragraph 44, which was to be used to pay for COLA increases above two-thirds of CPI or to improve benefits, has been substantially depleted by MTS to fund its financial obligations to the plan. It has also been wrongfully used to calculate or trigger MTS’ entitlement to take contribution holidays pursuant to the plan text and the Pension Benefits Standard’s Act. 

65.
The plaintiffs further allege that MTS has not allocated the appropriate funds to the COLA account to afford the employees and former employees of MTS the opportunity in the future of achieving a twenty-year pre-funding of COLA, nor has MTS established and administered the account such that it is equivalent to the corresponding account under the prior plan.
MTS Para. 590 - Evidence

(a)
Misrepresentation

376. The statement that MTS would not use the initial surplus to reduce its costs or share of contributions is inaccurate and misleading.  $49 M was used by MTS to defray its costs from Day One.  The initial surplus was to provide benefit increases in the way of COLA adjustments or improved benefits.  That did not happen.  It had nothing to do with the requirement that the initial surplus be involved in any calculation for OSFI.  It could have been notionally dealt with such that it intentionally was treated as a separate item.  The further representation by MTS that there had to be in one account disguised the true intention of MTS; that is to say, MTS all along intended to use that $43.4 M to reduce its costs.  Otherwise, it could have set up a separate notional account to deal with the $43.4 M separately.  There was no impediment in terms of OSFI or ITA requirements that prohibited that kind of separate calculation.  (See Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, para. 808-813.)

(b)
MTS was not Negligent
377. The representation was either negligent or reckless and deliberate.  No intelligent interpretation could be made of the November 6 memo other than that the initial surplus would be protected and not utilized in a manner detrimental to the employees to the advantage of MTS.  Fraser did not even recall the memorandum, so he is in no position to say what the words meant.  In any event, he was an amanuensis to the government and the government knew what it meant.  There was no documentation to suggest that those words meant merely that MTS would convey the full pension reserve fund.


(c)
Reliance
378. It is hypocritical when MTS challenges the evidence that the Plaintiffs would not have entered into the MOA, but for the undertaking since the memo was not even addressed to them.  MTS conveniently forgets the fact that the November 6, 1996 memo was prepared ostensibly for the Minister because of what was happening in the legislature.  That memo in turn was brought to the ERPC by the government through Benson to determine whether or not the Plaintiffs would be placated.  The government, through Praznik, said that the November 6 memo was the basis upon which the agreement was finally made.  The evidence of Praznik is that, without those representations, an agreement would not have been reached and there would have been trouble passing the Bill in the House.  Restall testified that had he known about the intent of MTS in purloining surplus and governance to itself prior to the meeting, the MOA would never have been executed.  Furthermore, this representation was a continuation of earlier representations made by the government to Restall in late October.

(d)
Damages
379. MTS argues that there was no detrimental loss.  Of course there was a detrimental loss.  The Plaintiffs put $49 M more into the New Plan than their 50% liabilities.  They put $43.4 M more in than MTS did and received nothing for that money.  It does not matter whether MTS ended up paying a billion dollars or $2 dollars more subsequently.  Prior to the PBSA coming into play, there had to be equivalency as per Scott, C.J.M.’s analysis.  Whatever amount of money MTS later put in, is hindsight and in any event relates to MTS’ federal statutory obligations.  It did not relate to its fiduciary duty, committment and obligation not to touch the Plaintiffs’ money.  That money was intended to be secure, was attempted to be secured, but ended up not being secured because of the deliberate negligent actions of MTS (see Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paras. 811 and 813).

380. The fact that the initial surplus was placed in the COLA Account as requested by the Plaintiffs is the genesis of the story.  The truth is there was a purpose or objective in putting the initial surplus in the COLA Account.  It was not to be put in there to be “swallowed up” by MTS to defray its own costs.  There was a failure from Day One as admitted to by Watson Wyatt, that MTS, through its actuaries, knew or ought to have known that the COLA Account, without the necessary credits and debits, could never operate other than to swallow up and evanesce the surplus funds (AD 128) (24722).
381. The Plaintiffs would have received the same COLA award under the Old Plan and still had $49 M extra.  That $49 M, as part of an overall fund, brought the remaining plan members subsequent benefit improvements.  Had the Plaintiffs’ retirees remained in the Old Plan, they would have received that benefit improvement for no extra cost.  Again, MTS is obscuring the fact that the Plaintiffs received the benefits promised to them under the New Plan, when the benefits promised to them under the New Plan were not what they had under the Old Plan.
382. In the alternative, if this Court concludes that the Plaintiffs have not properly pled the tort of negligent misrepresentation, then the Plaintiffs request that they be permitted to amend their pleadings accordingly.  A necessary amendment to a pleading may be allowed after the conclusion of a trial provided that:

(a)
the party applying for it is acting in good faith; and

(b)
it will not prejudice the opposite party in a way that cannot be compensated for in costs, such as if the trial might have taken a different course had the amendment been made prior to it.

383. See Yates v. Yates (1992), 76 Man.R. (2d) 224 (C.A.) at 228 [Plaintiffs’ Reply Authorities, Tab 5], and McGowan et al. v. 2829119 Manitoba Limited, 1997 CanLII 2587 (MB C.A.), at para. 8 [Plaintiffs’ Reply Authorities, Tab 6].
MTS Paras. 591-593 - Intergenerational Inequities 
384. See paragraphs 304-306 above.

MTS Para. 597(a) - Evidentiary Matters Weight to be Given Restall’s Evidence

385. The attack on Restall is quite ludicrous.  Restall testified for three weeks and to the best of his ability recounted lucidly, clearly and concisely his experience and knowledge under the Old Plan and his involvement in the New Plan.  No one from MTS had the depth of understanding and knowledge first hand of the Old Plan that he had.  The fact that Restall could not recite the provisions of the CSSA or the PBA or the PBSA or the tax status of MTS, or all of the other legal alleged discrepancies are of absolutely no moment.  As far as the assertions in paragraph 597(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (i), (j), (k), (o), (p) are concerned, they are all technical and/or legal matters that one would not expect him to know.  As a matter of fact, MTS witnesses themselves did not know many of these particulars.  With respect to (e), (f) and (h), these are de minimus matters or matters which he need not have known.  With respect to (l), (m) and (q), these are matters within MTS’ knowledge.  It is not surprising Restall was not informed given the shroud of secrecy that MTS employed in providing information only on a need-to-know basis.
MTS Para. 598
386. As far as the alleged confusion on the part of Restall is concerned, all examples are picayune and have absolutely no bearing on the essentials of this case in which Restall was steadfast, clear and entirely credible.  Let us not forget that much of Restall’s evidence related to prior substantial correspondence, and in that respect, he was unassailable.

MTS Para. 599 - Restall Evidence Which Negatively Impacts on the Plaintiffs’ Case


(a)
Agreement re Use of Surplus
387. The Plaintiffs have reviewed ad nauseum the implications of the use of surplus where there was sharing of the costs with the government for benefit improvements.  How it negatively impacts on the Plaintiffs’ case remains inscrutable.


(b)
Difficulty in Negotiations

388. Again, that process is well documented, but at the end of the day, the negotiations were an attempt to get the government to put in more of its own money; it was never about using the Plaintiffs’ surplus.


(c)
More Than 50% Of The Pensions Were Paid By Employees Due To Improvements
389. That is clearly wrong.  (See the evidence of Louis Ellement concerning Exhibit 8, V10, Sep. 15/08, p. 49-55.)  (See also paragraph 48 above.)

(d)
Presentations at the October 2 and 3, 1996 Meeting
390. This assertion is incredibly hypocritical.  All that was stated at the meeting was that under the PBSA, contribution holidays could be taken where there was surplus.  In the full face of knowledge of the contents of the draft plan, MTS deliberately withheld information from the ERPC and anyone who was asking questions, that, in fact MTS would not only take contribution holidays, but could scoop the surplus.  It was deceptive and a serious misrepresentation by omission.

(e)
Inclusion of Initial Surplus in Actuarial Report (AD 827)

391. The $43.4 M initial surplus was included in the calculation for the unfunded liability in the first actuarial report, but that was for funding purposes and had nothing to do with the MOA.  In any event, there obviously was not a meeting of the minds, which begs the question; does it really matter?  At the end of the day, the MOA is a piece of legislation, the objective of which was to get the Plaintiffs’ benefits which they did not receive.  That was a requirement of the law.


(f)
Post-January 1, 1997 Contributions by MTS

392. Whether more money has been contributed by MTS than by the employees is debateable.  In any event, it is a “red herring” and irrelevant.  The obligation of MTS on Implementation Date was to have set up a plan that was equivalent as at that date.  There was no wiggle room for MTS to wait until 10 years later to determine that it was obligated by solvency requirements to put more money in.  MTS keeps confusing its liability obligations with the benefits that the Plaintiffs were to achieve.  They are discrete matters and this lawsuit is not about equivalency of MTS liabilities.

(g)
Plaintiffs’ Concerns Satisfied

393. All concerns had not been resolved by January 1, 1997, other than ongoing surplus and governance.  The initial surplus issue and the COLA Account is a latent problem in its nascent stage and the foibles and deficiencies of the New Plan did not become apparent to the Plaintiffs until several years later on a piece meal basis.  From that point in time it took MTS approximately five years to come to grips with the denouement of the COLA Account and to admit that the COLA Account was inadequate.  Most telling is that there was a major concession on the part of MTS directly and through its actuaries, that from Day One, the COLA Account was inadequate to provide the objectives everyone agrees were required.
MTS Paras. 600-621 - Attack on Levy
394. Regrettably, MTS devotes a significant portion of its written submissions to attacking the plaintiff’s expert, arguing that he “crossed that very important line between expert and advocate”, and that no weight out to be given to his reports and evidence.  MTS asserts that Levy’s “reports and evidence were replete with argument and non-objectivity”; yet curiously does not provide any specific examples of instances where Levy was allegedly argumentative or non-objective.  


MTS Paras. 614 & 621
395. MTS relies on a number of cases that outline the principles governing expert testimony, but a close examination of the circumstances surrounding the rejection of the expert testimony in each of them reveals that nature of the evidence put forward in those cases bears little, if any, resemblance to the evidence Levy gave before this Court.

MTS Para. 604

396. In R. v. Vieira [MTS Book of Authorities, Tab 45], the accused was charged with, and ultimately convicted of, arson.  The accused’s expert was Dennis Merkley, a former fire investigator with the Ontario Fire Marshal’s office.  The trial judge rejected Merkley’s evidence not only because he found Merkley to be an advocate for the accused, but also because of the manner in which his evidence was given, the fact he had a flawed understanding of the Crown’s expert evidence, and because he offered implausible alternative explanations for the fire (at para. 4) which “bordered on the fanciful” (at para. 42).  The trial judge held that Merkley was “more interested in disparaging the investigation made by his former employee, and in extolling his own expertise, than he was in assisting the court on the difficult issues to which this case gives rise.  His attitude grew worse, however, during cross-examination where Merkley became evasive, argumentative and seemingly obtuse when responding to simple questions and, in a number of instances, condescending in his responses.”  (at para. 33)
397. The case of Fellowes, McNeil v. Kansa General International Insurance Company Ltd. et al. [MTS Book of Authorities, Tab 46] involved a claim alleging solicitor’s negligence.  Kansa sought to have a lawyer qualified as an expert who had actually represented Kansa at an early stage in investigating whether there might be a claim for professional negligence.  The Court declined to qualify him an expert because he lacked even the minimum requirement of independence.

MTS Paras. 606-610

398. In Dulong v. Merrill Lynch Canada Inc. [Tab 47], the plaintiff sought to have a lawyer, Harry Malcolmson, who had practiced corporate and securities law for fifteen years, but who did not have any experience working for any brokerage firm in any capacity, qualified as an expert to testify as to the standards and practices of the retail brokerage industry.  The court found not only that Malcolmson had argued and advocated for his client’s position in his report, but, more fundamentally, Malcolmson was not qualified to testify as to the standards and practices of the retail brokerage industry.  Furthermore, his report was “seriously deficient in a number of respects”, including that he failed to opine on the standards and practices in the industry; did not set out any specific questions on which he was asked to opine; made numerous contested findings of fact regarding events which had taken place; and commented on the credibility of various witnesses, for none of which the court required expert testimony (at para. 28).

MTS Para. 617

399. In Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services) v. Norton [MTS Tab 48], the accused was charged with six violations of the Ontario Pension Benefits Act, including failure to satisfy standards of care and failure to apply accepted actuarial practice pursuant  to the regulations.  The Crown (through the Financial Services Commission of Ontario (“FSCO”)) produced Gordon Hall, an actuary, as an expert.   The court held that Hall’s report should not be afforded any significant weight because he “completely misapprehended” the expert’s role in the litigation process.  Hall made inappropriate references to Norton’s continued resistance to the charges, failed to refer to sources and the degree and nature of their input, delivered drafts to peers at FSCO and actively sought their input and incorporated their suggestions into his report.

MTS Paras. 612-613

400. MTS cites Brough v. Richmond [MTS Tab 49] for the proposition that “[t]he closer the testimony gets to the ultimate issue the court has to decide, the more inclined it is to reject it” (at para. 6).  However, in Fraser River Pile & Dredge Ltd. v. Empire River Tug Boats Ltd. [MTS Tab 50] (“Fraser River”), Reed J. discusses how this principle has often been misunderstood:

The objection to expert opinion evidence is often framed, incorrectly, as a prohibition against adducting evidence on the ultimate issues in a case.  In the text  by Sopinka, Lederman and Bryant, The Law of Evidence in Canada, (1992) at p. 540, it is noted that the closer the testimony of an expert gets to the ultimate issue the court has to decide, the more inclined the court is to reject that evidence.  The writes (sic) note, however, that while the justification for this prohibition is often said to be that such an opinion would “invade the province” or “usurp the function” of the jury, the preferable rationale is that enunciated by Aylesworth J.A. in Fisher v. R., [1961] O.W.N. 94 (C.A.) at pp. 95-96.  It is not because there is encroachment upon the jury’s function that expert evidence has been rejected in certain cases, but rather that in those cases the expert opinion was superfluous.  (Emphasis added.) (at para. 15)

MTS Para. 620

401. In Geddes v. Bloom [MTS Tab 51], the court ultimately decided to accept the evidence of one medical expert, Dr. Cheung, over that of Dr. Kleyman not only because Dr. Kleyman was “somewhat argumentative” and “referred to the plaintiff’s counsel as “my lawyer”, but also because there were material inconsistencies in his testimony “touching on matters such as the value of a patient’s clinical history or whether there were markings on the images he received for consideration” (at para. 33).

MTS Paras. 614-615

402. MTS’ attack on Levy’s demeanour is cavil and little time ought to be spent on it.  MTS would prefer that the Emily Post and Martha Stewart rules of etiquette apply.  It is just asking too much of an expert of Levy’s calibre, who witnesses extreme and outlandish suggestions, to be chastised in commenting upon them in a straightforward, blunt and candid fashion.

MTS Para. 616 - Non-Review of CSSA

403. The Plaintiffs repeat that there was never an issue as to the formula benefits being equivalent in value.  Levy dealt with matters of initial funding, surplus and governance, including the operation of the COLA Account, which no amount of perusing of the CSSA would have added pertinent enlightenment.  Conversely, that was the problem with FitzGerald and Williams.  They did not even go beyond the bare wording of the CSSA to inquire into the operation of the CSSF.
MTS Para. 618 - Expectation Versus Entitlement

404. Again, MTS is using wild semantics to challenge Levy’s evidence.  (See paragraph 174 above.)

MTS Para. 619

405. None of the assertions made by MTS had any impact on Levy’s reports and subsequent evidence.  They were not points that were germane to his assessment, nor to the decision this Court has to make.

406. In summary, the Plaintiffs submit that MTS’ attack is ill-founded, unwarranted, and unfortunate.  Levy discharged his duty to the Court with integrity, objectivity and candour, in accordance with the professional standards imposed upon him, and his reports and testimony should be given the considerable weight that they deserve.

MTS Para. 623 - Credibility of Ellement 

407. Out of all of the actuaries that testified Ellement has the most experience and knowledge of the CSSA.  He was one of the actuaries for the CSSP for more than a decade.  His firm of Ellement and Ellement are still the actuaries for the CSSF. 

408. One of MTS’ complaints about Ellement’s evidence relates to his “interpretation” of the MOA.  MTS asserts that his “interpretation” is different than “all other witnesses, including the Plaintiffs’ witnesses”.  That is simply not true.  Restall, Trach and Praznik (who were all directly involved in the negotiations on November 7) all agreed that the objective was that the initial surplus was to benefit employees and not MTS by providing additional COLA or other additional benefits. 

409. Under cross examination, Restall was asked about his discussions with Ellement relating to funding and MTS’ October 30, 1996 proposal (discussed at the meeting between Fraser and Restall on October 30) to place the initial surplus in the COLA Account.  As follows below, Restall testified about his understanding of how the initial surplus would be for benefit improvements only (and not to fund MTS’ existing costs for accrued benefits).    

         Q   You had indicated in the third paragraph you had

   29  reviewed, with your actuary, your proposal relating to the

   30  use of the surplus.

   31    A   Yes.

   32    Q   Yes.  And we already covered this, but you

   33  discussed with him the proposal by MTS to place the excess

   34  into the adjustment account.
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    1    A   Yes.

    2    Q   And so to that extent, you had some discussion

    3  about funding; isn't that correct?

    4    A   I don't think you and I are on the same page.  In

    5  funding, my, my understanding of funding is, is

    6  contribution to pay for upcoming entitlements for plan

    7  members.  I think in here, if I understand you correctly,

    8  you, you're suggesting that the, that the placement of the

    9  excess or surplus in the indexing account is a -- is --

   10  makes up part of funding.  Our understanding of placing the

   11  excess in the indexing account was that it was surplus

   12  owned by plan members and was to be used for new benefits,

   
   13  new benefits only. [RV13 June 16 pp. 13-14]

410. Ellement’s evidence shows that he was on the “same page” as Restall and his understanding that the initial surplus was for a top up of COLA or another benefit improvement.  That was his understanding from the start and it never waivered.  What changed was his interpretation of how the COLA Account was to work.   

         Q      Okay.    Now,  what  are  you  being   advised   by  Mr.  --

   15  or  what   were  you   advised,   to  your   recollection,    from  Mr.

   16  Restall about what this document represented?

   17       A      The   one   thing    that   I   can   recall    with   some

   18  certainty   is  that  --  or with   certainty   is that  the  employee

   19  surplus was going to be used to provide additional benefits,

   20  either through top up cost of living increases or some other

   21  types of benefit improvement.

   22       Q      And  in  terms  of  your  review  of  the  document,   what

   23  did you understand it to provide?

   24       A      I  had  to  review  the  document   many   times  and  I've

   25  come   around   to  an  interpretation    of   it.    At  the  time   of

   26  receiving   it,  the   one  thing  that   was  made  clear   to me  was

   27  that  employee    surplus   was  for  top   up.    Over  some   months,

   28  some   considerable    number    of  months,   and   re-reading    this

   29  document    many,   many  times,    I  came   to  a  conclusion    with

   30  respect to how the indexing was to work. [V11 Sept. 17 p. 18]

411. Trach’s testimony is consistent with Ellement’s and Restall’s evidence that the initial surplus was to top up COLA above the guarantee or pay for improved benefits.   

    2        Q   So  Mr.  Fraser's  draft  had  indicated  that the

    3  surplus  would go into  the new pension  plan to fund future

    4  cost  of living adjustments and,  and you've added what's --

    5  what, what is it that you wanted to add to that, sorry?

    6        A   Well,  I'm not  sure if it  was between this  draft

    7  and  the  next one,  but at  some point  in the  drafts,  Mr.

    8  Fraser  came back  to us  and said  that we  couldn't have  a

    9  separate  account and  that the,  I think  he said  the PBSA

   10  wouldn't  allow for it, it had to  be in the same, had to be

   11  the  same  fund.   So  our,  our alternative  to  a separate

   12  account  was to put the,  the employee surplus into the COLA

   13  account  and  to park  it there  and  earmark it  for either

   14  improved  COLA benefits  above the  minimum or  to make plan

   15  improvements... [V4 p. 59]

412. Praznik testified that as a result of this meeting with Fraser he understood the November 6, 1996 memo to mean that MTS was promising not to use the initial surplus to MTS’ benefit.

    1            THE   WITNESS:    I understood  this  to  mean,   I

    2  understand  this to mean  and had had  the -- personally  the

    3  impression  others  did as  well, that  the, the  (inaudible)

    4  was  Manitoba Telephone System,  the new co  would in no  way

    5  use  those dollars  that were  the surplus  coming over from

    6  civil service fund in any way to their benefit. [V5 p. 48]

413. The only other witness who has knowledge of what was discussed and agreed to on November 7 is Fraser.  He testified that he was of the view that the initial surplus was not to be used to reduce MTS’ cost or share of contributions.  Fraser testified that there were three occasions where MTS communicated that the initial surplus would not be used to reduce employer costs. 

            One  aspect  of  what you  were  communicating  was

   29  that  the pension reserve  would be transferred  in in  full;

   30  that's what you're saying?

   31        A   Yes.

   32        Q   And what was the other aspect?

   33        A   Well,   just  what  it  says, that  there   was no

   34  intention  of  reducing  the  employer's cost  by  using  the
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    1  surplus.

    2        Q   And  the surplus that you're  referring to in that

    3  last   answer  is  what   we  called  the  initial  surplus;

    4  correct?

    5        A   The  surplus  on  the  employees'  portion  of th e

    6  contributions, yes.

    7        Q   Now,  Mr.  Fraser, that,  that promise  that, tha t

    8  has  those two aspects to it that you've just described,  was

    9  repeated  again in  another letter on  October 23rd,  similar

   10  wording  was used and I just want  to take you to that for  a

   11  moment.  It's at agreed document 383, 383.

   12        A   Three eight three.

   13        Q   A few tabs ahead for you.

   14        A   Okay.

   15        Q   And  it's in  the paragraph numbered  1.  And,  and

   16  the statement is in the second sentence this time:

   17  

   18                  "As I stated in my August 27,  196

   19                  letter, the  surplus  will  not be

   20                  used to reduce  MTS'  cost of,  and

   21                  share of contributions to, the  new

   22                  pension plan."

   23  

   24            Does  your earlier  answer apply then  to, to wha t

   25  MTS was conveying in this correspondence?

   26        A   Yes.

   27        Q   And agreed document 434 is the November 6 memo.

   28            THE COURT:  Four three four?

   29            MR. SAXBERG:  Yes.

   30  

   31  BY MR. SAXBERG:

   32        Q   And  again,  we see  a  similar assurance  and  the

   33  second    paragraph,   under:       Potential   Surplus   of

   34  Contributions   to  the Civil   Service Superannuation  Fund
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    1  reads:

    2  

    3                  "MTS has undertaken  that any such

    4                  surplus will not be used to reduce

    5                  MTS'    cost    or     share    of

    6                  contributions to  the  new  pension

    7                  plan."

    8  

    9        A   Yes.

   10        Q   And  again, that  was,  there were  two aspects of

   11  assurance  being conveyed by MTS then, with respect to  this,

   12  this representation?

   13        A   Yes.

414. Ellement’s interpretation of the agreement is therefore consistent with the evidence of the witnesses that were involved in the November 7 Agreement.  It is simply that the initial surplus was to be used for new benefits in the form of higher COLA than the guarantee or other improvements.  The Plaintiffs submit that paragraph 3 of the MOA can be simplified as follows: 

1.
MTS will provide a guaranteed COLA award; 

2.
If the COLA Account can afford more than the guarantee in a particular year, more will be given;
   

3.
The initial surplus will be put in the COLA Account; 

4.
Actuary to review COLA Account, if sufficient additional assets exist beyond the COLA increase for a particular year, pension benefits may be increased if doing so does not create an unfunded liability in the plan as a whole.
415. Ellement’s “interpretation” was really about how the mechanics of the account should function in order for the objective and understanding of the agreement to be achieved.  The agreement was that the initial surplus would lead to increased benefits for employees and not be used to reduce MTS’ costs.  The MOA does not provide the specifics as to how this is to occur.  Thus, the differences in “interpretation” between the witnesses relates to how the object of the agreement is put into effect, not with respect to what the agreement involved.   

416. Ellement’s evidence was that if the account is funded and debited properly than putting the initial surplus into the account will not result in its depletion until it is used. 

MTS Paras. 622-624 - Ellement
417. Ellement testified for six days.  He was the most knowledgeable witness in terms of the operations of the CSSP from an actuarial perspective under the Old Plan, as he was the plan actuary and was as knowledgeable as any other actuary subsequent thereto, because he was engaged by the Plaintiffs in order to ascertain and advise on the new pension plan text as was being created by MTS.  The fact that there was one occasion on six days where there was some tension in cross-examination and instruction by the Court, is a desperate attempt by MTS to minimize otherwise cogent and relevant evidence.

MTS Para. 626

418. MTS suggests that its witnesses related consistent evidence.  The evidence speaks for itself and the Plaintiffs prefer not to waste time and effort recounting the inconsistencies.  However, the Plaintiffs do say to the extent there was consistency, the evidence of the MTS witnesses was canned and contrived.  One only needs to hearken back to the fact that there was a hierarchy of protocol starting from McInnes to Solman to Barker to Fraser when it came to crafting careful and duplicitous responses (e.g. see paragraphs 358-360 and 377 above for the contrived meaning of the words “MTS shall not reduce its share of costs or contributions to the New Plan”.)
MTS Paras. 625-628 - Multiple Cases
419. MTS argues that the Plaintiffs have essentially presented multiple cases to the Court, the effect of which is “that the Plaintiffs have not met the evidentiary onus and burden ... to prove the allegations made, and relies on three cases in support of this proposition.”
420. The Plaintiffs submit that the authorities cited by MTS are not applicable to the present case. 

421. The case of Wedde v. Siebel Systems Canada Ltd.  [MTS Tab 53] was an action for damages for breach of employment contract arising out of an alleged promise that the plaintiff would receive certain amounts of stock options.  The court found both the plaintiff and the representatives of the defendants to be credible witnesses, but the plaintiff’s testimony at trial was inconsistent with some of his answers on examination for discovery.  The court only went so far as to hold that

the inconsistencies in the evidence given by Mr. Wedde at trial and that given on his discovery are significant, and affect the weight I give to Mr. Wedde’s evidence (at para. 27), and preferred the evidence of one of the defendant’s representatives where in conflict with the plaintiff’s evidence. (at para. 29)
422. The other two cases, O’Sullivan v. Turk [MTS Tab 54] and Tsatsos v. Johnson (“Tsatsos”) [MTS Tab 55], address the effect of reading into the record answers given on an opposite party’s examination for discovery.  The basic principle is that the party reading in the answers faces the risk that it may put into evidence something it does not wish to prove, and thus may be saddled with having two versions of events before the court if no other evidence is given to contradict or qualify the unfavourable evidence.  The defendant did not even call any evidence in Tsatsos.

423. If anything, the present case is more analogous to Johnson v. Kwon Poo Wong (1957) 22 W.W.R. 565 (B.C.S.C.) (“Johnson”).  In that case, Lett C.J.B.C. noted:

I consider that the circumstances of this case clearly distinguish it from O’Sullivan v. Turk, supra, in that the evidence of the defendant as shown in the answers from the defendant’s examination for discovery, did not contradict the plaintiff on all material points; that the defendant adduced the evidence of himself and other witnesses and elected to submit himself and them to cross-examination which qualified and limited the effect of the answers of the defendant in his examination for discovery. (at p. 569)

424. This passage was quoted with approval in Tsatsos, supra, at para. 11.

MTS Paras. 629-634 - The Effect of Having Singleton and Fox Declared Adverse

425. MTS argues that there was no evidence presented to the Court that was inconsistent with the key testimony of Fox and Singleton that should be preferred.  MTS says that without evidence to the contrary, the evidence of Fox relating to the definition used, and the issues considered, in his final opinion must be accepted. 

426. Fox’s testimony, that was clearly contradicted by his earlier sworn statements, the weight of evidence from other witnesses, and from the agreed documents, was his self serving contentions that his opinion is correct and that he was not unduly interfered with.  He also says that he was unaffected by Singleton’s actions.  The evidence of what actually happened clearly contradicts these assertions.  Fox was declared adverse because his testimony contradicted past sworn statements.  Therefore, his bold assertions that he was unaffected by Singleton’s actions should be given no weight.   

427. Singleton’s evidence is that he did not interfere with Fox.  That does not square with the agreed documents, and the evidence of Fox, Paterson, Johnson and Barker. 

428. MTS concentrates on the question of which definition was used by Fox.  MTS has once again misstated the Plaintiffs position. 

429. The Plaintiffs’ position is that the preponderance of evidence shows that Fox changed his opinion after narrowing the definition of equivalency.  He justified doing so based on certain “expectations” he had that all turned out to be fallacious and were unreasonable to make because they were contrary to the provisions in the plan text.  Fox’s rationalization that he had certain “expectations” suggests that he succumbed to the pressure from MTS and Singleton that there was ‘no linkage’ between his concerns in his February 18 draft opinion and the question concerning equivalent benefits.   

430. MTS cannot support the correctness of Fox’s decision based on Fox’s reasoning, because Fox’s muddled defence of his opinion was based on utterly unrealistic expectations that MTS itself denies having promised.  In fact, MTS says its position that it wanted full control over surplus was notorious.  How could Fox have assumed surplus would be dealt with by consent?  That just does not add up.   

431. In this case the Court will have to determine what evidence from Fox and Singleton is credible and what evidence is not credible (i.e. the self-serving statement that he was not influenced by the Provincial Auditor’s conduct).  For the most part, the facts in terms of what happened are not in dispute.  It is the perception of the participants at the time that is being challenged.  Fox saying he was not interfered with, and Singleton saying he did not interfere, are merely the perceptions of those two individuals.  The facts as to what happened belie those self-serving perceptions.  Rhetorically speaking, what else are they going to say?

MTS Paras. 635-639 - McInnes

432. MTS touts McInnes as being an exemplary witness.  There is no question that she is knowledgeable in her job.  However, the Plaintiffs dispute her knowledge when it came to the Old Plan.  She had no experience dealing with the Old Plan and anything that she learned was after the fact and second hand.  Secondly, in another relevant area concerning the MOA, she had nothing to do with the process leading up to or the discussions culminating in the execution of the MOA.  Accordingly, she has no first hand knowledge of the two quintessential documents in the lawsuit, being the November 6 memo and the MOA.  Furthermore, any position she was advocating on behalf of MTS was purely that - a position.  At the end of the day, her assessment as to whether the plans were equivalent is irrelevant.

433. However, the Plaintiffs do note that in the critical area of the workings of the COLA Account, it was McInnes who:
(a)
finally reluctantly acknowledged the difficulty in the understanding and implementation of the COLA Account (AD 1210) (18817(b)) (AD 1218) (19402 (3a));

(b)
that the object of the exercise was to grant greater than 2/3 of COLA;
(c)
that the objective did not materialize;
(d)
that the true test of the health of the plan and the obligations of MTS related to measurement on a going concern versus solvency basis;

(e)
in acknowledging that the COLA Account was unworkable from Day One.  [AD 1130) (22916) (c1) (AD 1288) (24722)
MTS Paras. 640-644 - Williams

434. MTS touts the evidence of Williams.  The Plaintiffs maintain that Williams was a “bought” witness.  Consider the fact that:
(a)
MTS was a major and important client of Williams for many years;

(b)
He was not the plan actuary under the Old Plan; he was MTS’ actuary;

(c)
He had no allegiance to the plan members nor did he consider their interests ahead of MTS’ interests.  Considering the critical need by the Plaintiffs, he failed to disclose pertinent, relevant and important information about MTS’ intention with respect to the draft plan and failed to do so in part because of MTS’ instructions.

435. Furthermore, while he claimed that the intention was to have the Plaintiffs involved in the drafting of the plan, the evidence is totally inconsistent and there is no written evidence to show that the Plaintiffs were to get an opportunity prior to the plan text being registered with OSFI and the Canada Revenue Agency.
436. He was not involved in the process leading up to and culminating in the execution of the MOA (AD 434 & AD 440).

437. He undertook to get back to Ellement with respect to the significant concerns with respect to the operation of the account.  He failed to do so.  He knew the Plaintiffs were struggling to determine how the COLA Account was going to work, but his protestations were simply for the Plaintiffs to have faith; things will work out.  He knew or ought to have known that the COLA Account would not work in the manner that it did and yet he failed to do anything about it.

438. He created a draft of changes to sec. 16.1 of the plan text concerning surplus but succumbed to MTS’ stern insistence to resist any surplus sharing, even though it was detrimental to the plan members’ position and he breached his obligation to plan members in that regard.

439. He failed to advise Ellement about the intricacies of the COLA Account.  He was clearly acting on behalf of MTS to the detriment of plan members and breached his obligation in that regard.  By his own admission, he did not inform the plan members as to the use of CANSIM, the deduction of lump sums, nor did he make any attempt to assist the Plaintiffs in understanding the operation of the COLA Account.
440. It was only after constant and persistent complaining by the Plaintiffs that MTS relented on the issue of CANSIM.
441. It was Watson Wyatt (AD 1288) who finally admitted that the COLA Account would never work.  It was not Williams who informed the Plaintiffs.  He had an overriding fiduciary duty to the Plaintiffs in that regard and he failed miserably.  If he did so unintentionally, he was negligent.  If he did so deliberately, he was deceptive.  His evidence must be disregarded.

MTS Paras. 645-651 - FitzGerald

442. Perhaps the most disappointing witness is FitzGerald.  He was MTS’ main witness and yet MTS could only muster a few paragraphs in favour of Mr. FitzGerald.  The reason is simple.  FitzGerald’s report was pure advocacy and threadbare in its logic and cohesiveness.  Consider the following:

443. He makes reference in his report (Exhibit 42, paras. 3 & 81), on the topic of surplus, that it was his understanding from the November 6 memo, that the full pension reserve fund was going to be transferred.  He therefore concluded that the representation was not breached because the full pension fund in fact was transferred.  That assertion is an egregious position being advanced by FitzGerald and one which should not have been opined upon in the first place.  At paragraph 92 in his report, he renders a conclusion that is based upon a comment made by MTS’ legal counsel to him.  In essence, he is rendering a legal opinion as to whether the November 6, 1996 memo (AD 434) had been breached.  Consider his evidence in the following exchange:
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    1        Q   Now you say in --

    2        A   -- to the transfer.

    3            THE  COURT:   I, I'm  still not certain.   You  say

    4  the  purpose of  what it, what  you say in,  in paragraph  81

    5  was what?

    6            THE  WITNESS:   Was that  when MTS  said that  they

    7  would  not be using  surplus in contributions  to reduce  the

    8  transfer,  they  were saying  that  they would  transfer  the

    9  whole of the pension reserve.

   10            THE  COURT:    That's what  that  phrase  meant to

   11  you?

   12            THE   WITNESS:    That's  what   I  was  given  to

   13  understand.

   14            THE COURT:  You say it is my understanding --

   15            THE  WITNESS:  When I  say it is my understanding ,

   16  it's because I had received advice from counsel.

   17  

   18  BY MR. MERONEK:

   19        Q   So,  it's based  on information  you received  from

   20  counsel --

   21            THE COURT:  Just one second please.

   22            MR. MERONEK:  Sorry.

   23            THE COURT:  Yes, please continue.

   24  

   25  BY MR. MERONEK:

   26        Q   So  your conclusion  that there  wasn't any  breach

   27  of  this undertaking  was based on  information you received

   28  from legal counsel?

   29        A   That's right.

   30        Q   It  wasn't based on your own interpretation of  the

   31  memo?

   32        A   That's correct.

   33        Q   Did you even look at the memo?

   34        A   Yes, I did.
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    1        Q   Can  you  glean anywhere  from  that memo  that it

    2  purports  to  say what  you were  advised it  says, that  MTS

    3  undertakes  to  put the  full pension  reserve into  the  new

    4  plan?

    5        A   I,  given that  I was  given  an interpretation,  I

    6  did not, did not question it.

    7            THE COURT:  Yes?

    8  

    9  BY MR. MERONEK:

   10        Q   Were  you aware, made aware,  sir, that this  memo,

   11  this  November 6, 1996  memo's been called  the mystery memo

   12  that,  that no one  from MTS has a,  any recollection of its

   13  production or what it means?

   14        A   No.

   15        Q   Sorry?

   16        A   No.

   17        Q   You conclude --

   18            THE  COURT:  I, I think, in fairness, that,  nobody

   19  from MTS knows who authored that memo.

   20            MR.   MERONEK:    That's  correct,  nor  what   ts

   21  contents meant in relationship to that memo.

   22  

   23  BY MR. MERONEK:

   24        Q   Now,  you indicate in this paragraph that you mus t

   25  conclude  that  MTS, the  MTS  undertaking that  surplus  and

   26  employee  contributions would not be  used to reduce the  MTS

   27  cost  or share of contributions to  the new MTS plan was  not

   28  breached.  Do you see that?

   29        A   Yes.

   30        Q   Were  you not, in essence, rendering an opinion,  a

   31  legal opinion as to that particular matter?

   32        A   I  was advised that, of  what the intention of the

   33  memo  was and  I also  had information  that the  transaction

   34  included,  the full  pension reserve was  transferred, so it
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    1  seemed to me a logical conclusion.

    2        Q   I see.

    3        A   I was not intending a legal opinion.

    4        Q   And  then  over  on  page 34,  you  have  it  again

    5  listed  as a, a  paragraph in summary  form at paragraph  92;

    6  do you see that?

    7        A   Yes.

    8        Q   And you say:

    9  

   10                  "In   my    opinion,    the     MTS

   11                  undertaking   that   surplus    and

   12                  employee  contributions would   not

   13                  be used to reduce  the MTS cost  or

   14                  share of contributions  to the  new

   15                  MTS   pension    plan    was    not

   16                  breached."

   17  

   18        A   Yes.

   19        Q   Do you see that?

   20            Again,  were you not  making a legal determination

   21  as  to the effect of that particular memorandum, in terms of

   22  whether an undertaking or representation had been breached?

   23        A   I, I, I did not think so.  I was ...

   24        Q   Now,  if, on  the evidence, it  doesn't mean, tha t

   25  undertaking  doesn't mean that, that  simply MTS is going to

   26  be  transferring  its full, the  full pension  reserve  fund,

   27  then  your opinion in that  regard doesn't stand; would that

   28  be fair?

   29        A   That  was  a condition  of  the statement  I  made.

   30  If,  if it, if the evidence  is it means something else,  I'd

   31  have to reconsider my statement.  [Emphasis added] [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 60-62, l. 1-31]

444. It was not even an actuarial opinion that he was rendering.  He was parroting information he received from legal counsel and performing the function of the trial judge.  That sorry state taints his whole opinion and no weight should be given to it.
445. But the matter does not end there.
446. FitzGerald agreed that, notwithstanding his dissertation on the equivalency of formula benefits, it was never in dispute and one did not really need an actuary to opine on that matter.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 65, l. 7-34; p. 66, l. 1-5]
447. He performed no empirical analysis to determine the extent to which the guarantee was be better, if at all, than the existing COLA experienced under the CSSF.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 69, l. 4-14]
448. His only understanding of the COLA Account in the New Plan (as advised by legal counsel) was that it was to reproduce the CSSA.  He was not aware of the critical information as to the unworkable design of the COLA Account.  Consider his evidence as follows:

    2            THE  WITNESS:   When  I say  I've been  advised,  I

    3  mean I have no documentary evidence of it.

    4            MR. MERONEK:  Okay.  Fair enough.

    5            THE  WITNESS:   And I  spoke to  nobody other  than

    6  counsel.

    7  

    8  BY MR. MERONEK:

    9        Q   Were  you made aware, sir,  that the plan actuary,

   10  the  firm that  designed  the plan, opined  as  late as 2007

   11  that  from inception that notional account could not  achieve

   12  20  year  pre-funding such  as to grant  two-thirds,  greater

   13  than two-thirds of CPI?

   14        A   No, I don't believe so.

   15            THE COURT:  That answer is you weren't aware?

   16            THE WITNESS:  I was not aware of ...

   17  

   18  BY MR. MERONEK:

   19        Q   Were  you aware, aware, sir,  that in actual  fact,

   20  given  the  status  of  the  account,  that  it  could  never

   21  achieve greater than two-thirds of CPI?

   22        A   No.  [Emphasis added]  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 72, l. 2-22]

449. He admitted in paragraph 49 of his report the 50% cost test was not central to his argument.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 73, l. 28-34; p. 74, l. 1-12]
450. FitzGerald rendered an interpretation of Ellement’s letter in AD 882, which was completely the opposite of the meaning of that letter.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 76, l. 21-34; p. 77-78, l. 1-14]  It was pure speculation on his part.

451. What is most disturbing is, although FitzGerald acknowledged that more assets were transferred from the CSSF than from the pension reserve fund (surplus), he could not comprehend that the surplus that was being used for benefit improvements was derived from employee contributions.  He was actually quite confused and reluctant in his exchange with counsel on cross-examination to even admitting the simple proposition of excess contributions historically in the CSSF; and, he was not aware that based on actuarial valuations periodically performed by the plan’s actuary, the Liaison Committee started to negotiate with respect to the use of that surplus.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 82-83]

    2        Q   Do  you --  are you aware that,  that the evidence

    3  is   that   based   upon  the   actuarial   valuations   done

    4  periodically  by  the fund's  actuary, that  it was  on that

    5  basis  that  the  liaison  committee,  under  the  old plan,

    6  started  to  negotiate  with  respect  to  the  use  of that

    7  surplus?  Were you are of that?

    8        A   No, I was not aware of that. [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 84, l. 2-8]

452. When it was pointed out to him in AD 178 that there was a surplus disclosed in the actuarial report, he had to concede the following:
   11            MR. MERONEK:  Sorry.

   12            THE COURT:  Okay.

   13  

   14  BY MR. MERONEK:

   15        Q   That  that  pretty  well demonstrates  that that's

   16  employee surplus and it's being used to improve benefits?

   17        A   It,  it, it demonstrates that the surplus was use d

   18  to improve benefits, yes.

   19        Q   And  you have  no basis upon  which to  say it  was

   20  anything else other than employee surplus?

   21        A   I  have  no basis  -- that's  right, it,  it, it's

   22  come from future or past employee contributions.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 85, l. 11-22]

453. Furthermore, when FitzGerald suggested there was nothing to prevent the government from passing legislation increasing the employees’ share of the costs as had been done in at least one other province, he was referring to Alberta.  Yet he did not recall the details of the circumstances which he was purporting to cite.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 88-89, l. 1-27]
454. Further, when asked about Exhibit 53, which in part was prepared by Williams for FitzGerald’s benefit, he stated he did not use it for his report and did not recall when he read it.  Also, he had no understanding of the details behind the various plans.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 90, l. 18-34; p. 91, l. 1-13]
455. FitzGerald also had to correct himself by admitting that if a company winds up in the private sector and it is in a insolvent position (including MTS) and there a shortfall, then the legislation does not require that the company make up for that shortfall.  [V44, Nov 6/08, p. 92, l. 17-34; p. 93, l. 1-13]
456. FitzGerald had to concede, with respect to security, that the history in the public sector is that plans are more secure and there is no total protection under federal legislation against private plans being wound up in an unfunded position.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 94, l. 32-34; p. 95, l. 1-20]
457. He had to agree that there is a higher risk of MTS winding up than the government.  [V44, Nov. 6/08, p. 96, l. 1-7]
458. As stated previously, in terms of governance, he only looked at the CSSA.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 2, l. 1-10]
459. He never reflected on the relationship of the Liaison Committee with the government.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 2, l. 18-21]
460. He conceded in his report (Exhibit 44, p. 2, para. 1) that the question of control or ownership of surplus, however defined, is not an actuarial question and it does not require actuarial special expertise.  It is more a question of fact.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 2, l. 22-34; p. 3, l. 1-21]
461. Even though he was to critique Fox, FitzGerald was not aware of Fox’s opinion that the employees / retirees needed protection against unilateral changes by MTS particularly in the area of the use of surplus.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 3, l. 29-34]
462. He was not aware that Fox expected MTS to act in good faith in terms of dealing with employees and retirees as to the use of surplus.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 4, l. 1-5]
463. FitzGerald concedes that if there is control in terms of the use of surplus enjoyed under the Old Plan, then his opinion would be incorrect.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 4, l. 1-14]
464. For his overall lack of understanding of the actual process versus the present process of governance see paragraphs 247-249 and paragraphs 842-854 of the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs.

465. In general terms, it is disturbing that he knew that the recommendations for use of surplus had been by consensus in the Old Plan and consensus was not required in the New Plan and he recognized that those two circumstances were different.  Yet he could opine on the fact that governance was equivalent.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 8, l. 1-21]
466. In terms of his assessment of the use of actuarial valuation of assets versus market value, see paragraphs 232-236 above.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 12-17, l. 1-18]
467. Even though he opined that there was equivalency in the plans, because there was no ability to use surplus under the Old Plan, he had to admit that his report at Exhibit 44, p. 2, para. 2 was incorrect and his concession is encapsulated as follows:
    1        A     I  would  normally   use  the  term  benefit   to apply   to

    2  a  specific   amount  that  is  payable   to  a member.     So I  would

    3  say  that  if  there   was  clear  control   over  the  surplus,   that

    4  would   improve    the   members'    prospects    but   it  would   not

    5  necessarily    ...   Well,   I'm  sorry.    On  an individual    basis,

    6  it would not necessarily affect the member.

    7        Q     Just  --   I just   want  to  refer   you  to   your,  your

    8  reply report -- Exhibit 44.

    9              You  indicate   at  page   2,  paragraph   2,  in  part   --

   10  3rd line,

   11  

   12                    " (to) be considered a 'benefit' to

   13                    the employee group ..."

   14  

   15  Sorry.

   16  

   17                    "...  The  availability    of  a  surplus

   18                    as   a   potential    source    of   plan

   19                    improvements cannot, in my opinion,

   20                    be  considered    a  'benefit'    to  the

   21                    employee    group  unless    there  is   a

   22                    clear     provision     requiring     the

   23                    surplus   to  be  used  in  that   manner

   24                    (as    opposed,    for    instance,     to

   25                    reducing     employer    contributions)

   26                    ..."

   27  

   28  See that?

   29        A     I'm sorry.  I've -- I'm looking at the wrong page.

   30        Q     Oh.

   31        A     Could you --

   32        Q     Okay.  That's Exhibit 44 --

   33              THE COURT:  That's your last report.

   34              MR. MERONEK:  Your last report.
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    1              THE WITNESS:  Okay.

    2              THE COURT:  Paragraph 2, second sentence.

    3              THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Sorry.

    4  

    5  BY MR. MERONEK:

    6        Q     Yeah.    So  what   I'm,  what  I'm   suggesting   to  you,

    7  sir,  if  there   is  no  ability   by  the  government   to  use  that

    8  surplus   for  any  purpose   other  than   in  benefit   improvement,

    9  and  benefit   improvements    are   made  as,  as   the  only  use   of

   10  surplus, that is that not itself a benefit?

   11        A     If  there  is  no  possible   use  of  the  surplus   other

   12  than ...  If the, if the only use of a surplus is to improve

   13  the members' benefits, then that is a benefit, yes.  [Emphasis added]  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 19-20, l. 1-13]

468. For general comments with respect to FitzGerald’s opinion as to surplus, see paragraph 250-254 above and the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs, paragraph 822-836.

469. He further had to conclude that the $49 M excess in employee contributions over 50% of the liabilities went into the New Plan towards MTS’ costs; otherwise, it would have created a greater unfunded liability for MTS.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 27, l. 3-26]
470. An equally disturbing feature of his evidence is that FitzGerald could not comprehend the concept of the 50/50 sharing of costs of benefits under the CSSF.  [V45, Nov. 7/08, p. 31, l. 17-34; p. 32-34, l. 1-22]
471. The above responses given by FitzGerald in a confused and halting manner, demonstrates clearly that Levy’s evidence has to be favoured over FitzGerald’s evidence, which is totally unreliable and ought not to factor into the Court’s ultimate determination.

MTS Para. 652-654 - Income Tax Deduction

472. MTS contorts the topic of the income tax deduction.  The Plaintiffs do not criticize the fact that MTS received a substantial tax benefit.  However, to put it into perspective, that was the major raison d’être for the transfer of the pension reserve fund.  More importantly, as discussed above, the Plaintiffs disregard the notion that MTS funding post January 1, 1997, particularly on a solvency basis, has any relevance to the issue of equivalency in value.  To quote Fraser, if we are to “get fussed about it” and funding obligations of MTS in totality were to be calculated, the corresponding benefits to MTS have to be considered and in that regard, MTS essentially has totally funded its obligations out of the tax deductions it received.
MTS Paras. 655-656 - Accounting Calculation

473. The Plaintiffs state that, if solvency payments are considered a part of the funding process, then accounting calculations are significant.  They are significant because they are management’s best estimate as to the real pension costs.  MTS has agreed that solvency payments are temporary as McInnes opined to OSFI in a letter of March 25, 2004 (AD 1196):
MTS’ goal is to maintain a fully funded pension plan, but it does not desire, nor is it permitted under the provisions of The Income Tax Act (Canada), to maintain too large of a surplus.  Consequently, during a market cycle, it is very likely that a pension plan that is normally fully funded will, at some point temporarily become unfunded.

474. Further, in AD 1236 (19246) in a report to the Audit Committee of MTS, McInnes wrote as follows:

Companies are required to fund pension plans based on actuarial valuations using two different sets of assumptions: going concern assumptions and solvency assumptions: going concern assumptions are based on the premise that the pension plan will continue on indefinitely, while solvency assumptions assume that the pension plan is wound-up on the date of the valuation.  The going concern assumptions reflect the actuary’s and management’s best estimate of long-term interest rates, rates of return on plan assets and other economic assumptions such as inflation.  The solvency assumptions value the pension liabilities based on current long-term interest rates around the date of the valuation. The solvency assumptions are not appropriate for a long-term pension plan that is supported by a strong, financially sound company as they reflect a ‘worst case’ scenario that has very little to no probability of occurring. However, MTS, as well as other federally regulated pension plans, must follow the funding rules set out in the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 (Canada) (the “PBSA”), and the PBSA requires that pension plans be funded based on the methodology and solvency assumptions set by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”).  [Emphasis added]
475. All the Plaintiffs are saying is that if one is to look at the amount of money put into the plan on a solvency basis, it is a matter of pre-funding.  As well, there is not a true one-on-one cash flow advantage by putting solvency payments into the New Plan because MTS receives an asset and earns interest off that asset, which it reports in its financial statements.
MTS Paras. 657-668 - Leaving ERPC out of the Development Process

476. MTS suggests that there is no basis in law to support a claim that the ERPC ought to have been involved in the development process of the New Plan text.  MTS fallaciously suggests that The Re-Organization Act does not require pension plan member intervention or involvement.  To the contrary, the government, including MTS had a fiduciary duty.  The Re-Organization Act did not ordain how things were to be accomplished, but legislated what the end result was to be.  There was no interdiction against MTS involving the plan members.  As a matter of fact, it was only after the government realized how marginalized the plan members were by MTS, that the government became concerned and called for intervention.  The Court will recall Praznik’s evidence about non-involvement of the plan members.
477. In supplement to the Plaintiffs’ Written Argument at paragraphs 864-891, the following must be kept in mind with respect to the fiduciary duty of MTS as a Crown agency of the government and its obligation to provide an equivalent plan.

478. The classes of relationships which are fiduciary in nature generally have the following characteristics: 

1.
Scope for the exercise of discretion or power; 

2.
An ability to exercise such power or discretion unilaterally in a way that affects the beneficiary’s legal or practical interests; and

3.
 Peculiar vulnerability to the exercise of that power or discretion

479. See Hodgkinson v Simms (“Hogdkinson”) [Plaintiffs Book of Authorities, Tab 33] at para. 30.

480. These characteristics are descriptive features of fiduciary relationships rather than an all-encompassing definition applicable to all situations where a fiduciary relationship exists.  Hodgkinson, at paras. 30 and 119.

481. There are also some situations in which fiduciary obligations, “although not innate in a given relationship, arise as a matter of fact out of the specific circumstances of that particular relationship”.  Hodgkinson, at para. 32
482. In these situations:

... the question to ask is whether, given all the surrounding circumstances, one party could reasonably have expected that the other party would act in the former’s best interest with respect to the subject matter at issue.  Discretion, influence, vulnerability and trust [are] non-exhaustive examples of evidential factors to be considered in making this determination Hodgkinson, at para. 32 

483. Determining whether a particular relationship is fiduciary in nature and determining the specific equitable obligations that exist in a particular relationship requires a careful analysis of the facts: 

“There is no substitute in this branch of the law for a meticulous examination of the facts”  Hodgkinson, at para. 37 quoting National Westminster Bank plc v. Morgan, [1985] 1 All E.R. 821 (H.L.))
484. In MTS’ operation of the New Plan, it assumed upon itself the responsibility of creating the draft plan.  Consequently, it was acting in the position of a quasi administrator even before it became the administrator of the New Plan.
485. In that regard, it had a high duty.

486. It is clear in the litany of evidence that MTS did not want to have the plan members involved because it would:

(a)
slow down the process;

(b)
interfere with their main objective of obtaining a tax deduction by a certain date;

(c)
any fore-knowledge of the plan members as to the true intent of MTS re governance and surplus would have condemned the passage of the Bill;

487. Furthermore, it was not up to MTS exclusively to decide the issue of equivalency;

488. Any suggestion that Fraser would have been fired had he referred the plan members to Benson to get a copy of the plan text is delusional and unsubstantiated.

489. Were it not for the persistence of the plan members, who the government began to listen to in late October 1996, there would have been no participation whatsoever by the plan members in a plan text prior to its registration.  The goal of MTS was clear and unequivocal.  The plan members were a source of irritation, to be placated by high-level positive reassurances that they were being looked after.  Nothing could be further from the truth.

MTS Para. 674 - MTS diminishes the importance of the November 6 Memo  

490. MTS states that unlike the Nov. 7, 1996 MOA, the November 6 memo is not referenced in Hansard.  That is wrong.  It is referenced in the discussion concerning the amendments to add the independent actuary process and on November 7 when the Minister said that the initial surplus would not be used to reduce MTS cost or share of contributions. 

491. In the Legislature on November 7, 1996, Findlay repeated MTS’ undertaking regarding the initial surplus as set out in the November 6 memo, virtually word for word: 

…MTS has undertaken that any surplus in employee contributions to the Civil Service Superannuation Fund will not, and I stress not, be used to reduce MTS’s costs or share of contributions to the new pension plan. [AD 446 p.15802] (Emphasis added)

492. At committee, Findlay commented on why the independent actuary provisions were introduced, referencing the exchange of correspondence between MTS and the ERPC: 

We certainly took leadership in terms of trying to be sure the company aggressively negotiated, dealt with the different representatives to try to bring some of the issues to a conclusion. I do know that letters have been exchanged between the president or representatives of MTS and the different union representatives. 

Having those letters, we met over noon hour to try to draft an addition or an amendment here that would, we hope, cross the bridge here in terms of giving greater comfort around the intent of equivalency, what equivalency would turn out to be.   We are prepared when we get to that section to have that amendment brought in. It is currently being drafted…  [AD 446 p. 15816]  (Emphasis added)

493. The correspondence from MTS to the ERPC referenced in Hansard repeats the undertaking relating to the initial surplus in similar language.  In AD 313 MTS states: “…this surplus will not be used to reduce the employer’s cost of, and share of contributions to, the new pension plan.”  In AD 383 MTS undertakes: “You have expressed a concern that any surplus accumulated as a result of employees contributions to the CSSF may be used to finance MTS’ 50% share of the benefits already accrued.  As I stated in my August 27, 1996 letter, the surplus will not be used to reduce MTS’ cost of, and share of contributions to, the new pension plan.” 

494. Therefore, the representations in the November 6 Memo are not collateral.  They are the very bedrock upon which the MOA stands.  The ERPC and Praznik, on behalf of the government, relied on MTS’ undertaking as the launching off point for the agreement concerning the initial surplus set out in the MOA.   

495. MTS is also wrong when it says that Fox testified that he did not recall being provided with the November 6, 1996 memorandum by the Plaintiffs or otherwise.

496. Fox testified that he relied on MTS’ representation that it would not use the initial surplus to reduce its cost or share of contributions to the New Plan.
        Q      And we're going to come to that next.  Let me, let

    6  me  try   it  a  different   way.    When   --  in  determining    your

    7  final  opinion   on  equivalence    of  benefits,   did  you  consider

    8  MTS' undertaking?

    9       A      Yes, I did.

   10       Q      And  the   undertaking,    of   course,   being   that  any

   11  such  surplus   will   not  be  used   to  reduce   MTS'  share.    I'm

   12  sorry,   MTS'   cost   or   share   of  contributions     to   the  new

   13  pension plan?

   14       A      Correct.

   21  BY MR. SAXBERG   :

   22       Q      Mr.  Fox,  in  ultimately    rendering   your   opinion   on

   23  the question of equivalency, you're indicating you took into

   24  account   MTS'  undertaking   that   the  initial  surplus   would  not

   25  be used to reduce MTS' cost or share of contributions to the

   26  New Plan ?

   27       A      I  took  it   into  consideration    based   on  the   --  I

   28  think  it's   November   7th,  I might   be  wrong  on  the  date,  but

   29  that  document.     So I  don't  know  whether   it  says  exactly  the

   30  same as this.

497. Paterson’s notes of the February 19, 1997 meeting involving Fox, Barker, Singleton and Paterson also reference the MTS undertaking to not use the initial surplus.  AD 815, a handwritten note of the meeting says “surplus from employees should not be available to MTS as employer.” 
498. Therefore, Fox appreciated the link between the November 6 memo and the MOA.  They are two sides of the same coin.  If the object of the MOA is to achieve a benefit for employees; it must also be an object that the initial surplus not be used as a benefit for MTS by reducing its cost.   

499. In his draft Opinion Fox recommended that MTS not be entitled to contribution holidays until it matched initial surplus.  Fox explained that this recommendation may have been in response to the undertaking by MTS that the initial surplus would not be used to reduce its cost or share of contributions.  Fox testified: 

         Q     And  I  had   also  shown   you  the   November   6th  memo

   19  which  you  said   you  hadn't  seen,   but  you  were  aware  of  that

   20  representation?

   21        A     Yes.

   22        Q     And what I want to ask you is, is that what you're

   23  trying    to  achieve    in   your   recommendation     number    1   by

   24  recommending    that  MTS  not   take  contribution    holidays   until

   25  their    share   of   contributions     in   aggregate     equals   the

   26  employee level; is that what you were trying to achieve?

   27        A     It may have been, yes.  [V19 p. 62]
500. Therefore, the Plaintiffs, the government and Fox, relied on the November 6 memo.  The Plaintiffs stated as much to MTS and others on numerous occasions during the relevant period.  For instance, TEAM’s announcement regarding the MOA to all its members [AD 457], specifically links the MOA with the “guarantees” made Fraser and Findlay, as follows:   

These changes, coupled with the guarantees Mr. Fraser, Hon. G. Findlay and Hon. V. Toews have provided us previously, should ensure our new pension plan is at least as good as the plan we presently have under the Civil Service Superannuation Plan. [AD 457]
501. See also AD 719 (Handwriting on p. 08172) and AD 869 wherein the employees state they are relying on MTS’ undertakings expressed in the November 6 memo and elsewhere. 

MTS Paras. 676-680 - Taking of Contribution Holidays

502. MTS relies on the PBSA, the governance document and the plan text to defend the legitimacy of contributions holidays in the context of this case, one short year after the inception of the New Plan.  

503. MTS may be correct in the regular case where a plan is born under the PBSA regime.  The distinction in this case, as Corp pointed out, is that those other plans did not evolve out of the CSSA.  Thus MTS is disregarding The Re-Organization Act, the MOA, MTS’ representations not to use the initial surplus to reduce its costs; and, the curtailment of the Pension Committee’s ability to be involved in the determination of the use of any surplus.  

504. MTS’ decision to use surplus for a contribution holiday, without consulting with the Pension Committee, was a breach of the governance document, the November 6 undertaking and the MOA.  The contribution holiday was triggered by virtue of calculating the initial surplus in the total assets of the plan.  If the employees had not contributed the initial surplus to the Plan Jan. 1, 1997, MTS would not have been entitled to take a contribution holiday effective January 1, 1998 and for the next five years following.  MTS was under no obligation to take the contribution holiday.  It could have set up a reserve for the initial surplus or it could have used the surplus in 1998, which arose by virtue of the employees’ initial surplus, to improve COLA and or other benefits through the operation of the Pension Committee.         

505. How could the Pension Committee have made a recommendation about a benefit improvement in 1998 when it was not advised about the existence of a surplus and MTS’ contribution holiday until October of 1998?  In other words, MTS made the decision that the surplus would be used on a contribution holiday ($15 M of the $31 M surplus in 1998) long before it even told the Pension Committee there was a surplus.  
MTS Para. 683 - MTS Defends Non-Disclosure of Contribution Holiday

506. MTS says it makes sense that the Pension Committee not be entitled to discuss funding since only MTS is responsible for funding deficiencies.  When MTS took its first contribution holiday, until the end of 2007 (Exhibit 51), employees had put more funds into the New Plan than MTS.  If solvency payments are excluded, since they are not MTS’ best estimate of the operation of the plan and MTS receives a large accounting credit for these payments, employees continue to have funded the plan to a greater extent than MTS.  [Exhibit 34]  

507. How is it “common sense” that employees should not be entitled to participate in, or even know about, how the surplus in the plan is to be spent, when they have funded more than 50% of the cost of the plan?  
508. Furthermore, when there is a surplus in the plan it means that the total assets in the pension plan have grown at a rate higher than what was predicted by the actuary or the liabilities are less than originally expected.  Therefore, the surplus is a product of the total assets in the plan.  Since the employees had contributed $424 M compared to the employer’s $383 M, the surplus that arose after one year of the New Plan (total assets v. 1998 estimate of liabilities) was generated by employees more than MTS.  The employees were at least equally entitled to that surplus, because more than 50% of it was produced by years and years of contributions made by employees to the CSSF.  Certainly, they were entitled to know there was a surplus and be involved in the decision making process concerning how it would be used.  

509. The Administrator of the plan (Solman in 1998) had a fiduciary duty to disclose material information sufficient to permit a beneficiary to make a fully informed decision.  Since the Pension Committee represents the beneficiaries, this fiduciary duty extends to the provision of information to the Pension Committee.

510. Further, there is an express obligation placed on the Administrator in terms of providing information to the Pension Committee set out in Section 3.2(v) of the Governance document: (v) Prepare information for semi-annual meetings of the Pension Committee.  [AD 712]

511. In addition, section 7.2(4) of the PBSA imposes a duty on the employer to provide the Pension Committee with “any information that is necessary to enable it to carry out its functions”.  While this section does not refer to the administrator, in situations where the employer is also the administrator, the duty would apply.  The purpose of section 7.2(4) is to ensure that the Pension Committee receives all of the information it requires in order to effectively carry out its functions.

512. Solman understood her primary duty to the Pension Committee was the provision of information. 

         A   What,  if any, duty does the administrator have i n

   16  regards to the Pension Committee?

   17            MR.  OLSON:  My Lord, I  assume that's not a  legal

   18  question.  He's just looking for her understanding.

   19            MR. SAXBERG:  That's right.

   20            THE  WITNESS:  Okay.  Let me, can I just think fo r

   21  a  minute?  Because it's an  interesting question.  Duty.   I

   22  mean,  as administrator of  the plan and as  a member of the

   23  pension  committee -- duty to  the Pension Committee.   Okay.

   24  I,  I got it  now.  I believe that  the administrator of  the

   25  plan  had a  duty the,  to the pension  committee to  provide

   26  them  with  information.   So  I'll go  for  example, things

   27  like,  you  know --  and,  and I'll  turn  the page  on  this

   28  document because --

   29            MR. SAXBERG:  Sure.

   30            THE  WITNESS:  -- we go to the next page, which is

   31  page  921, 929, I think, is, it is.  It talks about the,  the

   32  things  that the Pension Committee  supposed to do.  And  the

   33  only  way that the pension  committee can do those things is

   34  if,  in  fact,  the  administrator  provides  them  with  the
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    1  information.    Okay?   So as the  administrator, we,  I  was

    2  responsible  to make sure that they got the information that

    3  they  needed, whether  it be  reviews by the  actuary of  the

    4  actuarial  valuation, I think reviewed financial  statements.

    5  We  reviewed  communication to  members, all  those sorts of

    6  things.   The administrator had  that role, because how else

    7  would they get the information? [V43 Nov. 5 pp. 26-27]

513. The Plaintiffs submit that MTS, as Administrator, breached its fiduciary duty to the Pension Committee and plan members at large when it deliberately withheld information from the Pension Committee regarding the 1998 surplus and its use.  In the circumstances of this case, i.e. the history of the dispute concerning surplus between MTS and it employees, the breach is clearly aggravated.  

MTS Paras. 684-688 - Lack of Board Approval of Plan Text

514. MTS argues that it had all the necessary approvals in order to make the plan valid and binding.  The Plaintiffs’ comments in response thereto relate the issue of the fiduciary duty of MTS.  While on the one hand MTS was falsely indicating to the plan members that the draft plan was not ready for viewing, because it was in a draft form and required Board approval; at the very same time, approval of a draft plan was orchestrated before the Board of Commissioners.  In that regard, the Board of Commissioners, at the instance of MTS personnel, endorsed the very draft plan that was the subject matter of debate with the plan members.  At the same time that that plan was endorsed, the Board of Commissioners edict was that it delegated the ability to make minor changes; nothing of any substance.  Therefore, the “dye had been cast” and the ERPC was being led down the proverbial “garden path” by the deceptive behaviour of MTS.
CONCLUSION

515. The Plaintiffs recite the remedies sought in the Written Argument of the Plaintiffs (see paragraphs 892-899).

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 17th day of February, 2009.
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